# Evaluation of fecal microbial transplant as a treatment method for disruption of the gut microbiota associated with short bowel syndrome in neonates.

by

Tierah Hinchliffe

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Medical Sciences - Paediatrics

University of Alberta

© Tierah Hinchliffe, 2021

#### Abstract

# Background

Short bowel syndrome (SBS) is the leading cause of intestinal failure (IF), wherein either the function of the intestines is suboptimal, or length has been reduced due to congenital or acquired conditions, such that parenteral nutrition (PN) is required for >6 weeks. The most common etiology in neonates is necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC), a condition resulting from disruption or poor establishment of the microbiota that allows inflammatory species to proliferate and cause tissue damage. Repeated rounds of antibiotics to treat central line infections and small intestinal bacterial overgrowth are necessary, but further exacerbate dysbiosis. Sepsis with gutderived organisms and IF-associated liver disease, which is partly caused by bacterial translocation, are now the leading causes of mortality in children with SBS. Treatment for dysbiosis must replace beneficial organisms, rather than simply remove harmful ones, in order to support normal growth and development of children with SBS. Probiotics are one option that have had success in preventing NEC, but some Lactobacilli have been associated with inhibition of adaptation in some instances of single species supplementation, and in others with an increase in sepsis. In this experiment, we looked at using fecal microbial transplant (FMT) as a way of restoring a healthy diverse microbiota in a single treatment in neonatal piglets with SBS.

# Methods

Neonatal male Duroc piglets aged 3-7 days were assigned to saline (SAL, n=12), fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=12), or sow-fed control (SOW, n=6) treatment groups. SAL and FMT underwent 75% distal SBS surgery on day 0, and treatment on day 2 (100 mL saline or FMT material, respectively). Donor FMT material was collected from a healthy female gilt, filtered, stored at -80 °C, and thawed at 4 °C overnight before use. SOW piglets remained with their litter,

and were terminated on day 7 along with their treatment piglet littermates. Tissue samples were collected at baseline and termination surgeries, as well as daily stool samples pre-treatment, post-treatment, and on the mornings of day 3-6. Microbial DNA was extracted, analyzed for 16S rRNA, and compared to established databases for taxonomy assignment. Percent relative composition of bacterial taxa was analyzed and compared between groups, as well as alpha and beta diversities.

# Results

No piglets developed sepsis or experienced disease-specific mortality, and FMT was welltolerated. FMT piglets showed increased Actinobacteria and Firmicutes families, and increased alpha diversity, compared with SAL post-treatment and on day 3, but these increases in general did not persist afterwards. FMT and SAL piglets had significantly different beta diversity post and day 3, but the Donor material was significantly different at all time points. SOW piglet term tissue sample alpha diversity in jejunum and colon, and beta diversity in the colon, was significantly higher than treatment piglets.

## Conclusion

Piglets in this trial demonstrated no disease-specific mortality and no increase in sepsis rates compared with our previous SBS trials. Differences in bacterial taxa were measurable in stool samples only through the day after FMT treatment. It is possible this was due to inadequate dietary fiber sources for establishment of the donor communities, given the neonatal piglets were fed enteral nutrition (EN) that contained only simple carbohydrates. Differences in beta diversity between SAL and FMT were present in the colonic mucosal-associated bacteria at termination, indicating small numbers of some species were able to establish and survive. Supplementation with complex fiber sources accessible by butyrate-producing species should be added to EN in the future to aid in persistence of beneficial species.

# Preface

This thesis is the work of Tierah Hinchliffe, which received ethical approval #AUP00000155 from University of Alberta Faculty of Agriculture, Life and Environmental Sciences Animal Policy and Welfare Committee.

# Dedication

Beliefs should conform to one's best scientific understanding of the world. One should take care never to distort scientific facts to fit one's beliefs.

- The Satanic Temple, Tenet V

#### Acknowledgements

My most sincere thanks my supervisors, Dr. Justine Turner and Dr. Paul Wales, for accepting me into this program and for their continual support and guidance throughout. Undertaking a Master's degree is a steep learning curve, not only of the subject material, but of the entire process of scientific inquiry, one for which not even a Bachelor's degree with Honours and a Certificate in Biomedical Research had fully prepared me. They were tolerant and helpful when unexpected challenges arose, and are, overall, some of the most caring and wonderful people I've ever had as supervisors. Thank you also to my third committee member Dr. Karen Madsen for passing my name on to Dr. Turner when I had cold-call emailed and asked if there were any grad student positions available with any researchers within The Center of Excellence for Gastrointestinal Inflammation and Immunity Research. Dr. Madsen's lectures in inflammation and gastrointestinal health that I attended during my coursework were wonderful and helped solidify my choice to take this degree.

I also extend my thanks to Mirielle Pauline, Chi Tran, Rita Anyanwu, and Pamela Wizzard for their help with my experiments, and for the collaborative environment of the lab. Also indispensably helpful were Charlane Gorsak, Sheila Shaller, Janes Goller, Leanna Grenwich, Jay Willis, and the rest of the SRTC staff for their expertise and assistance with all matters to do with the pigs, and especially with helping me collect the poop for transplant. Thank you to Matt Emberg, for arranging covert drop sites for the stomacher bags, and Naomi Hotte, for her expertise in trying to teach me how to use RStudio. Dr. Juan Jovel, thank you for performing the bioinformatics and for providing me with data to analyze! Dr. Michael Laffin, thank you for meeting with me over coffee and for your valuable insights about working with Dr. Madsen and in this research group. Mikhaila Skehor, I cannot thank you enough for what you do as Pediatrics graduate studies coordinator. I'm not sure your job description covers "answer numerous emails when grad students email you with a question after their brain shuts down in panic and fear", but you did anyways, and I would've shed a lot more tears without your help.

To my family, words cannot do justice to the gratitude I feel towards you all. You have supported me along the many (*many*) pathways I've taken in order to reach this moment. If I were to calculate the Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity measure for all the branches and sideroads that I've explored while working towards this goal, it would be quite high, but you have been there to encourage me along all of them. The top branches on a tree may reach the highest, but they would be nowhere without the sturdy trunk and solid support of the branches that hold them up and make their achievements possible. My parents, Bev and Brian Johansen, thank you for your faith, confidence, and steadfastness. My sister, Lorien Johansen, thank you for older sibling words of wisdom and words of snark. My brother, Spencer Johansen, thank you for being the only other introvert in the family, so I don't feel alone. My father, Jeffrey Hinchliffe, thank you for always having my back, and for encouraging my desire to learn and inquire. I wish you were here to see this.

Finally, to Jeff Moss, my favourite high school math and science teacher, who taught me to embrace my love of science, and gave me my first job as a scientist. He taught me perseverance and diligence with the saying 'If, on Monday morning, you're always wishing for it to be Friday afternoon, then you're wishing for 5/7ths of your life to be over." I am sorry I never took the time to tell you how important you were and the impact you had upon my life before you passed away.

Now, in the immortal words of Paul Wales, "Let's get the poo ball rolling!"

Abstract	ii
Preface	v
Dedication	vi
Acknowledgements	vii
Table of Contents	ix
List of Tables	xi
List of Figures	xii
Chapter One: Literature Review	1
1.1. Introduction to Intestinal Failure	
1.1.1. Short Bowel Syndrome	
1.1.2. Adaptation after surgery	
1.1.2. Adaptation after surgery	
1.1.5. Care and management   1.1.4. Complications of SBS	
1.1.5. Small intestinal bacterial overgrowth and sepsis	
1.2. Our Gut Microbiota	
1.2.1. Diversity and composition	
1.2.2. The core microbiome	
1.2.3. Dysbiosis in SBS	
1.2.4. Treatment for dysbiosis	
1.2.5. Prebiotics and probiotics in SBS	
1.3. Fecal Microbial Transplant	
1.3.1. Methods of Delivery	
1.3.2. Factors Affecting Success	
1.3.3. Cautions and risks	
1.4. Piglets as a Model	
1.4.1. Gestation and development	
1.4.2. Gastrointestinal physiology	
1.4.3. Porcine Immunology	
1.4.4. Microbiota	
1.4.5. FMT in pigs	
1.5. Summary	38
Chapter Two: Rationale for Research	39
-	
2.1. Objectives	
2.2. Null Hypotheses	40
Chapter Three: Evaluation of fecal microbial transplant for the treatment of short bowel	
syndrome-associated dysbiosis and sepsis in neonatal piglets as a model for human infants	42
3.1. Introduction	42
3.2. Methods	
3.2.1. Fecal donor selection	
3.2.2. FMT solution preparation	
3.2.3. Animals and treatments	

# **Table of Contents**

3.2.4. Surgical procedures and aftercare	45
3.2.5. Nutrition	
3.2.6. FMT and fecal collections	46
3.2.7. Termination and tissue collection	46
3.2.8. Assessment of structural adaptation	
3.2.9. DNA extraction and analysis	
3.2.10. Bioinformatics	48
3.3. Statistics	48
3.3.1. Power Estimations	49
3.4. Results	50
3.4.1. Clinical outcomes	51
3.4.2. Biometric data	51
3.4.3. Microbiota	53
3.4.3.1. Phylum-level differences in mucosal-associated bacteria	53
3.4.3.2. Phylum analysis of daily stool samples	56
3.4.3.3. Family-level differences in mucosal-associated bacteria	57
3.4.3.4. Family analysis of daily stool samples	61
3.4.3.5. Piglet daily stools compared with Donor	64
3.4.3.6. Individual piglets with unique cases	69
3.4.3.7. Diversity of Daily Stool samples	70
3.4.3.8. Diversity of Base and Term tissues	77
3.5. Discussion	84
Chapter Four: Conclusion and Future Directions	91
4.1. Conclusion	91
4.2. Future Directions	
	14
References	96
Appendix A: Supplementary Tables and Figures 1	13

# List of Tables

Table 1: Biometric Characteristics	5	2
------------------------------------	---	---

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Treatment Flowchart
Figure 2: Phylum level microbiota comparisons from base and term tissue samples
Figure 3: Significant differences in base to term comparisons of phyla from SAL, FMT, and SOW piglets
Figure 4: Phylum level microbiota comparisons from daily stool samples
Figure 5: Statistical comparisons of Phylum level differences in daily stools
Figure 6: Family level microbiota comparisons from baseline and termination tissue samples 59
Figure 7: Statistical comparisons between baseline and termination of Family level differences 60
Figure 8: Family level microbiota comparisons from daily stool samples
Figure 9: Statistical comparisons of Family level differences in daily stool samples
Figure 10: Comparisons of Phyla in Donor material to FMT and SAL piglet daily stool samples
Figure 11: Comparisons of Families in Donor material to FMT and SAL piglet daily stool samples
Figure 12: Observed assigned OTUs in daily stool samples of SAL and FMT compared to Donor
Figure 13: Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity in daily stool samples of SAL and FMT compared to Donor
Figure 14: Bray-Curtis dissimilarity between FMT and SAL daily stools compared to Donor74
Figure 15: Unweighted Unifrac distances between FMT and SAL compared with Donor 75
Figure 16: Weighted Unifrac distances between FMT and SAL compared with Donor
Figure 17: Observed assigned OTUs in base and term tissue samples of FMT, SAL, SOW, and Donor

Figure 18: Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity in base and term tissue samples of FMT, SAL, SOW,
and Donor
Figure 19: Bray-Curtis dissimilarity in base and term tissue samples from treatment piglets
compared with Donor
Figure 20: Unweighted Unifrac distances between FMT and SAL compared with SOW and Donor
Figure 21: Weighted Unifrac distances between FMT and SAL compared with SOW and Donor

#### **Chapter One: Literature Review**

## **1.1. Introduction to Intestinal Failure**

The classical definition of intestinal failure (IF) is a reduction in gastrointestinal function below the minimum threshold for sufficient absorption of nutrients, water, and electrolytes to support growth in children and sustain life in adults<sup>1,2</sup>. IF is most commonly caused by a loss of absorptive surface area either due to a congenital malformation or after surgical resection due to an acquired condition or injury<sup>3,4</sup>. IF can also be present functionally, wherein the patient does not have sufficient absorptive capacity but maintains all or the majority of their intestinal surface area<sup>3,5</sup>. The impairment leading to loss of function may be temporary, for example if caused by an ileus after abdominal surgery, or it may be acute, lasting weeks to months, usually caused by obstructions (ie. adhesions, hernias, volvulus, cancer, etc<sup>6</sup>), fistulae, mesenteric infarction, or traumatic injuries<sup>7</sup>. A third category is chronic IF (CIF), where acute patients have become stable, but management of their condition is months to years in duration<sup>7</sup>.

Once almost certainly fatal in patients with CIF, the advent of parenteral nutrition (PN) in the early 1970s and refinements to its administration have increased survival rates in infants with IF<sup>8</sup>. Patients with CIF are dependent upon PN for their survival<sup>9</sup>, but this long-term (>60 days<sup>10,11</sup>) requirement often leads to other serious complications, including central venous catheter (CVC) infections, sepsis, thromboses, and IF-associated liver disease (IFALD)<sup>12,13</sup>. With a multidisciplinary intestinal rehabilitation program in place, and further advances to PN formulations<sup>14</sup>, mortality rates of PN-dependent patients have shrunk from 29.4% in the early 1990s<sup>15</sup> to less than 10% as of 2016<sup>16</sup>.

#### 1.1.1. Short Bowel Syndrome

Short bowel syndrome (SBS) is the leading cause of IF in adults<sup>17</sup> and infants<sup>11</sup>, with the overall reported incidence of neonatal SBS in Canada being 24.5 per 100,000 live births<sup>4</sup>. For premature infants, this increases over 14-fold to 353.7 per 100,000 live births<sup>4</sup>. It is difficult to diagnose SBS in terms of absolute intestinal length, as it is the quality of bowel remaining that is more important<sup>5</sup>. SBS is better defined as a post-surgical need for PN that lasts longer than 6 weeks, or a relative short bowel length that is less than 25% of expected for age or height<sup>4</sup>. Length of remaining colon and presence or absence of the ileocecal valve are critical determinants of the chronicity of IF in patients with SBS<sup>3,5</sup>. In one study<sup>16</sup>, infants with SBS who retained <50% of the expected length for both small and large intestine had an 8.3% probability of returning to enteral autonomy. If >50% of either small or large intestine remained, probability of autonomy rose to over 50%, and those with >50% of expected length for both intestines had an 83.3% probability of independent nutrition. These differing remnant anatomies can be broadly classified into three categories: jejunoileal (JI), where some ileum remains and the ileocecal valve (ICV) and colon are in continuity; jejunocolic (JC), where the entire ileum is removed along with the ICV and a portion of the colon; and resections that leave a jejunostomy<sup>13</sup>. Each anatomy presents its own challenges, though JI anatomy has been associated with better outcomes in both humans<sup>13</sup> and neonatal piglets<sup>18,19</sup>.

The etiologies of pediatric SBS are diverse, encompassing the IF-related causes above, congenital malformations including gastroschisis, atresia, or Hirschsprung's Disease, as well as acquired conditions such as necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC), volvulus, and obstructions<sup>4,15</sup>. NEC is the leading cause of SBS in children, being the primary diagnosis in 34-43% of cases<sup>4,20</sup>. NEC primarily occurs in preterm infants, partly due to the immature intestinal epithelium and

diminished barrier function in this group, and partly due to some as-yet unidentified disruption in the pre- or perinatal establishment of the infant microbiota<sup>21</sup>. Use of antibiotics and antacids for preterm infants in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) alters the microbiota in its most vulnerable stage of development<sup>21</sup>, while mode of delivery does not appear to affect the incidence of NEC<sup>22</sup>. As NEC most frequently affects the distal ileum and proximal colon<sup>13,18</sup>, the JC models of residual anatomy are more common post-surgery, and are also the most challenging with worse outcomes. Loss of the ileum and part of the colon means loss of the enteroendocrine L-cells responsible for releasing important factors such as trophic hormone glucagon-like peptide 2 (GLP-2), and peptide YY, which slows intestinal transit time allowing adequate absorption of nutrition<sup>17</sup>.

## **1.1.2.** Adaptation after surgery

Children under the age of 5 are still growing their intestines as an innate process, and this has traditionally been viewed as an advantage in their post-surgical care. Following extensive resection, the intestine naturally goes through a process called adaptation, which involves functional and structural changes to compensate for the loss of length<sup>23</sup>. Studies done in animals show that structurally there is local angiogenesis<sup>24</sup> and increased crypt cell hyperplasia<sup>25</sup> following resection. In adult human patients, there is evidence of mucosal hyperplasia in the form of increased villus height and crypt depth, bowel lengthening, and dilatation of isolated intestinal loops<sup>26</sup>. Infants with SBS due to NEC have also shown taller villi and deeper crypts at the time of ostomy takedown compared with initial surgery<sup>27</sup>.

Functionally, studies in rats have shown that ileal enterocytes increase expression of the Na<sup>+</sup>/glucose transporter SGTL1 within 6 hours following resection<sup>28</sup>. Data on this effect in humans is sparse; however, there is some data that show increased mRNA expression of protein

transporters in the colon<sup>29</sup>. Adult patients with colon in continuity experience lowered fecal wetweight output<sup>30</sup> and higher levels of peptide YY in the blood<sup>31</sup> than those with jejunostomy, indicating the importance of this hormone in maintaining adequate fluid balance, and highlighting how residual anatomy affects prognosis.

#### 1.1.3. Care and management

The most effective factor in improving survival rates of patients with SBS is implementation of a comprehensive intestinal rehabilitation program (IRP) that focuses on communication and continuity of care across many dedicated professionals. In one 20-year study, when IRPs were implemented the 2-year mortality rate dropped from 29.4% to 10.0%, a 66% reduction, with increasing survival trends as time went on<sup>15</sup>. This is reflected in another study, where ultra-short residual bowel ( $\leq 20$  cm) was shown to be no longer an adequate predictor of poor outcome, with mortality of this group reducing from 100% pre-2005 to just 9% from 2006 – 2012<sup>32</sup>. The main facets of the IRP include lipid optimization in PN formulations, bowel lengthening procedures, and rotating antibiotic regimens to control bacterial overgrowth. Other aspects of all-around care involve use of enteral nutrition where tolerated, monitoring of vitamin and electrolyte levels, gastric acid suppression, motility agents, and soluble fiber supplementation<sup>33,34</sup>.

One of the more effective components of an IRP has been improvement of PN delivery and formulations. Conventionally, PN formulations were made with soy lipids, but this has been found to contribute to the development of IFALD due, in part, to a large proportion of omega-6 (n-6) fatty acids, the metabolites of which create a pro-inflammatory state<sup>14</sup>. One study indicated that patients who received PN containing >1g/kg/day of n-6 lipids were at significantly increased risk

of developing cholestasis, with 65% of patients displaying chronic symptoms in a median of 6 months<sup>35</sup>. Reduction of soy-based lipids below 0.5 g/kg/d and replacement with a combination of soy, medium-chain triglycerides, olive oil, and fish oil (SMOFlipid) that is high in omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids has the potential to reduce or reverse the development of cholestasis<sup>33,36</sup>, and is associated with a significant decrease in SBS-related mortality<sup>37</sup>. The best ratio of n-6:n-3 lipids has not yet been experimentally proven. However, a ratio between 1:1 and 2:1 has been proposed as it provides a balance similar to breast milk that may reduce inflammation and help to prevent glucose overfeeding with increased lipogenesis<sup>14</sup>.

Trophic therapy involving the administration of a long-lasting glucagon-like peptide-2 (GLP-2) analogue, teduglutide, has had success in decreasing the need for PN through supporting mucosal adaptation<sup>38,39</sup>. Teduglutide is approved for use in patients >1 year old and although it causes mucosal proliferation and reduced apoptosis, it requires daily (potentially long-term) injection to maintain its effect in animal models<sup>40</sup> and in humans<sup>41</sup>. In one follow-up study, nearly half of adult patients who had been receiving teduglutide and shown reduced PN requirements demonstrated increased needs for PN a year after stopping the drug<sup>42</sup>. Another GLP-2 analogue, apraglutide, is currently in clinical trials, and has shown longer-lasting intestinal growth in length in piglets<sup>43</sup> and has been well tolerated in humans<sup>44</sup>. If approved, this latest analogue could encourage a lasting regrowth in length that reduces lifetime need for the intervention.

Although these methods have improved outcomes for children with IF, some patients do not improve enough and require intestinal transplantation<sup>34</sup>. Current indications for transplant are the presence of two of the following:  $\geq 2$  ICU admissions, persistently high conjugated bilirubin absent of infection and in spite of lipid management strategies, or loss of  $\geq 3$  CVC sites<sup>32</sup>. Although sepsis or number of septic episodes are no longer on the list recommendations for transplant listing, loss of access to CVC sites is frequently caused by recurrent sepsis, so it is an indirect indicator for potential transplant requirement.

#### 1.1.4. Complications of SBS

The most common complications of SBS are IFALD and catheter-associated sepsis<sup>45</sup>. In one study, liver failure was responsible for 60% of SBS-related deaths and sepsis for 20%, with the disease-specific mortality rate of SBS patients reaching 5-fold that of non-SBS patients<sup>4</sup>. Another, multi-center study reported a cumulative mortality of 26% at 3 years follow-up, with 82% of these attributable to either multi-organ failure or sepsis<sup>10</sup>. Soon after the advent of total parenteral nutrition (TPN) in the 1970s, hepatobiliary damage was identified as a major iatrogenic injury<sup>46</sup>. Infants on TPN are more likely than adults to develop hepatocellular injuries and fibrosis, and also progress to this condition more rapidly<sup>47</sup>. IFALD is multifactorial, however, and not solely caused by TPN usage. The major patient-related risk factors for development of IFALD include gestational age at birth, the underlying diagnosis that lead to the development of SBS, site and frequency of sepsis, tolerance of EN, and small intestinal bacterial overgrowth<sup>48</sup>.

While the exact mechanisms are unknown, there are also potentially relevant pathways to IFALD in SBS patients related to sepsis and the disruption of the microbiota. Loss of the ileum during resection can alter the flow of bile acids due to lack of reabsorption. This altered distal bile flow affects the relative proportions of certain bacterial phyla, increasing aerobic and aerotolerant Proteobacteria while decreasing anaerobic Bacteroidetes compared with healthy patients<sup>49</sup>. Lack of enteral feeding causes intestinal muscular atrophy and decreased barrier function, allowing bacteria to translocate and their cell wall components like lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and flagellin<sup>50</sup>

to stimulate toll-like receptors (TLRs) on innate immune cells in the lamina propria and eventually the liver, inducing inflammation and fibrosis<sup>46</sup>.

Other complications include gastric acid hypersecretion, which is likely due to loss of an intestine-secreted gastrin inhibitor<sup>51</sup> or loss of the small intestinal site of gastrin breakdown<sup>33</sup>. These increased acid levels lead to damage in the stomach and small bowel, alteration of digestion, and precipitation of bile salts<sup>51</sup>. Children with SBS tend to have greater proportions of Lactobacilli, some species of which can produce the neurotoxic D-lactate enantiomer of L-lactate, a key metabolic intermediate, when high amounts of undigested carbohydrates reach the colon<sup>52</sup>. This can cause neurological symptoms which are frequently mistaken for inebriation, including slurred speech, ataxia, fatigue, and confusion<sup>52,53</sup>. Lactobacilli are also associated with steatosis due to excessive bile acid deconjugation<sup>46</sup>, which may also play a role in multiple vitamin deficiencies and impaired bone mineralization that are also seen in children with IF<sup>45</sup>.

### 1.1.5. Small intestinal bacterial overgrowth and sepsis

In addition to the above complications, small intestinal bacterial overgrowth (SIBO) is a common condition that is present in 50%<sup>50</sup> to 70%<sup>54</sup> of those with SBS and leads to a 7-fold increase in risk of septicemia<sup>50</sup>. Sepsis and end-stage IFALD are now the leading causes of mortality associated with SBS, with the main predictive variables being underlying diagnosis, failure to wean from PN, and peak bilirubin concentrations<sup>55</sup>. Sepsis with gut-derived organisms contributes to CVC infections<sup>56</sup>, which are difficult to cure and can lead to eventual loss of access, which removes the ability of the patient to receive lifesaving PN<sup>57</sup>.

The gastric and duodenal environments have a low pH due to gastric and bile acids, which, when coupled with rapid movement of contents, contributes to the low microbial biomass in these areas, typically on the order of 10<sup>2-3</sup> cells/mL<sup>58</sup>. The jejunum and ileum are a more neutral pH, allowing the microbe numbers to increase to between 10<sup>4</sup> and 10<sup>8</sup> cells/mL, with higher numbers possible the more distal the location. Currently, an overgrowth of bacteria is considered as counts over 10<sup>3</sup> cells/mL in the proximal bowel, although for other locations within the bowel, and other etiological conditions, this number may be higher<sup>59</sup>. Previously a value of 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL was used as the diagnostic limit, however over time this figure has been questioned and the lower value has replaced it<sup>56,59</sup>. SIBO can be present not only in post-surgical SBS patients, but also those with radiation enteropathy, scleroderma, and post-operative Crohn's Disease<sup>56</sup>, as well as in individuals living with poor sanitation<sup>60</sup>, and those treated with proton-pump inhibitors, which, when used for as little as 4 weeks<sup>61</sup>, can lower the gastric and duodenal pH allowing bacteria to proliferate.

Suspicion of SIBO is typically based on post-surgical risk factors including abdominal distension or discomfort, anemia, vitamin deficiencies, excess byproducts of alternative biosynthetic pathways (like D-lactic acidosis)<sup>62</sup> or malnutrition<sup>59</sup>. Diagnosing SIBO is not straight-forward, as culture-based methods of enumerating bacterial populations are not entirely representative of true cell counts, and the samples may be expensive and invasive to obtain<sup>59</sup>. Non-invasive tests include hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>) breath tests after ingestion of one of several different mono-or disaccharides, as well as high serum D-lactate or urine indicant measurements<sup>60</sup>. Hydrogen is solely a byproduct of microbial saccharide fermentation<sup>60</sup>, and is carried from the intestines to the lungs where it is exhaled, the amount and time of detection being changed from baseline in those with an overgrowth of bacteria. H<sub>2</sub> tests are the most commonly used in older children or adults, where the time from ingestion of saccharide to emission of H<sub>2</sub> in the breath is assumed to be longer than 90 minutes<sup>60</sup>. Those with shorter transit time, such as very young children and neonates, or

those with higher proportions of methanogenic bacteria that use  $H_2$  to produce methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), may produce false positive test results<sup>60</sup>.

SIBO is associated with villus atrophy and epithelial damage leading to an inflammatory response and translocated bacteria<sup>63</sup>. Those patients in which the ICV is resected are at increased risk for SIBO due to the loss of this critical barrier<sup>51</sup>, although some studies<sup>15,54</sup> have found that absence of the ICV was not predictive of development of SIBO. In these cases, the initiating factor may be adaptation-induced dilatation, which leads to stasis of the luminal contents and creates an environment where resident bacteria can proliferate<sup>64</sup>. Overgrowth of bacteria in the jejunum in turn leads to a significant increase in septic episodes that is worse in those with shorter (<50cm) remaining small bowel length<sup>65</sup>. Specifically, abnormal growth of aerobic gram-negative bacilli (AGNB) is associated with a significant increase in both sepsis and septicemia in neonates receiving PN<sup>66</sup>. This overgrowth of AGNB is allowed due to lack of gut motility and impaired gut-associated lymphoid tissue<sup>66</sup>, and is also thought to stimulate hepatic Kupffer cells via the portal circulation and prime them to an over-reactive state that creates liver damage and systemic inflammation<sup>67</sup>.

This complex relationship between PN-dependence, SIBO, sepsis, and IFALD, makes the goal of attaining enteral autonomy ever more pressing for these patients. While ability to wean from PN may largely depend upon remnant surgical anatomy, advancement of enteral nutrition (EN) stimulates adaptation and prevents the intestinal muscular and functional atrophy that occurs with PN-only treatment<sup>65,68</sup>. Use of breast milk where possible has been associated with a shorter duration of PN, which may be partly due to humoral factors such as IgA antibodies and leukocytes carried in the milk that support the neonate's immune defenses<sup>20</sup>. EN-induced adaptation and prevent

9

stagnation of the food bolus, thereby reducing the ability of the microbiota to proliferate beyond normal levels. Increased barrier function lowers bacterial translocation, meaning a reduction in sepsis and systemic inflammation, and a reduced need for antibiotics. In piglets, we have previously shown that repeated use of antibiotics and lack of EN administration exert a greater effect upon the microbiota than surgery does alone<sup>69</sup>. One must be careful with EN usage, however, as use of high-carbohydrate low-fat diets can facilitate overgrowth of lactobacilli, as carbohydrates are their preferred energy source<sup>70</sup>. This can then lead to complications of D-lactic acidosis and excess CO<sub>2</sub> production<sup>70</sup>. Large amounts of CO<sub>2</sub> can cause abdominal pain, flatulence, and lowered absorption of lipids and dissolved vitamins, and so appropriate formulations must be used<sup>70</sup>.

While rotating antibiotic regimens to treat SIBO have been used successfully as part of a comprehensive IRP, there is a risk that comes with over-prescription of these therapies. Emergence of single- and multi-drug resistant organisms is of great concern, particularly amongst AGNB<sup>66</sup>. Some SBS patients with SIBO may be non-responsive to antibiotics<sup>71</sup>, or may require continuous antibiotic administration in order to keep symptoms at bay<sup>56</sup>. In those cases, patients are then subject to continuous diarrhea, are at risk for *Clostridioides difficile* infections and the expansion of other opportunistic and antibiotic-resistant pathogens<sup>72</sup>, and experience a heavy burden of healthcare costs as well as reduced quality of life<sup>56</sup>. Constant use of antibiotics merely removes organisms or reduces overall numbers without pro-actively filling the empty gut with a beneficial protective population.

# 1.2. Our Gut Microbiota

Inside our bodies is a flourishing microbial ecosystem that has co-evolved with us in an intricate, mutualistic network. Originally roughly estimated at 10-fold more than our somatic cell

count, latest calculations place the population of our microbial partners at 1.3x the number of our own cells<sup>73</sup>. This ratio skewed against us begs the question of whether we are each a human with microbial symbionts, or colony-living microbes with a *Homo sapiens*-shaped motility appendage. The microbiota are the organisms themselves, whereas the microbiome is comprised of their genomes<sup>74</sup>, a collection which also outnumbers our own contributions, this time by a staggering factor of 150<sup>75</sup>. This internal ecosystem has been referred to as a neglected<sup>76</sup>, forgotten<sup>77</sup>, or invisible<sup>78</sup> organ, though some disagree with this designation<sup>79</sup>. Unofficial organ or not, the microbiota and microbiome have been implicated in wide-reaching effects on obesity<sup>80,81</sup>, Alzheimer's Disease<sup>77</sup>, autism<sup>82</sup>, inflammatory bowel disease<sup>83</sup>, malnutrition<sup>84</sup> and more.

Concurrently as we have come to understand that our health can be affected by the microbes living in our guts, we have also realized the importance of describing what makes up a healthy microbiota as this allows us to identify when something goes wrong. Understanding how an individual's microbiota varies day to day, or year to year, is crucial to identifying what changes might be contributing to disease when they occur. Trying to understand what defines a healthy microbiota brings up the question of whether any decided parameters would be the same for all individuals, or to what degree a healthy composition would vary person to person<sup>74</sup>. As methods used for measuring and classifying the microbiota have evolved, and so, too, has our overall understanding of its function. Before the advent of culture-independent methods of analysis, detection of microorganisms was limited to those that were amenable to culturing and identification by comparison of attributes to reference texts<sup>85</sup>. Unsurprisingly, this lead to much uncertainty and lack of specificity. The discovery of the highly conserved nature of the bacterial and archaeal 16S rRNA gene allows for construction of phylogenetic relationships between most genera and species, though other genes such as those for virulence factors or metabolic enzymes

may be more useful in some clades, or for distinction at the strain level<sup>85</sup>. High throughput sequencing and the construction of next generation sequencing libraries based on 16S rRNA genes now allows for the processing and filtering of highly complex community data through the use of software and analysis tools such as quantitative insights into microbial ecology (QIIME) and mothur<sup>86</sup>.

The advent of molecular technologies has allowed us to investigate further than was previously possible into the composition of our microbiota. These studies have revealed that most of our internal and external surfaces are colonized by microbes, with the vast majority being present in the colon at a density of 100 times that of other areas<sup>87</sup>. More than 90% of our colonic microbes belong to just 2 of the known bacterial phyla, the Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes<sup>88</sup>. Other phyla such as Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, and Fusobacteria also appear in highly individualized relative proportions, with dominant genera tending to cluster around *Bacteroides, Prevotella,* and *Ruminococcus* enterotypes<sup>89</sup>.

#### **1.2.1.** Diversity and composition

The diversity of species detected can be as different from site-to-site on a single individual as it is between individuals themselves. Alpha diversity measures these intrasample differences, whereas beta diversity measures both intersite and interindividual diversity<sup>88</sup>. Saliva and various niches within the oral cavity tend to show high alpha diversity but low beta diversity, whereas the vagina is the opposite: low alpha, high beta diversity<sup>88</sup>. The GI tract displays high alpha and beta diversities measured in stool<sup>88</sup>, and when subdivided into stomach, duodenum, jejunum, ileum and colonic microenvironments, further differences are revealed<sup>58</sup>. The stomach and proximal duodenum, with their highly acidic gastric secretions, are typically sparsely populated with counts

around  $10^{2-4}$  cells/mL. The pH increases as one moves distally along the GI tract, and once the ileocecal valve is crossed, it reaches ~7, and the colon becomes home to ~ $10^{11}$  cells/mL<sup>58</sup>.

In addition to differences in microbial composition between locations along the GI tract's length, there are multiple spatial niches from the lumen to the mucosa as well. The lumen is home to planktonic species that metabolize molecules in the digesta, such as simple sugars or plant fiber, whereas the loose outer layer of mucosa provides substrate for mucin-degraders<sup>90</sup>. The thick inner mucosa is sterile, a necessary physical layer of defense illustrated beautifully in the murine colon by Tropini and colleagues<sup>90</sup>. The mucosa provides not only metabolic substrate, but also scaffolding for the creation of biofilms that allow the microbes to resist being washed out by the passing digesta<sup>91</sup>.

There are few microbial residents that truly colonize the GI tract (autochthonous) versus simply passing through (allochthonous). *Helicobacter pylori* is perhaps the best example of autochthony, as it is commonly found in the stomach, but is present neither in food nor in the various niches of the oral cavity<sup>58</sup>. In contrast, *Blastocystis spp* have been commonly found in the GI tract, but are a known environmental contaminant usually present due to poor sanitation<sup>92</sup>. Whether resident or tourist, the microbiota is a community dominated by bacteria, with smaller contributions from archaea<sup>93</sup>, viruses<sup>94</sup>, and fungi<sup>92</sup>. Enzymes and acids secreted by the stomach, pancreas, and liver provide us with access to the majority of our ingested nutrients, but it is the bacterial complement of enzymes that digest the inaccessible fibers and resistant starches to produce essential short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) we cannot otherwise obtain<sup>58</sup>. Archaeal hydrogenotrophic species such as *Methanobrevibacter smithii* are a minor but important subset of the microbiota that engage in a complex cross-feeding economy with hydrogen-producers like *Roseburia spp, Ruminococcus spp,* and *Bacteroides spp*<sup>95</sup>. The production and metabolism of

hydrogen, methane, and hydrogen sulfide is a critical indicator of microbiota health, to the extent that breath tests for these gases may be used as a test in the diagnosis of dietary intolerances, SIBO, and irritable bowel syndrome (IBS)<sup>95</sup>.

Viruses are an often-overlooked aspect of the microbiota. Many human viruses are known to interact in negative and positive ways with the microbiota<sup>96</sup>. Bacteriophages and siphophages may make up around 6% of genomic reads<sup>89</sup>, and exert a form of population control on their bacterial and archaeal hosts<sup>94</sup>. Fungi are also present, collectively known as the mycobiota, though predominantly as yeasts, food-borne molds, and parasites<sup>92</sup>. The most common fungal species are *Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Malassezia restricta,* and *Candida albicans*<sup>97</sup>, though this fluctuates rapidly with changes to the diet<sup>98</sup>. Fungi have been shown to have a protective role in monoculture against colitis and influenza viral infections<sup>99</sup>, but have also been implicated in many different disease pathogeneses<sup>100,101</sup>, particularly Crohn's Disease<sup>78</sup>.

The GI tract of a fetus was initially thought to be sterile; however, maternal microbes have been detected in amniotic fluid and meconium, indicating that colonization begins even before birth<sup>102</sup>. Postnatally, the infant microbiota is simple and composed of few members, mainly *Enterobacteriaceae*, but this undergoes rapid maturation. Changes occur with exposure to breast milk, formula, complimentary feeding, and various environmental factors, including microbial and antibiotic exposure, taking up to 3 years to stabilize and reflect an adult composition<sup>102,103</sup>. The microbes that colonize us, and in what proportions, are partly affected by the order in which we encounter them<sup>104</sup>. In this comparison of two wild-caught murine microbiotas transplanted into germ-free lab mice in different orders, some species from donor B were only able to successfully colonize the recipient mouse if they were transplanted first, whereas they were less able to survive if the mouse had received a transplant from donor A previously. In addition to variables such as order of encounter, host genetics also play a role in the establishment of our microflora. In humans, the microbiota of healthy monozygotic twins has less beta diversity than that of dizygotic twin pairs<sup>105</sup>, though twin pairs and their mothers have been found to display more similarity in their microbiomes than their microbiotas<sup>106</sup>. In mice, variations between families and within litters are only minimally explained by environmental factors, with the majority of variation thus being due to intrinsic genetic factors<sup>107</sup>.

#### **1.2.2.** The core microbiome

With representatives from all three domains of life, and over a thousand detectable species across a cohort<sup>75</sup>, it is perhaps surprising that a core microbiota common to all individuals may be comprised of only between 18 to 40 species<sup>75,108</sup>. Just 8 of the known bacterial lineages have been detected in humans: 3 are highly abundant (Cytophaga-Flavobacterium-Bacteroides [CFB], Firmicutes, Proteobacteria) and 5 are less abundant (Spirochaeates, Actinobacteria, Fusobacteria, Verrucomicrobia, VadinBE9 7)<sup>109</sup>. Compared with soil-based communities (the terrestrial digestive tract<sup>109</sup>), which have been found to harbour between 21 and 31 different bacterial phyla<sup>110,111</sup>, we are much less diverse.

Measures of diversity are further complicated by difficulties in assigning taxonomy. Sequencing and analysis of the variable segments of the 16S rRNA gene is the standard method, with 95% similarity denoting a genus and 98% similarity being the limitation of a species<sup>109</sup>. This is not without fault, however, as evolutionary variation of the 16S rRNA gene may occur at different rates between taxa, meaning that some organisms that are currently described as different species may be >98% similar, and some assigned to the same genus may be <95% identical<sup>112</sup>. Proportions of microbiota composition are usually described in relative abundances within a given sample or testing point only, giving the comparison of results from different experiments an extra layer of complexity. Interpreting relative increases or decreases of one genus or species from one experiment to another may lead to subjective inferences that are not correct, in cases where the microbiome is not measured. Further, the different variable segments of the 16S rRNA gene (V1-V9) have different abilities to make distinctions between species and genera<sup>113</sup>. As such, species-level resolution is not usually reported for whole microbiota surveys, with genus and family being more common.

There is evidence to suggest that rather than a core microbiota, a core microbiome, a set of necessary genes present in functionally redundant species, might be the reality<sup>106</sup>. A community made of diverse species with the same or similar traits allows for stability in the face of stochastic events that may alter the community structure at the individual level. Stated another way, there are several important ecological niches within our gut, and the species that fills the niche is not as important as the fact that the niche itself is filled. Some of these niches are saccharolysis, aerobic sugar fermentation, and production of butyrate<sup>58</sup> as well as other SCFAs that are the products and substrates of complex cross-feeding networks<sup>114</sup>.

One species that is important to have in our microbiota is *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, a member of the Firmicutes phylum that is associated with an anti-inflammatory protective phenotype in Crohn's Disease<sup>115</sup>. *F. prausnitzii* produces large amounts of butyrate<sup>115</sup>, the primary metabolic substrate for intestinal epithelial cells (IECs), which enhances barrier function by suppressing high-permeability tight junction proteins<sup>116</sup>, and preferentially stimulates intestinal regulatory T cells (Tregs) to differentiate<sup>117</sup>. Butyrate production is a trait shared by other members of the *Clostridium leptum* group<sup>118</sup>, which emphasizes this group's importance for gut homeostasis.

Bacteroidetes member *Bacteroides thetaiotamicron* is also protective as it is associated with increased barrier function, immunostimulation, and nutrient production<sup>119</sup>. *B. thetaiotamicron* increases luminal butyrate via complex interactions with *Eubacterium rectale*<sup>120</sup>. *B. thetaiotamicron* first stimulates the host to produce glycan substrates that only it can utilize, then produces byproducts that *E. rectale* takes up and converts to butyrate, which is, in turn, absorbed by host IECs. While this is a simplified gnotobiotic model, it demonstrates the complex ways in which we and our microbiota have co-evolved for mutual benefits.

#### 1.2.3. Dysbiosis in SBS

A healthy microbiota is naturally plastic, with relative proportions of species and genera shifting up and down in response to the foods we eat<sup>98</sup> and environmental factors<sup>102</sup>. Shifts or losses that contribute to the instigation or propagation of disease states are termed dysbiosis. Dysbiosis is likely to be almost universal in children with SBS, and has been characterized by a loss of diversity relative to both healthy siblings<sup>72</sup> and unrelated infant controls.<sup>121</sup> In SBS, an increase in gram-negative *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Lactobacillus*, as well as decreased *Ruminococcus* associated with more frequent stool output may be common<sup>122</sup>. NEC, the most common cause of SBS, also shows this pattern, with one study<sup>123</sup> finding that the dominant phyla in all infants with NEC was Proteobacteria, and in almost all non-NEC controls, Firmicutes were the most abundant. Interestingly, two control infants without NEC who showed high proportions of *Escherichia* at the time of sampling went on to develop NEC soon after.

With pediatric SBS patients, these significant microbiota changes are related to remnant anatomy, proportion of parenteral calories, and antibiotic usage<sup>124</sup>. Patients with more advanced disease showed a loss of Firmicutes with a commensurate increase in *Lactobacilli, Proteobacteria*,

*Actinobacteria*, and other species that are typically minor constituents, while those with the less severe disease exhibited a microbiota signature that more closely resembled a healthy adult diversity. This loss of diversity in association with PN usage is detectable as early as the first week of usage, becoming more significant over time<sup>125</sup>. Antibiotic therapies in the face of frequent sepsis are necessary for patient survival, but facilitate the colonization and expansion of opportunistic pathogens, which further perpetuate the use of antibiotic therapies, in a "snowball"-type effect<sup>72</sup>.

These changes to the microbiota are not only associated with the genesis of disease, as in the case of NEC, but also with detrimental effects on other aspects of the patient's health. More severe dysbiosis is associated with worse growth compared to SBS patients with good growth and healthy controls<sup>126</sup>. Those patients with poor growth were deficient in Firmicutes, which translated into a deficiency in key metabolic processing and synthesis pathways. One such set of pathways are those dependent upon vitamin B<sub>12</sub>, a deficiency of which is commonly seen in SBS<sup>127</sup>. Impairment of the B<sub>12</sub> pathways may be obscured by over-production of other SCFAs due to SIBO, and lead to potentially irreversible neurological effects, which emphasizes the need to effectively control SIBO as soon as possible<sup>62</sup>. Though the dysbiosis leading to these health effects may be instigated and perpetuated by use of PN-only nutrition, weaning from PN may not be immediately possible and comes with significant challenges<sup>128</sup>. An overabundance of Lactobacilli has been associated with progression to steatosis, even after weaning from PN<sup>124</sup>, demonstrating that fixing the dysbiosis is key to preventing SIBO and the advancement of IFALD.

## 1.2.4. Treatment for dysbiosis

The options for initial treatment of dysbiosis and bacterial overgrowth is an individually tailored process dependent upon each patient's anatomy and requirements. Those with adequate remaining bowel length may be able to slowly wean from PN, use motility agents to prevent stasisinduced SIBO, or rely on antibiotics to reduce overgrowth when it is present. Various doses and rotating courses of antibiotics must be chosen in order to prevent the development of resistance<sup>56</sup>. Antibiotic therapy may be successful at reducing pathogenic or opportunistic organisms, but its drawback is that it cannot restore or replace beneficial or helpful populations.

As we know that a diet deficient in substrate for microbes results in a deficiency in their beneficial effects<sup>91</sup>, dietary supplementation with probiotics or prebiotics could be a first step to modulate the microbiota when dysbiosis occurs. Probiotics are live microorganisms ingested for their beneficial effects upon the microbiota<sup>129</sup> and were first proposed to treat antibiotic-associated dysbiosis in the 1950s<sup>130</sup>. Probiotics must be capable of surviving the gastric environment, able to adhere to the intestinal mucosa, and deliver some benefit to the host, such as inhibition of pathogenic organisms via antimicrobial peptides or niche pre-emption<sup>130</sup>. Added bacterial species may not persist in the gut, however, if they are not also provided with an appropriate nutritional substrate. Such microbial foods are termed prebiotics<sup>131</sup> or microbiota-accessible carbohydrates (MAC)<sup>91</sup>. Both terms carry the definition that the substrate must be digestible only by bacteria, not the host, and that such species then provide a known health benefit to the host. Breast milk is the original prebiotic as it contains many unique oligosaccharides that are indigestible by infants but support a subspecies of *Bifidobacterium longum* that retains the necessary glycosidases that are absent in adult-associated species<sup>132</sup>.

A combination of pro- and prebiotics administered together is known as a synbiotic<sup>130</sup>. The prebiotic ingredient may selectively feed only the probiotic ingredient, or it may be a more broadly accessible substrate that also nourishes the host's resident populations as well. An early study in healthy adult men showed that only prebiotics, either with or without probiotics, had a significant

impact on the microbiota, and that probiotic *Bifidobacteria* alone had no effect upon culture-based detection of gut residents<sup>133</sup>. Subsequent studies have been less robust, however, and lack of appropriate method designs have obscured the ability to draw meaningful conclusions from the data<sup>130</sup>.

#### 1.2.5. Prebiotics and probiotics in SBS

Prebiotic and probiotic therapy may be a viable option in adults or in individuals with intact guts, but they may not be a safe choice for post-surgical neonates, whose immune systems are underdeveloped and whose microbiota is unstable. In some cases of older children with SIBO secondary to SBS, probiotic *Lactobacilli* has produced some positive results such as improved stool consistency or reduced arthritic inflammation<sup>71</sup>, but they have also been associated with sepsis in some SBS patients<sup>134</sup> and in non-SBS patients with other diagnoses<sup>135</sup>. These risks may be mitigated by use of a synbiotic containing galactooligosaccharides (GOS) with some success<sup>136</sup>, including increased height and weight gain, but small sample sizes restrict the ability to draw firm conclusions. A systematic review of therapeutic use of probiotics in children with SBS found no appreciable benefit<sup>137</sup>, and a double-blind crossover study looking specifically at probiotics to improve intestinal permeability also found no consistent effects<sup>138</sup>. Yeasts and fungi are occasionally used as probiotic organisms due to their ability to withstand antibiotic attack; However, supplementation with the yeast *Saccharomyces boulardii* in monoculture has also been associated with four cases of fungemia (one with neonatal SBS)<sup>139</sup>.

In animals, *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* supplementation was able to reduce NEC severity in newborn mice and piglets<sup>140</sup>. NEC was induced in non-surgical mouse and piglet models using stool from a human infant with NEC, and when also given the live or dead probiotic, or with

extracted *L. rhamnosus* DNA, NEC severity was attenuated. This indicates that the benefit is dependent on TLR-9 innate sensing, and could also be created using other probiotic species or their DNA. Other lactobacilli species, such as *L. plantarum*, are also able to improve weanling piglet gut health by reducing incidence of diarrhea and increasing relative proportions of beneficial *Prevotellaceae* and *Bifidobacteriaceae*<sup>141</sup>. *In vitro* experiments show that intestinal mucosa from pigs treated with a combination therapy of *B. lactis* and *L. rhamnosus* can significantly reduce adherence of pathogens *Clostridium perfringens, C. difficile, E. coli*, and *Salmonella enterica*, whilst also increasing their own adhesion allowing for prolonged protection<sup>142</sup>. *In vivo*, healthy pigs receiving treatments of probiotic *Entercoccus faecium*, prebiotic lactulose, or the synbiotic, showed decreased *Enterobacteriaceae* across all treatments, with the lactulose-treated group showing a 10-fold reduction<sup>143</sup>. All groups also showed an increased proportion of Firmicutes, indicating that probiotic and prebiotic supplementation can support healthy microbiome functions.

These examples are encouraging, and yet the data from surgical and SBS models are less promising. In a mouse model of induced colitis, supplementation with fructooligosaccharides (FOS) has been associated with a loss of barrier function and overall decrease in diversity and richness in mice with ileocecal resection (ICR)<sup>144</sup>. ICR mice had significantly decreased *Bifidobacteria*, a complete lack of fecal butyrate, and increased serum inflammatory cytokines compared with control. In SBS piglets, FOS significantly increases adaptation measured by villus height, but this effect was negated entirely by probiotic *L. rhamnosus* on its own, and reduced by the synbiotic<sup>145</sup>.

As shown in these examples, supplementing the growth of only a single phylum or species may be ineffective or even too dangerous for consideration in SBS infants with SIBO. Animal models also support the conclusion that probiotics may hamper the adaptation after surgery that is necessary for a good prognosis, which may then inhibit their ability to wean from PN-dependence. Instead, reconstitution of the entire microbiota with healthy diversity and richness may be the more prudent choice, and potentially the administration of prebiotic oligosaccharides without a corresponding probiotic. Engstrand Lilja, et al<sup>72</sup>, noted that fecal microbial transplant (FMT) may be a viable treatment option to counteract the disruptive effects that frequent antibiotic use to treat SIBO have upon the microbiota.

## **1.3. Fecal Microbial Transplant**

Fecal microbial transplant (FMT) is the complete replacement of a dysbiotic microbiota with one from a healthy donor in an effort to treat disease<sup>146</sup>. As such, it represents a potential solution to the risk of sepsis as discussed above with use of probiotics. Originally described in the 4<sup>th</sup> and 16<sup>th</sup> centuries in China to treat severe diarrhea, fever, vomiting, and constipation<sup>146</sup>, the first modern published uses were documented in 1958 to treat pseudomembranous colitis, and in 1981 a series of 16 patients receiving fecal enemas to cure recurrent C. difficile infection (RCDI) was reported<sup>147</sup>. Modern recurrence rates for CDI are between 20-35%, with 45-65% of patients having multiple relapsing episodes<sup>148</sup>. As most patients with RCDI are treated with many rounds of rotating antibiotics, their susceptibility to further bouts of CDI may be due to the lack of colonization resistance provided by other bacteria that have also been eliminated by the antimicrobials. Current clinical guidelines in the US recommend use of FMT after the third round of CDI, however it may be considered as a first step in those who cannot tolerate or cannot receive antibiotics<sup>149</sup>. One systematic review of 27 reports covering 317 adult patients from 8 countries found an overall cure rate of 92% for cases of CDI or pseudomembranous colitis, with 89% of patients being cured after a single infusion<sup>150</sup>. In all included studies, relapse (3.9%), adverse events (2.5%), or deaths (4.1%) were all rare, with no deaths being directly attributable to the FMT, which

showcases the high rate of success and low risk nature of this treatment. In a small study of children with IBD (median age 13y) receiving FMT to treat RCDI, 6 of 8 (25%) patients had not experienced a recurrence of CDI at 60 days follow-up, but a further 3 patients (37.5%) did develop a CDI between 60 days and 6 months post-FMT<sup>151</sup>. The authors noted that reasons for the low efficacy rate may have been disease severity coupled with the number of immunomodulatory drugs being used to treat the children. In these cases, regular use of FMT every 2-3 months may provide longer-lasting relief of symptoms. FMT for RCDI has also shown the ability to treat colonization by antibiotic resistant organisms and maintain this effect through a year-long follow-up period<sup>152</sup>. With the promising results shown for treatment of RCDI, clinicians are increasingly studying this therapy for use with other conditions as well. Other GI disorders include ulcerative colitis and Crohn's Disease, IBS, and chronic constipation, with other studies exploring its use in non-GI conditions such as Parkinson's disease, chronic fatigue syndrome, insulin resistance, and autism<sup>146</sup>.

In the context of short bowel syndrome, FMT has already been used successfully in two patients with SBS to treat recurrent D-lactic acidosis<sup>53,153</sup>, one a 15-year-old male and one a 7-year-old female. Lactic acid is produced in two enantiomeric forms, D-lactate and L-lactate, by many lactobiotic species, with not all species producing the same ratio of D:L forms<sup>52</sup>. L-lactate is a key metabolic intermediate in gut fermentation and cross-feeding food webs, as well as being an energy source for neurons, while D-lactate is a neurotoxic byproduct. Accumulation of D-lactate is caused by an overgrowth of the species that produce that enantiomer in higher quantities. The overgrowth can be due to lack of colonization resistance or simply due to excess oxygen exposure during surgery that favours the lactate-producers and harms the beneficial anaerobes. Symptoms of D-lactate intoxication include slurred speech, ataxia, confusion, fatigue, and other encephalopathies that may be irreversible if the condition persists long-term. The patients in question had both had
multiple episodes of severe acidosis in a 3 to 4-month span, and the male was experiencing abdominal discomfort even when other D-lactic acidosis symptoms were not present, in addition to lack of satiety after adequate oral nutrition intake. Both patients experienced no recurrence of acidosis after a single infusion of donor feces, experiencing improvement of all symptoms, and did not have a relapse within the follow-up periods (6 months for the male, 12 months for the female). While these patients were not a part of the vulnerable neonatal population, this nevertheless demonstrates that FMT can be used successfully in patients with SBS.

In addition to successfully resolving an issue of overgrowth of D-lactate producing bacteria, FMT could be successful at resolving total small intestinal bacterial overgrowth as well. SIBO, as described above, becomes an issue when beneficial species are eliminated by antibiotics or oxygen exposure, allowing the damaging aerobes and Proteobacteria to grow in their place. This leads to a breakdown of barrier function, increased liver damage leading to IFALD, and an increase in septic episodes<sup>66</sup>. Patients with SIBO often experience oral feeding intolerance and a delay in progression to weaning from PN<sup>71</sup>. FMT could eliminate these issues all at once, by replacing the dysbiotic microbiota with a healthy diversity and richness that restores colonization resistance, and necessary digestive functions like SCFA production<sup>72</sup>.

## 1.3.1. Methods of Delivery

Given that FMT is still a relatively new form of medical treatment, a standard protocol has not yet been universally decided upon, though general sets of recommended guidelines have been put together by The European FMT (EFMT) Working Group<sup>154</sup> and by Health Canada<sup>155</sup>. These recommendations allow for some flexibility in administration according to the individual patient's needs and preferences. The first step is to obtain informed consent from the patient, and then after selection of a donor, they should be screened for a wide range of viral, bacterial, and parasitic pathogens<sup>155</sup>. As many bacterial, viral, and parasitic diseases are transmitted through fecal material, this is essential and is discussed further below.

One of the great advantages of FMT as a treatment is that it is extremely flexible in how it must to be administered. Microbiota can be fresh, administered on the same day as collection after homogenization and filtration, or it can be frozen and stored until needed, then thawed and used in the same manner. One systematic review that looked at fresh vs. frozen usage found no significant difference between the modes of preparation<sup>156</sup>. This is supported by another study that found storage and preparation methods only minimally explained differences in human and canine fecal samples stored over an 8-week period<sup>157</sup>, and a third study that found no difference in cure rates based on fresh (92%) versus frozen (90%) methods after one infusion<sup>158</sup>. Another available method for storage and delivery is to make the fecal extract into capsules<sup>149</sup>, and this method has been found to be just as efficacious<sup>156,159</sup>. This option would provide convenience and flexibility in terms of the timeline of material collection before administration. Lastly, the option to lyophilize prepared stool for storage before reconstitution and use appears to have a significantly lowered success rate, compared with fresh or frozen, and should not be considered as a first-choice method<sup>160</sup>.

The next main difference in FMT delivery is whether to choose a proximal or distal delivery route. Proximal options include nasogastric tube, upper endoscopy, or capsule, and distal routes include retention enema, colonoscopy, or sigmoidoscopy<sup>149</sup>. Oral routes tend to be easier on the patient and do not require sedation, but they also bear the risks of nausea, vomiting, and potential aspiration of feculent material that may make distal routes more attractive in the neonate. Distal routes may be easier to deliver, depending on the bowel location chosen, despite requiring

sedation and cause less distress or discomfort to infants. Khan, et al<sup>156</sup>, found that there was no significant difference between upper versus lower delivery for frozen FMT when comparing two studies that looked at these comparisons in adults.

## 1.3.2. Factors Affecting Success

The main factor influencing the success of human biotherapy is survival of the microbiota through the preparation and storage of the donated material. The EFMT Working Group recommends that processing and storage of fecal material should be as quick as possible (within 6 hours) to protect anaerobes, and that anaerobic preparation conditions should be used if possible<sup>154</sup>; however, as none of the above studies<sup>156,159,160</sup> prepared the fecal material under anoxic conditions and yet still found high cure rates seems to suggest that this is not of utmost importance. General EFMT guidelines advise that when preparing material for freezing, up to 10% glycerol should be added to protect against cellular damage, and that -80 °C is preferable to -20 °C as the lower temperature ensures all digestive or degradative enzymes are inactive.

One of the first literature reports of fecal bacteriotherapy by Tvede and Rask-Madsen reported<sup>161</sup> that 5 patients were cured of RCDI after having been administered a synthetic bacterial microbiota. There were 6 patients studied in total; one was cured after fecal transplant, one received fecal transplant and did not experience remission but did after then receiving the bacterial transplant, and the remaining 5 were cured after a single enema with the synthetic mixture. The authors noted that success of the therapy was likely due to the restoration of the essential *Bacteroides* species which were absent in all patients before biotherapy because these species prevent colonization by pathogens and restore essential fatty acid production. A further study<sup>162</sup> has also shown that a synthetic microbiota comprised of 33 species also cures RCDI, and noted

the additional benefit of low risk of pathogen transmission and higher patient acceptance for aesthetic reasons.

In terms of composition of the transplant material, the bacterial species present may not be the only important aspect. Bacteriophages (phages) are often ignored when speaking of the microbiota, perhaps justifiably as they are not technically alive, but nevertheless they exhibit an important aspect of population control upon their bacterial hosts. Phages are currently under exploration as antibiotics and food preservatives<sup>163</sup>, uses which are allowed due to their lack of ability to infect human cells. Phages have been implicated in the success of FMT to treat RCDI with sterile fecal filtrate<sup>164</sup>, with another retrospective study finding that higher phage alpha diversity and lower abundance correlated with better success<sup>165</sup>. In the human microbiota, phages primarily exist as integrated prophages which may be awakened and stimulated by the use of antibiotics<sup>165</sup>. As RCDI patients have generally experienced frequent antibiotic use, it is intuitive that their phage content would be higher, which would then also enable the phages to target the desirable species, further perpetuating dysbiosis. Potential FMT donors are recommended to be excluded if they have had recent (<3 months) exposure to antibiotics, but phage content or diversity has not yet been considered an important factor in donor screening<sup>154</sup>. These unknown aspects warrant further investigations into the rise and fall of bacteriophage populations in stool after antibiotic treatments.

## 1.3.3. Cautions and risks

The largest and most pressing concern of treatments involving fecal or other biological material is the presence of pathogens or transmission of microbiota-associated diseases such as obesity<sup>80</sup>, autoimmune conditions such as myocarditis<sup>166</sup> or rheumatoid arthritis, and others like

celiac disease and Type 1 Diabetes that have been associated with increased intestinal permeability<sup>167</sup>. A post-FMT patient's microbiota displays characteristics that are a mix of both donor and pre-FMT patient, with some previously undetectable species becoming detectable<sup>168</sup>. This would open an avenue for any potential low-abundance opportunistic pathogens that are not causing harm in the donor to expand and harm the recipient, as in the recent case of a patient who died after ingesting FMT capsules that contained a strain of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL)-producing *E. coli*<sup>169</sup>. In this case, donors had been screened for suitability in terms of weight and medical history, however, at the time of the donation that contained the drug-resistant pathogen, donated stool was not itself tested for this specific organism. Such requirements came into effect upon US Food and Drug Administration recommendation, but previously donated and prepared biotherapy capsules were not retroactively tested.<sup>154</sup> This case is tragic and serves to emphasize the importance of extensively screening and testing both donors and their donations.

In addition to a broad range of general health inquiries, donor blood should be tested for a range of viruses (including cytomegalovirus, Epstein-Barr virus, hepatitis, and human immunodeficiency virus [HIV]), bacterial infections (syphilis), and parasites (*Entamoeba histolytica, Strongyloides stercoralis*), as well as overall indicators of health<sup>154</sup>. Health Canada also recommends testing donors for Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease and other prion-related diseases<sup>155</sup>. The donated fecal matter should be equally screened for presence of *C. difficile* and its toxins, *Vibrio cholera* and its toxin, and other bacterial pathogens with special attention for drug-resistant strains. Stool should also be tested for protozoan and helminthic pathogens, as well as fecal-borne viruses like Adenovirus and Rotavirus. Although the EFMT Working Group does not specifically mention coronaviruses (CoV), sudden acute respiratory syndrome (SARS-CoV) and Middle Eastern respiratory syndrome (MERS-CoV) have been demonstrated to shed viral particles in feces<sup>170</sup>.

Given that SARS-CoV-2 has also been detected in fecal material of patients, regardless of severity of disease, for 6-10 days after infection and after pharyngeal swabs became negative<sup>171</sup>, the most recent Health Canada guidelines<sup>155</sup> recommend that it is also prudent to test for this virus in fecal matter of potential donors.

Extensive screening of donor and donation still may not reduce risk of complication to zero in the case of patients with a history of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). In one case, a patient with a history of ulcerative colitis (UC) that had been refractory for 20 years developed an RCDI, and upon receiving an FMT using material that had been screened from a healthy donor, he experienced a flare of his UC<sup>172</sup>. The UC responded well to treatment and went back into remission. In another IBD cohort given FMT for RCDI, 11 of 43 patients (25.6%) experienced an IBD flare, including two hospitalizations<sup>173</sup>. In this instance, the authors noted that the patients who experienced an IBD flare may have only been colonized with *C. difficile* and that the IBD flare may have been the true cause of their discomfort. Together, these cases provide supporting data that caution is warranted when considering FMT for use in patients with IBD, but taken in the broader context of the overall success rate of FMT for RCDI, these risks are likely manageable and should not be considered prohibitive. The experience gained from these studies indicates that FMT is overall a safe and well-tolerated therapy, and should be investigated for its use in the resolution of gut dysbiosis associated with short bowel syndrome.

## 1.4. Piglets as a Model

Studying human disease in an animal model is fraught with challenges that can hamper the external validity of the experiments. Species-related differences in development, anatomy, physiology, and immunology must be accounted or controlled for if one hopes to make useful

inferences and conclusions. Still, studying in humans is often more prohibitive, with ethical concerns and heterogeneity in the participant pool limiting fidelity. Short bowel syndrome's status as an orphan disease means that the population from which to draw participants is, by definition, extremely small, disparate in location, and often divergent in etiology, therefore animal models which seek to remedy these drawbacks are essential.

As SBS is primarily a condition involving loss of all or part of an organ, rather than one generally originating in malfunctioning cellular or biochemical processes (though those do play a part in the disease as well), a mammalian model organism that provides the best approximation of the human GI tract is more applicable than a cell culture or in vitro design. When choosing a model, the least complex with the greatest degree of homology to the organ or system being studied is often the best choice<sup>174</sup>. Non-human primates may be appropriate for the study of neurological or social sciences, but their sentience and capacity for self-determination means the moral cost of using them in experiments involving the potential for harm, and ultimately termination, is too high<sup>175</sup>. Rodent models are frequently used to approximate human gastrointestinal disease, as their small size, low maintenance costs, short reproductive cycle, homogenous genetic background, and multiparous nature make them attractive options<sup>176</sup>. There are, however, several drawbacks to using rodents to study human GI diseases or microbiota. Humans and rodents have vastly different body sizes and life spans, gestational terms, designation of premature birth, and intestinal maturity at full term<sup>177,178</sup>. Importantly, for the study of the microbiota, rodents have different eating styles than humans (meals vs. grazing) including nutrition tolerance at birth, and rodents engage in coprophagia, whereas humans do not<sup>177</sup>. Lastly, as our model of SBS requires major open abdominal surgery, neonatal rodents are disqualified from being used as they cannot tolerate such insult<sup>177</sup>. Despite their larger size and comparatively more expensive care, the gastrointestinal

morphology and physiology of pigs provides a high degree of homology with humans and makes them an appropriate model<sup>176</sup>.

#### **1.4.1.** Gestation and development

Porcine and human embryological development is similar, including cellular origin of the gastrointestinal tissue, and gestational stage at which the GI tract begins to form<sup>177</sup>. The intestinal epithelial cells form in crypts and migrate outwards along the forming villi, achieving recognizable morphology to adult intestines at 49% gestation in piglets and 53% gestation in humans<sup>177</sup>. Whereas humans and other primates are viable from approximately 70% gestation, piglets are not generally viable until ~90% gestation, even with significant intervention<sup>179</sup>. In both humans and piglets, major developmental maturation of the GI tract occurs rapidly in response to fetal swallowing and intake of amniotic fluid, though piglets are born with a slightly less mature GI system than human infants<sup>179</sup>. This immaturity makes them more similar to the premature human infant, which is ideal for the study of SBS<sup>177</sup>, as this is a disease with an incidence rate inversely proportional to gestational age. Taken together with rapid growth rates and weight gain postnatally, a longer gestational period than rodents, and large litters, piglets are well-placed to serve as an accelerated model for the study of human neonatal GI disorders.

### **1.4.2.** Gastrointestinal physiology

Similarities between the porcine and human GI tract begin in the esophagus, as both species have submucosal glands along its length, followed by a completely glandular stomach<sup>176</sup>. Rodents share neither of these traits, with rats and mice having large aglandular portions of the stomach which may cause large differences in their digestion that potentially impact their microbiotas<sup>180</sup>. Distally to the stomach, pigs and humans both have a duodenum, jejunum, and ileum, though adult

pigs average between 15-22 m in total length of these sections. Humans make do sufficiently with only 5.5-7 m in total length, though this does work out to approximately the same length-tobodyweight ratio (0.1) for both species<sup>176</sup>. Pigs have no gallbladder and have separate pancreatic and bile ducts, while humans employ a common bile duct<sup>177</sup>. At full term birth, piglets have 215-380 cm small intestine and 75-80 cm large intestine, while human infants have on average 200 cm small and 50 cm large intestine<sup>177</sup>. Once the ileocecal valve (ICV) is crossed, more differences become apparent; chiefly, pigs do not have an appendix and are possessed of a spiral-shaped colon, whereas humans do have appendices and have square-shaped colons<sup>176,177</sup>. Piglets have similar longitudinal intestinal muscles to humans, regardless of colon shape, which results in very similar transit times<sup>176</sup>. Notably, rats make poor models in this regard, as they can voluntarily alter their transit time in periods of low food availability through reclamation of nutrients lost in fecal matter, which reduces their fiber fermentation capacity and increases transit time<sup>181</sup>. Piglets have a very high rate of intestinal growth postnatally, doubling their length in just 10 days, whereas human infants take 2-3 years to perform the same feat<sup>177</sup>.

In regard to appropriateness for studying neonatal NEC, the piglet is the only animal model to spontaneously develop NEC dependent on the same risk factors of premature birth, formula feeding, and microbiota disruption as human infants<sup>182</sup>. Azcarate-Peril and colleagues showed that piglet NEC was characterized by a dominance of Proteobacteria, an increase in diversity of ileal mucosal-associated bacteria, and an over-representation of three *Clostridium* species that were absent in piglets without NEC (*C. butyricum, C. proteolyticum*, and *C. neonatale*). A second study also found that neonatal piglet NEC developed spontaneously after premature birth and formula feeding, and was associated with bacterial overgrowth, high densities of *C. perfringens*, and that NEC was prevented in formula-fed piglets by keeping them germ free<sup>183</sup>.

Post-surgically, adaptation after 75% small bowel mid-resection in the juvenile pig is characterized by bowel dilatation and increase in length, as well as increased villus surface area, when compared with animals who received a transection only<sup>184</sup>. This resected group also showed lowered protein, fat, and carbohydrate absorption than their transection-only peers. In neonatal piglets, those who received a 75% JI resection had significantly taller ileal villi and deeper crypts than non-surgical piglets, as well as a dilated small bowel<sup>18</sup>, which is also seen in infants with jejunostomy<sup>27</sup>. Piglets with a JC remnant anatomy adapt poorly, evidenced by shorter villi and crypt depth, less weight gain, and more pronounced malabsorption, which is also reflective of human infants<sup>13</sup>.

## 1.4.3. Porcine Immunology

The porcine immune system bears many similarities with humans, beginning with the expression of pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) that detect pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), common indicators of non-self expressed by beneficial and harmful microbes. Pigs express TLRs1-10 that share between 73% - 85% homology with their human counterparts, with the tissue expression patterns and intracellular pathways also bearing many of the same adaptors and intermediates<sup>185</sup>. Swine also have a robust humoral complement system that has a high degree of polymorphism, suggesting an effective first line of pathogen defense<sup>185,186</sup>. The porcine repertoire of white blood cells is comprised of mostly monocytes, neutrophils, and lymphocytes, with eosinophils and basophils making up smaller fractions<sup>187</sup>. Piglets are born without maternal immunoglobulins due to the impermeable placental barrier and depend on receiving them through suckling and ingestion of colostrum after birth<sup>188</sup>.

Despite the initial similarities in receptor and cell types, there are some differences between pigs and humans in how they respond to pathogen challenge. In humans, monocytes challenged with LPS or lipoteichoic acid (LTA) respond by upregulating expression of TLR-4, which amplifies the cycle of inflammation, whereas in pigs only LTA produces this response<sup>189</sup>. In humans, interleukin-4 (IL-4) is a key stimulatory cytokine in the Type II immune response against extracellular pathogens and production of antibodies, but in pigs it has an inhibitory effect on B cells<sup>190</sup>. IL-4 in pigs has been shown to suppress B cell activation and antibody production, as well as reducing the effects of other inflammatory cytokines IL-2 and IL-6, though it does also appear to stimulate monocytes to differentiate into dendritic cells<sup>190</sup>. This indicates a change in the way the porcine inflammatory response is initiated in response to bacterial infection, and might indicate a Type I intracellular immune response bias in the pig, meaning a greater disposition to severe disease in models of sepsis, but the full meaning of these differences is unclear at present.

## 1.4.4. Microbiota

The piglet microbiota is similar to the infant microbiota at birth in several respects. Firstly, the alpha diversity is generally lower than their older, weaned peers, and secondly, it is typically dominated by *Enterobacteriaceae*, with contributions from *Bacteroidaceae*, *Clostridiaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, and *Lactobacillaceae*<sup>191</sup>. Early life microbe exposure is important in overall piglet health, just as in humans, with piglets dependent on maternal humoral factors obtained from nursing to prevent pathogen establishment in their guts<sup>192</sup>. Sow milk typically contains different oligosaccharides with lower diversity than does human breast milk, but the total abundance of such oligosaccharides is comparable<sup>193</sup>. The structures present varies during the lactation and nursing period, and in doing so they modulate the piglet microbiota both taxonomically and functionally<sup>193</sup>. Diversity gradually increases day by day from birth to weaning, with no one day being significantly

different from the previous or following days<sup>191</sup>. Weaning generally happens around 21 days of age and is a pivotal moment in a young pig's development. The switch from sow milk to solid feeds results in swift changes in the dominant taxa that are visible within one week of weaning: *Enterobacteriaceae, Bacteroidaceae,* and *Clostridiaceae* are reduced and replaced by increased fractions of *Lactobacillaceae, Ruminococcaceae, Prevotellaceae,* and *Streptococcaceae*<sup>191</sup>. At this time, the makeup of the juvenile pig microbiota closely resembles a more adult-like distribution, as described in the colon and cecum of ~3.5-4-year-old Göttingen minipigs<sup>194</sup>. The process of microbiota stabilization into that resembling an adult's progresses much faster in pigs than in humans, which can take up to three years, despite humans generally transitioning to solid foods by 1 year of age<sup>102</sup>.

In addition to the above similarities, young piglets are also vulnerable to dysbiosis, particularly around the time of weaning and the dramatic microbial shifts that accompany it. Diarrhea commonly occurs at weaning, possibly due in part to both the transient drop in nutritional intake as piglets adjust to solid food, and to the loss of maternal antibodies that prevent expansion of harmful species<sup>192</sup>. Piglets can be more or less susceptible to infection by enterotoxigenic *E. coli* (ETEC) diarrhea if the ETEC strain expresses a fimbriae gene that matches a receptor on piglet IECs<sup>192</sup>, so host genetics play a role the development of piglet dysbiosis. In an SBS model, piglets that undergo a 75% proximal small intestinal resection have reduced diversity compared with both transected and non-operational piglets that is more pronounced at 6 weeks after surgery, compared with 2 weeks<sup>195</sup>. Phylum-level analysis shows a similar proportion of Firmicutes as a whole, with reduced levels of Bacteroidetes and Fusobacteria, compared with both sham and non-operational piglets. Within the Firmicutes group, however, resected pigs were dominated by gram-negative *Veillonellaceae* at 84% of OTUs, while non-operational piglets only have 10% of this family and

significantly higher Chao1 richness. All pigs in this study were fed the same elemental infant formula and given the same medication, to minimize the effect of those variables. In a model more similar to human infants that are not allowed enteral nutrition and experience multiple rounds of antibiotics, our work in SBS piglets shows that these two common aspects of intestinal failure have a greater effect on the piglet microbiota than surgery does alone<sup>69</sup>. Overall, these attributes of the piglet microbiota serve as supporting evidence that neonatal piglets make an excellent accelerated model to study the human infant microbiota.

## 1.4.5. FMT in pigs

Fecal transplant has been explored in pigs, primarily as a way to reduce diarrhea incidence without the use of antibiotics<sup>196-200</sup>, and as an attempted method of increasing growth and feed-use efficiency<sup>201,202</sup>. One study<sup>200</sup> found lowered incidence of diarrhea was associated with higher relative proportions of *Lactobacillus spp*, lower *E. coli*, and increased SCFAs, but that this benefit was only conferred when using fecal donations from one species of pig (out of three tested). Another study<sup>199</sup> found that higher Bacteroidetes:Firmicutes ratio was associated with resistance to diarrhea induced by enterotoxigenic *E. coli* (ETEC), and that this resistance was transferrable via FMT with jejunal contents from non-diarrheal pigs. Diarrheal piglets had more *Lactobaccillus* species than those that did not recover. A third study<sup>196</sup> investigated weaning stress-induced diarrhea and found that a specific secretory peptide, gassericin A, released by *L. gasseri* LA39 and *L. frumenti* associated closely with the IECs and enhanced fluid absorption, thus lowering diarrhea.

Use of FMT for enhanced growth performance in pigs has more mixed results. One study found that while certain Families were enriched in FMT-treated pigs (*Streptococcus, Clostridiaceae*) and growth performance improved, the overall composition of the microbiota was unchanged<sup>202</sup>. A second study found many compositional changes post-FMT, but this was associated with negative impacts on intestinal morphology, poor nutrient absorption, and a reduction in growth and feed-use efficiency<sup>201</sup>. A third study<sup>198</sup> found the opposite, that intestinal barrier function and growth were improved in recipient pigs, and was associated with increases in Firmicutes and decreases in inflammatory groups like *Proteobacteria, Fusobacteriaceae, Clostridiaceae, Veillonellaceae*, and *Escherichia*. This last study did also find a decrease in *Bacteroidaceae* and *Bacteroides*, members of the Bacteroidetes phylum typically thought of as desirable species, in improved piglets, indicating the complicated nature of microbiota studies and the difficulty in defining the ideal healthy microbiota.

Low or inconsistent response in these experiments could potentially be explained due to the highly heterogenous nature of the different treatment regimens. In the study by Wang and colleagues<sup>202</sup> that overall found no changes to the microbiota, 3-week-old pigs were gavaged with 3 mL of suspended fecal material on two consecutive days. McCormack and colleagues<sup>201</sup> found large changes to the microbiota, and gave 8 mL fecal suspension to newborn piglets (one group once, one group four times), and 100 mL to sows that had received a bowel preparation solution prior to transplant. In other studies, 10 mL was given multiple times and increased to 20 mL as the piglets aged<sup>200</sup>, high and low doses were given in 2 mL aliquots multiple times<sup>196</sup>, 20 mL was given every day for 6 days<sup>199</sup>, and 1.5 mL was given every day for 11 days<sup>198</sup>. Interestingly, while few of these studies dosed the animals based on concentration of live bacterial cells, one that did<sup>196</sup> found that a lower dose of FMT conferred greater resistance to diarrhea than a dose 10-fold higher. These highly heterogenous results indicate that amount of material infused, the composition of species within it, as well as the nature of both recipient and donor play a part in determining the efficacy of an FMT treatment in pigs. Hu and colleagues<sup>203</sup> have proposed a standardized procedure for porcine FMT that may help to bring consistency to future experiments and allow for easier comparison between studies.

## 1.5. Summary

Short bowel syndrome is a heterogenous disease that places enormous burden on our healthcare system, disproportionate to its incidence<sup>204</sup>. Not all costs are covered by the Canadian national healthcare system, as many families must travel for care and spend time away from work. Some costs are intangible, with losses to schooling, stress, and loss of life being impossible to quantify. Long-term dependence on parenteral nutrition due to intestinal failure brings with it an increase in risk of liver damage and of sepsis due to disruptions of the gut microbiota associated with the disease itself, and with the methods used to manage it. There are many ways of altering the microbiota by using probiotics and prebiotics that have met with some success, but these have been associated with an inhibition of post-surgical adaptation in some cases, and with an increase in sepsis in others. Fecal microbial transplant represents a unique opportunity to replace the entire dysbiotic microbiota with a healthy one in a single treatment, thereby potentially reducing chances of sepsis and increasing the ability to wean from parenteral nutrition. Our already established neonatal piglet model of short bowel syndrome is an ideal setting with which to test this theory.

## **Chapter Two: Rationale for Research**

As sepsis and end-stage liver failure are now the leading cause of death in those with intestinal failure, we must focus on remediating the factors that lead to their development. Much work has already been done to optimize parenteral nutrition formulas and delivery as a key part of reducing intestinal failure-associated liver disease (IFALD). However, the etiology of this condition is not purely based on the ingredients in PN, as reduced intestinal barrier function and endotoxin from translocated bacteria has the potential to create an inflammatory state in the liver, which leads to fibrosis and cholestasis. A method that maintains the appropriate balance of beneficial species of bacteria in the gut in absence of oral nutrition, their traditional source of substrate, is essential to keeping the integrity of the mucosal layer and epithelial barrier intact, thus potentially reducing the occurrence of both sepsis and IFALD.

Beneficial species in the gut have the duties not only of filling space and crowding out an overgrowth of harmful species, but they are also vital to our gut homeostasis as they provide essential digestive functions. Food components that are otherwise indigestible by our own enzymes are broken down by members of the Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes phyla who then produce the essential short chain fatty acids like butyrate that are required for our gut integrity. When not provided with these components, the species quickly die out and need replacing, else the minor populations of opportunistic pathogens be allowed to expand in their place<sup>205</sup>. Probiotics have been explored in this context and have had some positive results, but certain species have been associated with reduced mucosal adaptation, and may not be appropriate in a vulnerable post-surgical neonatal population.

Fecal microbial transplant (FMT) has been eagerly explored as a therapy for recurrent *Clostridioides difficile* infections (RCDI), with success rates as high as 92%, and with minimal

adverse events<sup>150</sup>. FMT has also already been used to reverse colonization with antibiotic-resistant bacteria<sup>152</sup>, and to treat D-lactic acidosis<sup>53</sup>, a common complication of SBS due to overgrowth of D-lactate-producing bacteria. In light of these successes, we feel the time is right to investigate the applicability of FMT to treat dysbiosis and sepsis in short bowel syndrome, using our neonatal piglet model as a proxy for human infants.

## 2.1. Objectives

- 1. In a neonatal piglet model of short bowel syndrome, determine if fecal microbial transplant can be safely administered without increase in mortality.
- Determine if a dysbiotic gut microbiota can be made to resemble the composition of a healthy Donor after a single infusion of feces.
- 3. Investigate if this treatment leads to a change in incidence of septic episodes.

## 2.2. Null Hypotheses

- 1. FMT administration will be associated with no change in overall mortality.
- There will be no significant difference in the microbiota of piglets before and after FMT treatment, and there will be no difference in the microbiotas of FMT-treated or salinetreated piglets.
- 3. There will be no change in the incidence of sepsis based on FMT treatment.

We will be testing these hypotheses in our neonatal piglet model of short bowel syndrome as this model is already well-established to study both SBS<sup>18,177</sup> and the neonatal piglet microbiota<sup>69</sup>. Neonatal piglets have a high degree of homology with human neonates in terms of gastrointestinal physiology and development, and in terms of microbiota establishment, progression, and composition. This research is a necessary step in finding novel therapies to combat the growing concern of sepsis and IFALD in a vulnerable neonatal population. Piglets provide a more genetically homogenous, faster-growing, and adaptable model that answers the issues inherent with orphan disease research in humans, and also provide a more ethically viable avenue of experimentation.

Chapter Three: Evaluation of fecal microbial transplant for the treatment of short bowel syndrome-associated dysbiosis and sepsis in neonatal piglets as a model for human infants

# **3.1. Introduction**

Short bowel syndrome (SBS) is the most common cause of intestinal failure in both adults and children, and is classified as a loss of >75% of the intestinal length for age or height<sup>4</sup>. In children, necrotizing enterocolitis is the most common cause, while gastroschisis, atresia, and volvulus are also important contributors<sup>13</sup>. These congenital and acquired conditions result in massive resection of the large and small bowels, leading to a dependence upon parenteral nutrition (PN) for survival. While life-saving, PN also comes with the risk of developing IF-associated liver disease (IFALD) and catheter-associated sepsis, two complications that together are the causes of 80% of disease-specific mortality<sup>4</sup>.

The exact pathways by which SBS leads to IFALD and sepsis are not currently known, however disruption of the gut microbiota presents a plausible avenue. A peri-surgical exposure to oxygen and a post-surgical lack of enteral nutrition lead to loss of essential fibre-fermenting Bacteroidetes species and an increase in aerotolerant Proteobacteria<sup>49</sup>. Use of antibiotics further disrupts the balance, allowing inflammatory species and opportunistic pathogens to overgrow. In the absence of their normal substrate, fiber fermenters die off and mucin-degraders devour the barrier that keeps them at bay. Once the mucus layer is depleted, remaining bacteria damage the thin epithelial layer and translocate to the bloodstream. After invasion, they release endotoxin which travels to the liver and produces inflammation and fibrosis<sup>46,50</sup>.

A way to prevent this progression would be to restore the lost species so they can maintain their protective and beneficial functions. Fecal microbial transplant (FMT) has already been approved by Health Canada<sup>155</sup> for use to treat recurrent *Clostridioides difficile* infections, has been used successfully to treat colonization with antibiotic resistant organisms<sup>152</sup>, and twice to treat D-lactic acidosis due to SIBO in pediatric patients with SBS<sup>53,153</sup>. Other microbiota-affecting treatments have been investigated, including supplementation with beneficial organisms (probiotics), substrate for the organisms (prebiotics), or combinations of the two (synbiotics).

In some cases, probiotics have been associated with an increase in septic episodes<sup>134,135,139</sup>, raising safety concerns for use in neonates. Therefore, the aim of this study was to investigate the use of FMT in a neonatal piglet model of SBS. We wanted to see if using FMT is safe in neonates, whether or not it can restore a healthy balance of bacteria to the gut, and if this also will lead to a change in the rate of sepsis.

## 3.2. Methods

Procedures used in this study received approval from the University of Alberta Care and Use Committee for Livestock and were carried out in adherence to the guidelines set forth by the Canadian Council of Animal Care, Ethics #AUP00000155.

## **3.2.1.** Fecal donor selection

A healthy female gilt (unfarrowed female ~6 months old) was selected from the Swine Research and Technology Centre (SRTC) population for fecal donation based on optimum weight, absence of fever, presence of normal behaviours (including breathing, feeding, and excreting), and lack of wounds, contusions, or hematomas on the skin<sup>203</sup>. The gilt was moved to a separate, freshly cleaned pen for duration of the collection period. A second similarly screened healthy gilt was placed in the adjacent pen in order to reduce stress related to social isolation. Both gilts were provided water *ad libitum* and fed standard chow according to the schedule of the SRTC. Neither gilt was in estrus at time of collection. Feces were collected upon defecation after visual examination to ensure no trampling had occurred and no urine or blood contamination. After collection, fecal samples were refrigerated and processed within two hours.

## 3.2.2. FMT solution preparation

The FMT preparation protocol was based on a previously published method<sup>206</sup>. In brief, a 1:2 (w/w) ratio of feces to sterile water was weighed into one side of a new stomacher blender bag (VWR, CA89085-572, pore size 0.33 mm), air was manually removed, and the bag sealed with a closure clip. The bag was manually agitated for 3 - 5 minutes to homogenize. Once all large clumps had been dispersed, the opposite side of the bag was cut open and the filtrate was poured into a new HDPE bottle (Fisher Scientific, 028962D), whereupon 10% (v/v) sterile glycerol was added. The bottle was sealed tightly, mixed, and then stored at -80 °C. Prior to administration, a portion was thawed overnight at 4 °C.

#### 3.2.3. Animals and treatments

Neonatal male Duroc piglets, ages 3 - 7 days and weighing 2.0 - 2.8 kg, were selected from the SRTC and assigned to either saline control (SAL, n=12), fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=12), or sow-fed control (SOW, n=6) treatment groups (Fig. 1). Piglets were litter-blocked where possible to minimize inherent differences. Sow control piglets received the same pre-surgical antibiotics as treatment piglets but remained with their mother until termination to serve as the ideal piglet microbiome. Only male piglets were studied as female piglet anatomy makes it impossible to attach the fecal collection appliances used to acquire uncontaminated samples.

## 3.2.4. Surgical procedures and aftercare

SAL and FMT piglets underwent surgical intestinal resection as previously described<sup>18</sup>. Briefly, piglets were placed under general anesthesia and given buprenorphine (Chiron, Guelph, ON, Canada) for pain management. A 5-French (5F) central venous catheter was placed in the left external jugular vein for parenteral nutrition (PN) delivery. A midline laparotomy was performed, and the small intestinal length was carefully measured using a 3-0 silk suture along the anti-mesenteric border with minimal traction or stretching. Piglets underwent removal of 75% small intestinal length, including distal jejunum, entire ileum, ileocecal valve and 3cm of colon, and creation of a jejunocolic anastomosis. Tissue and digesta samples were taken immediately distal to transection for jejunum and immediately proximal for colon. A 10-F Stamm gastrostomy tube was inserted into the stomach for administration of enteral nutrition (EN), and finally, a stoma appliance (Hollister, Aurora, ON, Canada) was attached for collection of daily stool samples.

After surgery, piglets were kept according to in-house standard procedures<sup>18</sup>. Both surgical groups received a single dose of florfenicol (Intervet Canada Corp., Kirkland, QB, Canada), which has a 48-hour half-life, immediately post-surgery, and then no further antibiotics. Piglet weight gain was monitored daily and furosemide (Intervet Canada Corp. Kirkland, QB, Canada) was given to any that appeared edematous or had excessive weight gain for 2 consecutive days. Central lines were locked with a 4% tetrasodium ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (T-EDTA) lock solution (KiteLock 4%, SterileCare, Markham, Ontario, Canada) daily for 2 hours to ensure patency<sup>207</sup>.

#### 3.2.5. Nutrition

All piglets were sow-fed until inclusion in the study, with sow control piglets remaining as above. Solid chow was not provided to any piglets in selected litters until after termination of all study piglets from that litter. Surgical piglets were provided with PN immediately post-surgery using an in-house formula<sup>18,208</sup>. Initially PN was introduced at 50% nutritional requirements, advanced to 75% in the evening of day 0, maintained at 100% for day 1, and then reduced to 80% requirements from day 2 until termination in accordance with our standard procedures to reduce fluid overload<sup>209</sup>. EN was commenced on day 2 after FMT transplant (see below) at 20% nutritional requirements to stimulate adaptation as described<sup>18,210</sup>.

## 3.2.6. FMT and fecal collections

On day 2, a 100mL portion of FMT solution that had been thawed overnight at 4 °C was delivered to FMT piglets (Fig. 1). An equivalent 100mL portion of sterile saline was given to SAL piglets. Delivery was paced over 1 hour to prevent vomiting. One hour after FMT or saline was administered, EN was commenced, and bags were attached to the stoma appliance to collect the post-treatment stool samples. Daily stool samples were taken pre-treatment, post-treatment, and every morning through day 6, when possible unless piglets did not provide stool.

## 3.2.7. Termination and tissue collection

On day 7, piglets from all groups were placed under general anesthesia and a laparotomy was performed. Small intestinal length was measured in the same manner as initial surgery and portal blood was collected prior to humane euthanasia by intravenous injection of pentobarbital sodium (Schering, Pointe-Claire, Quebec, Canada). Digesta was taken from the proximal jejunum before the entire small intestine was removed, emptied, and weighed. Mucosa from the first 20cm distal to the ligament of Treitz was scraped and weighed, and jejunal tissue immediately distal to this location was collected. Digesta was also collected from the first 10cm of colon, as well as

colonic tissue immediately distal to the anastomosis. Mesenteric lymph nodes and splenic tissue were collected for potential future analyses.

### **3.2.8.** Assessment of structural adaptation

Jejunal tissue was stored in formalin until it was embedded in paraffin, sectioned, and then stained with hematoxylin and eosin prior to histological assessment by a board-certified veterinary pathologist (P.N. Nation) who was blinded to treatment assignments as described<sup>18</sup>. Mucosal adaptation was measured via villus height and crypt depth using a micrometer eyepiece (Nikon Eclipse 80i; Nikon, Tokyo, Japan). Villi were measured longitudinally with crypts from the same area also being recorded. Ten duplicate measurements of height or depth were used to calculate the mean for each piglet. Upon histological examination, one piglet from the FMT group was found to have severely damaged jejunal epithelium, so villi and crypt measurements could not be taken (see 3.4.3.6).

### 3.2.9. DNA extraction and analysis

Tissue and stool samples were outsourced for genomic DNA extraction using DNeasy 96 PowerSoil Pro QIAcube HT Kit (Qiagen, Toronto, Ontario, Canada) to the Centre d'Expertise et de Service Génome Québec (Montréal, Québec, Canada). Homogenization was done using the TissueLyser II method with PowerBead Pro Plates (Qiagen, Toronto, Ontario, Canada). Microbiota composition was characterized by 16S DNA tag sequencing using the MiSeq Illumina PE300 technology (paired-end), targeting the V3-V4 regions with forward primer 341F and reverse primer 805R.

## **3.2.10.** Bioinformatics

Bases with a quality score (Q) smaller than 20 were trimmed, and only reads that were at least 150 bp in length were kept for further analyses. The QIIME2 pipeline was used for analysis of 16S libraries<sup>211</sup>. Sequences were denoised using the DADA2 pipeline<sup>212</sup>, using a truncated length of 250 bp at each end. Multiple alignments and generation of a phylogenetic tree were conducted with the pipeline align-to-tree-mafft-fasttree (mafft alignment, and fasttree phylogeny). Principal coordinated analysis and estimations of beta diversity were conducted with the pipeline coremetrics-phylogenetic using a sampling depth of 5000 sequences. Alpha diversity estimations were derived with the alpha-group-significance pipeline. Rarefaction curves were produced using a sampling depth of 4000 sequences. For taxonomic classification, aligned sequences in the greengenes database<sup>213</sup> clustered at 99% identity were used to crop the V3-V4 regions with primers forward: CCTACGGGNGGCWGCAG and reverse: GACTACHVGGGTATCTAATCC. A Machine learning classifier was trained to assign taxonomy to the denoised representative sequences.

The Phyla and Families selected for further investigation and statistical analyses were those that aligned with previously published short bowel piglet microbiota data<sup>195</sup>, and those in which non-zero results were consistently observed across samples.

#### **3.3. Statistics**

Data are reported as mean (standard deviation). For biometric characteristics, all characteristics were found to approximate a normal distribution using the Shapiro-Wilk test<sup>215</sup>, and student t-tests or one-way ANOVA with post-hoc Tukey HSD were performed using SPSS for Windows (version 26; SPSS Inc, and IBM Company, Chicago, IL, USA). For comparison of

microbiota composition, independent samples Mann-Whitney U test was performed in the case of two groups being compared, and where more than two groups were compared, the independent samples Kruskal-Wallis test was reported with Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. For baseline to termination comparisons within groups, the related samples Wilcoxon signed rank test was performed. Diversity measures were tested using permanova or independent samples Kruskal-Wallis as noted. An alpha value of <0.05 was considered significant in all cases. Samples taken and included in the analyses are named: jejunum base (JB) and termination (JT), colon base (CB) and termination (CT) tissue samples, and pre-treatment (pre), post-treatment (post), and days 3 through 6 (d3 – d6) daily stool samples.

#### **3.3.1.** Power Estimations

In order to detect a relative mean composition difference of 5% in bacterial abundances at the given alpha level using a Wilcoxon or Mann-Whitney test with two independent sample groups (FMT and SAL), assuming standard deviations (SD) of 3 in each group, the effect size measured by Cohen's D is 1.67, required sample size per group is 6, and actual power is 83%. If the relative mean composition difference is 10% and SD is 3, then Cohen's D is 3.33, required sample size is 3, and power is 94%. If an SD of 5 is assumed, then for a relative mean difference of 5%, Cohen's D is 1.0, required sample size per group is 14, and power is 81%. For a relative mean difference of 10% and SD of 5, Cohen's D is 2.0, required sample size is 5, and power is 88%. For related samples tests (ie. comparisons within a single group) and the Cohen's D calculations as above, an effect size of 1.67 requires a total sample size of 8 and provides 97% power, effect size of 2.0 requires total n=6 and has 96% power, and an effect size of 3.33 requires total n=4 and provides 98% power. With our final group numbers of SAL (n=11), FMT (n=11), and SOW (n=6), we have more than satisfied the requirements for adequate statistical power to reduce the chance of Type I

and II errors. True estimations of power for the Kruskal-Wallis test are complex to the point of being prohibitive to perform<sup>216,217</sup>; However, a generic F-test with degrees of freedom (df) = 27, an alpha value of 0.05, and a critical test statistic of 3.3541 will have 80% power to detect differences between groups. All a priori power calculations performed using G\*Power 3.1.9.7<sup>218</sup>.

## 3.4. Results



**Figure 1 – Treatment Flowchart.** Shown above is the outline of experimental events for each treatment group. Male piglets, 3-7 days old, were assigned to one of these treatments with allocation concealment: saline (SAL, n=12), fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=12), or non-surgical sow-reared control (SOW, n=6). SAL and FMT piglets underwent 75% proximal jejunocolic short bowel surgery on day 0, during which baseline tissue samples were obtained. Pre-treatment stool samples were collected day 2 (pre) prior to treatment (T) with either 100mL sterile saline or 100mL FMT material, as appropriate. Post-treatment stool samples (post) were then collected. Daily stool samples were collected on days 3 - 6, as indicated (d). Termination surgeries were performed on day 7, during which tissue samples were collected. One piglet each group were removed from the study early as indicated (-1): from SAL due to a broken gastrostomy tube, and from FMT due to bowel obstruction. One SOW piglet was selected of the remaining piglets in each litter from which treatment piglets were taken, except for one litter as noted in the text. Final group numbers are SAL n=11, FMT n=11, and SOW n=6.

### 3.4.1. Clinical outcomes

FMT and SAL groups had a target sample size of 12, with one piglet being excluded from FMT on day 4 due to bowel obstruction leading to humane euthanasia, and one piglet being excluded from SAL on day 5 due to a broken gastrostomy tube that prevented delivery of enteral nutrition. Final group numbers were thus FMT (n=11), SAL (n=11) (Fig. 1). Sow-fed control (SOW) target was one per litter and this was achieved for all except for the first, due to the litter contracting scours (bacterial diarrhea) after the first two treatment piglets were selected (see 3.4.3.6). Final SOW inclusions were n=6. One piglet from the FMT group was suspected of sepsis on day 4 due to slightly elevated ear canal temperature (40.6 °C, normal range 39.5 °C – 40.5 °C) and one incidence of vomiting, but piglet recovered completely by day 5 and remained in the study (see 3.4.3.6).

## 3.4.2. Biometric data

At initial surgery, treatment piglets were equivalent in age, weight, baseline short bowel length, and resected remnant short bowel length (**Table 1**). At termination, there were no significant differences between age, weight, short bowel length or weight, mucosal weight, or mean villus height or crypt depth between SAL and FMT piglets. SOW piglets were on average about a day older than treatment piglets at termination, but this was not statistically different. SOW piglets had greater weight, short bowel length, and short bowel weight compared to both FMT and SAL piglets. SOW mucosal weight and mean villus height were greater compared to FMT but not SAL piglets; however, SOW piglets had significantly shorter crypt depth compared to both treatment groups.

# **Table 1 – Biometric Characteristics**

	SAL n=11	FMT n=11	SOW n=6	p-value
Characteristic at initial surgery				
Age (d)	4.9 (1.0)	4.9 (1.1)	-	1.00
Weight (kg)	2.4 (0.2)	2.4 (0.3)	-	0.85
Baseline SBL (cm)	583 (50.7)	557 (64.1)	-	0.31
Resected SBL (cm)	145 (12.7)	139 (15.8)	-	0.32
Characteristic at termination				
Age (d)	11.9 (1.0)	11.9 (1.1)	13.2 (1.0)	0.06
Weight (kg)	3.5 (0.4) <sup>a</sup>	$3.4~(0.5)^{a}$	4.8 (0.6) <sup>b</sup>	< 0.001
Weight Gain (kg)	1.1 (0.3)	1.0 (0.3)	-	0.58
Termination SBL (cm)	145 (15.7) <sup>a</sup>	142 (17.4) <sup>a</sup>	892 (103) <sup>b</sup>	< 0.001
SB weight (g)	26.4 (5.3) <sup>a</sup>	24.6 (5.0) <sup>a</sup>	177 (21) <sup>b</sup>	< 0.001
SB weight (g/kg)	7.7 (1.4) <sup>a</sup>	7.2 (1.0) <sup>a</sup>	36.8 (2.8) <sup>b</sup>	< 0.001
Mucosal weight (g)	1.98 (0.40) <sup>a,b</sup>	1.78 (0.35) <sup>a</sup>	2.38 (0.36) <sup>b</sup>	0.015
Villus height (mm)	0.63 (0.16) <sup>a,b</sup>	0.56 (0.14) <sup>a,#</sup>	0.81 (0.14) <sup>b</sup>	0.009
Crypt depth (mm)	$0.16 (0.02)^{a}$	0.16 (0.02) <sup>a,#</sup>	0.13 (0.02) <sup>b</sup>	0.008

Data are presented as mean (SD), comparisons used student's t-test for SAL-FMT, and one-way ANOVA for SAL-FMT-SOW comparisons. Superscripts (a,b) indicate Tukey post hoc differences, # indicates n=10 as noted in the text. Mucosal weight was measured per 20 cm length of jejunum. SBL=short bowel length, SB=short bowel, SAL=saline, FMT=fecal microbial transplant, SOW=sow-fed control. All piglets were kept for 7 days.

### 3.4.3. Microbiota

Results were analyzed to investigate differences based on litter, and by which batch of FMT material was administered. This experiment was performed 3 times in groups of 10 piglets, with FMT piglets from each round receiving doses from the same FMT batch, resulting in 3 different batches being used. There were no measurable statistical differences detected based either on litter or FMT batch, and so all comparisons were made between treatment groups alone.

### 3.4.3.1. Phylum-level differences in mucosal-associated bacteria

At baseline and termination, mucosal-associated bacteria in the jejunum and colon were dominated by Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, and Proteobacteria, with Actinobacteria and Fusobacteria contributing other major proportions (**Fig. 2**). Within SAL piglets, Bacteroidetes significantly increased between base and term in the jejunum (p<0.05), but significantly decreased in the colon (p<0.05), while Proteobacteria also significantly increased in the colon (p<0.01) (**Fig. 3A, Table S1**). Within FMT piglets, Bacteroidetes significantly increased in the jejunum (p<0.01) and significantly decreased in the colon (p<0.05), Fusobacteria increased in the jejunum (p<0.05), and Proteobacteria significantly increased in the colon (p<0.01) (**Fig. 3B, Table S1**). There were no significant differences between SAL and FMT mucosal-associated bacteria at baseline or termination (**Table S1**). In comparing SOW to surgical piglets, SOW had significantly more Bacteroidetes (SAL p<0.05; FMT p<0.05) and significantly less Proteobacteria (SAL p<0.05; FMT p<0.01) (**Fig. 3C**).



**Figure 2 – Phylum level microbiota comparisons from base and term tissue samples.** Neonatal short bowel piglets given fecal microbial transplants (FMT) experience limited changes in their intestinal microflora at the phylum level of classification. Results are given as relative % (mean) composition. Phyla of mucosa-associated bacteria in jejunum (J) and colon (C) tissue samples taken at baseline (B) and termination (T) surgeries, from saline (SAL, n=11) and fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=11) treated piglets, compared to FMT material from the Donor (n=3). JB = jejunum base, JT = jejunum term, CB = colon base, CT = colon term. See full quantification of phyla proportions in Tables S1.



Figure 3 – Significant differences in base to term comparisons of phyla from SAL, FMT, and SOW piglets. Shown above are statistically significant differences between phyla (Fig. 2) of samples taken from saline (SAL, n=11), fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=11), and non-surgical sow-reared (SOW, n=6) piglets. See full quantification of significant and non-significant results in Tables S1. Results are displayed as relative % composition. Base (B) to term (T) comparisons of jejunum (J) and colon (C) tissue samples, within SAL piglets (A) and FMT piglets (B). Comparisons made using related samples Wilcoxon Signed Rank tests, #p<0.05, ##p<0.01. C) Base and term tissue sample significant differences between SOW and SAL (#p<0.05, #p<0.01) and SOW and FMT (\$p<0.05, \$p<0.01) phyla. Comparisons made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis tests. Boxplots show median and interquartile range with whiskers showing min and max values. JB = jejunum base, JT = jejunum term, CB = colon base, CT = colon term.

### **3.4.3.2.** Phylum analysis of daily stool samples

Daily stool samples were likewise dominated by Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, and Proteobacteria, with limited proportions of Actinobacteria or Fusobacteria (**Fig. 4**). FMT piglets had significantly increased Actinobacteria compared with SAL piglets in their post-treatment stool sample (p<0.01) and in their d3 stool sample (p<0.05) (**Fig. 5A**, **Table S2**). SAL piglets had more Proteobacteria than FMT piglets in their d4 sample (p=0.051), but this was of marginal statistical significance.



**Figure 4** – **Phylum level microbiota comparisons from daily stool samples.** Neonatal short bowel piglets given fecal microbial transplants (FMT) experience limited transient changes in their intestinal microflora at the phylum level of classification. Results are given as relative % (mean) composition. Phyla of daily stool samples from saline (SAL, n=11) and fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=11) treated piglets beginning day 2 pre-treatment (pre), day 2 post-treatment (post), and days 3 - 6 (d3 - d6), compared with Donor FMT material (n=3). See full quantification of phyla proportions in Tables S2.



Figure 5 – Statistical comparisons of Phylum level differences in daily stools. Shown above are statistically significant differences between phyla (Fig. 2) of samples taken from saline (SAL, n=11), and fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=11). See full quantification of significant and non-significant results in Tables S2. Results are displayed as relative % composition. Comparisons made using independent samples Mann-Whitney U test, \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01.

## 3.4.3.3. Family-level differences in mucosal-associated bacteria

At baseline and termination, the main Families represented in the mucosal-associated bacteria were the Firmicutes *Lactobacillaceae*, *Clostridiaceae*, and *Lachnospiraceae* (Fig. 6, **Table S3)**. Within SAL piglets, *Bacteroidaceae* (p<0.05) and *Lachnospiraceae* (p<0.01) increased significantly in the jejunum (Fig 7A), *Streptococcaceae* (p<0.05), *Peptostreptococcaceae* (p<0.05) and *Ruminococcaceae* (p<0.01) decreased in the colon, and *Campylobacteraceae* 

(p<0.05) and *Enterobacteriaceae* (p<0.01) increased in the colon (Fig. 7D). Within FMT piglets, *Lachnospiraceae* (p<0.05), *Peptostreptococcaceae* (p<0.05), *Ruminococcaceae* (p<0.05), and *Fusobacteriaceae* (p<0.05) all increased in the jejunum (Fig. 7B), *Lachnospiraceae* (p<0.05), *Peptostreptococcaceae* (p<0.05), *Ruminococcaceae* (p<0.05), and *Erysipelotrichaceae* (p<0.05) all decreased in the colon, and *Veillonellaceae* (p<0.05), *Campylobacteraceae* (p<0.05) and *Enterobacteriaceae* (p<0.01) increased in the colon (Fig. 7E). FMT piglets had significantly more *Veillonellaceae* in the colon (p<0.01) at termination than SAL piglets (Table S3). SOW piglet colons had more *Peptostreptococcaceae* (SAL p<0.01; FMT p<0.01) but less *Enterobacteriaceae* than SAL piglets (p<0.01) (Fig. 7C, Table S3).



Figure 6 - Family level microbiota comparisons from baseline and termination tissue samples. Neonatal short bowel piglets given fecal microbial transplants (FMT) experience only transient changes in their intestinal microflora by Family. A) Family taxonomy of mucosa-associated bacteria in jejunum (J) and colon (C) tissue samples taken at baseline (B) and termination (T) surgeries, from saline (SAL, n=11) and fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=11) treated piglets, compared to FMT material from the Donor (n=3). JB = jejunum base, JT = jejunum term, CB = colon base, CT = colon term. See full quantification of phyla proportions in Table S3.


Figure 7 - Statistical comparisons between baseline and termination of Family level differences. Shown above are statistically significant differences between base and term tissue samples (Fig. 5) taken from saline (SAL, n=11), fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=11), and non-surgical sow-reared control (SOW, n=6) piglets. See full quantification of significant and non-significant results in Table S3. All results are displayed as relative % composition. Significant differences within jejunum tissue for A) SAL and B) FMT piglets, and within colon tissue for D) SAL and E) FMT piglets. Comparisons made between base and term using related samples Wilcoxon Signed Rank tests, #p<0.05, ##p<0.01. C) Base and term tissue sample significant differences between SOW and SAL (#p<0.05, #p<0.01), SOW and FMT (\$p<0.05, \$p<0.01), and SAL and FMT (\$p<0.05, \$p<0.01) phyla made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis tests. Boxplots show median and interquartile range with whiskers showing min and max values. JB = jejunum base, JT = jejunum term, CB = colon base, CT = colon term.

# 3.4.3.4. Family analysis of daily stool samples

Daily stool samples from SAL and FMT piglets were mostly comprised of *Lactobacillaceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae* (Fig. 8). In the post-treatment stool sample, FMT piglets had more *Bifidobacteriaceae* (p<0.01), *Lactobacillaceae* (p<0.05), *Clostridiaceae* (p<0.01), *Peptostreptococcaceae* (p<0.01), and *Coriobacteriaceae* (p<0.01) than SAL piglets (Fig 9). By day 3, the FMT stool samples had more *Bifidobacteriaceae* (p<0.05), *Lactobacillaceae* (p<0.05), *Streptococcaceae* (p<0.05), *Erysipelotrichaceae* (p<0.05) and *Coriobacteriaceae* (p<0.05); However, by day 4, the only significant difference was in *Enterobacteriaceae*, of which SAL piglets had more than FMT (p<0.05). There were no significant differences on days 5 or 6 (Table S4).



Figure 8 - Family level microbiota comparisons from daily stool samples. Neonatal short bowel piglets given fecal microbial transplants (FMT) experience only transient changes in their intestinal microflora by Family. Family taxonomy of daily stool samples from saline (SAL, n=11) and fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=11) treated piglets beginning day 2 pre-treatment (pre), day 2 post-treatment (post), and days 3 - 6 (d3 - d6), compared with Donor FMT material. See full quantification of phyla proportions in Table S4.



Figure 9 – Statistical comparisons of Family level differences in daily stool samples. Shown above are comparisons between family-level analyses of daily stool samples taken from saline (SAL) and fecal transplant (FMT)-treated piglets. See full quantification in Table S4. All results are displayed as relative % composition. Comparisons made using independent samples Mann-Whitney U test, p<0.05, p<0.01. Samples were taken day 2 pre-treatment (pre), day 2 post-treatment (post), and days 3 - 6 (d3 - d6).

#### 3.4.3.5. Piglet daily stools compared with Donor

After fecal transplant on day 2, FMT-treated piglets had no difference in Actinobacteria than Donor material in their post-treatment stool samples, but did have significantly more compared to SAL piglets (p<0.01) and compared to their own pre-treatment samples (p<0.05) (Fig. 10A). These differences in Actinobacteria did not persist to day 3 or beyond. FMT-treated piglets had significantly less Bacteroidetes than Donor material on day 3 (p<0.01), day 5 (p<0.05), and day 6 (p<0.05), while SAL piglets had less post-treatment (p<0.01), on day 3 (p<0.05), and day 6 (p<0.05) (Fig. 10B). Bacteroidetes were not different from pre- to post-treatment in either FMT or SAL. There were no significant differences in Firmicutes between the three groups (Fig. 10C), but neither was there a difference between pre- and post-treatment for either SAL or FMT. Fusobacteria (Fig. 10D) had no significant differences between FMT and SAL on any day, however both groups experienced a steady day-to-day increase. There was no Fusobacteria at all present in the Donor material (Table S5). Proteobacteria was not different between FMT and SAL piglets were significantly higher on days 3 to 6 (all p<0.05) (Fig. 10E).



Figure 10 – Comparisons of Phyla in Donor material to FMT and SAL piglet daily stool samples. Shown above are statistical differences between bacterial phyla in Donor FMT material, FMT, and SAL piglet daily stool samples. See full quantification in Table S5-S6. All results are displayed as relative % composition in daily stool samples pre-treatment (pre), post-treatment (post), and days 3 to 6 (d3-d6). Comparisons between Donor, FMT, and SAL made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis test and reported with Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. FMT to Donor, and SAL to Donor post-hoc significance shown by !p<0.05, !!p<0.01, and FMT to SAL shown by \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01. Comparisons between pre and post within FMT made using related samples Wilcoxon Signed Rank test, #p<0.05.

FMT-treated piglets had more *Bifidobacteriaceae* than SAL-treated piglets in their posttreatment stool sample (p<0.01) and on day 3 (p<0.05), as well as experiencing a significant increase over their pre-treatment levels (p<0.05) (Fig. 11A). FMT piglets were significantly lower than the Donor in this family pre-treatment (p<0.05), and then were not different at any posttransplant measurement. SAL piglets had significantly less *Bifidobacteriaceae* on day 3 (p<0.01) only. There were no significant differences between FMT, SAL, and Donor in *Bacteroidaceae* (Fig. 11B), although FMT and SAL experienced a nonsignificant but noticeable drop from pre- to post-treatment (Table S5-S6). FMT and SAL piglets were not different day to day nor from each other at any collection timepoint for *Lactobacillaceae* (Fig. 11C). FMT and SAL were consistently higher than Donor *Lactobacillaceae*, but only significantly so on days 4 and 6 (all p<0.05). FMT piglets had more *Streptococcaceae* on day 3 than SAL piglets (p<0.001) and the Donor (p<0.05), but there were no other significant measurements of this Family (Fig. 11D). *Clostridiaceae* significantly increased from pre to post in FMT piglets (p<0.05), but these levels did not persist to day 3 and no stool measurement was significantly different to the Donor (Fig. 11E). FMT post-treatment *Clostridiaceae* was significantly more than SAL (p<0.05), and SAL was significantly less than Donor on days 3 and 6 (both p<0.05). Both FMT and SAL has less *Lachnospiraceae* than the Donor, with FMT reaching significance both pre and post-treatment and day 3 sample (all p<0.05), and SAL reaching significance on day 3 only (p<0.01) (Fig. 11F).

Figure 11 (Following Page) – Comparisons of Families in Donor material to FMT and SAL piglet daily stool samples. Shown above are statistical differences between bacterial families in Donor FMT material, FMT, and SAL piglet daily stool samples. See full quantification in Table S5-S6. All results are displayed as relative % composition in daily stool samples pre-treatment (pre), post-treatment (post), and days 3 to 6 (d3-d6). Comparisons between Donor, FMT, and SAL made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis test and reported with Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. FMT to Donor, and SAL to Donor post-hoc significance shown by !p<0.05, !!p<0.01, and FMT to SAL shown by \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01. Comparisons between pre and post within FMT made using related samples Wilcoxon Signed Rank test, #p<0.05.



There was a brief increase in the *Peptostreptococcaceae* present in FMT piglets from preto post-treatment (p<0.05), which made the FMT also greater than the SAL post-treatment (p<0.05), but this increase did not persist beyond day 2 (Fig. 11G). Ruminococcaceae were almost uniformly lower than the Donor in both FMT and SAL piglets, except for FMT post-treatment (Fig. 11H). FMT piglets were less than Donor pre-treatment (p < 0.05), and the post-treatment sample was greater than pre (p < 0.05), but this Family returned to low levels by day 3 (p < 0.01), which was then maintained on days 4 to 6 (all p<0.05). SAL was less pre (p<0.05) and posttreatment (p<0.01), on days 3 to 5 (all p<0.01), and day 6 (p<0.05). FMT piglets initially had no Veillonellaceae (Table S5), and were significantly less than the Donor (p<0.001) (Fig 11I). This significance was maintained, but less so, post-treatment and day 3 (both p<0.05), but by days 4 to 6 this population had expanded slightly and was not significantly different. SAL piglets had no *Veillonellaceae* at any time point and were significantly less than Donor throughout (Table S6). There were no significant differences in *Erysipelotrichaceae* (Fig. 11J) or *Fusobacteriaceae* (Fig. 11K). Campylobacteraceae was initially not significantly different from Donor for either FMT or SAL pre-treatment, and despite the Donor having a measurable level of this Family, detection levels fell significantly post-treatment for both groups (p<0.01), but recovered a little by days 3 to 6, and only SAL on day 4 was significantly less (p<0.05). Enterobacteriaceae in the Donor was very low, though not significantly different to the FMT piglets at any timepoint (Fig 11M). SAL piglets began not significantly different, but as their levels of the Family expanded slightly, they were significantly higher by days 3 and 4 (both p<0.05) which was further increased on days 5 and 6 (both p<0.01). FMT piglets were not different than Donor Coriobacteriaceae levels for any timepoint (Fig 11N), however did increase from pre- to post-treatment (p<0.05), making FMT greater than SAL post-treatment also (p<0.05). FMT Coriobacteriaceae were not maintained at higher levels on days 3 to 6 and none of these measurements were significantly different from Donor or SAL.

### **3.4.3.6.** Individual piglets with unique cases

The piglet from the FMT group that was suspected of sepsis and returned blood cultures positive for *C. coli* had no detectable levels of this organism in any of the daily stool samples obtained, nor any significant amounts of any other *Campylobacteraceae* or *Campylobacter* species. Donor FMT material likewise did not contain any detectable *Campylobacteraceae* species.

The first two treatment piglets taken were from the same litter, and this litter subsequently developed scours after treatment piglet selection. Scours is a transmissible gastroenteritis caused in the neonatal stage (hours to days after birth) by a bacterial pathogen, most often *E. coli* or *C. perfringens*<sup>219</sup>. Neither piglet was different from their group means for relative % composition of *Enterobacteriaceae* or *Escherichia* species, nor for *Peptostreptococcaceae Clostridium spp* as measured in the baseline jejunum and colon tissue samples. For *Clostridiaceae*, the two piglets were not different from their respective group means in baseline jejunal tissue, but were significantly higher in their baseline colon tissue. The SAL piglet measured 20.9% *Clostridium* genera, compared to a group mean of 6.5% (SD=5.8; p<0.001), and the FMT piglet measured 10.2% versus a group mean of 6.5% (SD=3.7; p<0.01). In both cases, however, neither piglet was the only group outlier. SAL also had another group outlier that measured 12.0% *Clostridium* (p<0.01), and FMT had an outlier measure 15.5% *Clostridium* (p<0.001). As such, we do not think that these two piglets should have been excluded from the experiment.

# **3.4.3.7.** Diversity of Daily Stool samples

The alpha diversity of each piglet was measured in the daily stool samples by investigating the number of observed operational taxonomic units (OTUs) and the Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity (PD)<sup>220</sup>. FMT and SAL piglets had similar numbers of OTUs detected pre-treatment, but FMT had significantly more detected in the post and day 3 samples (both p<0.05), though the increase from pre to post within FMT piglets was not significant (**Fig. 12**). The Donor had significantly more OTUs than FMT and SAL piglets at all timepoints (all p<0.001). Likewise, the Donor was significantly more diverse than either SAL or FMT as measured by Faith's PD (**Fig. 13**). SAL was significantly less diverse at all timepoints (p<0.05). FMT was less diverse than the Donor pre-treatment, but this was not significant after applying the Bonferroni correction for multiple analyses (p=0.05). The comparison between FMT and Donor was significant increase in diversity from pre to post, which made them significantly more diverse than the SAL piglets experienced a non-significant increase in diversity from pre to post, which made them significantly more diverse than the SAL piglets post-treatment (p<0.01), and on day 3 (p<0.05), but this was not sustained.



Figure 12 – Observed assigned OTUs in daily stool samples of SAL and FMT compared to Donor. Shown above are the mean OTUs from a read depth of 2000 for SAL and FMT by daily stool collection, and for Donor FMT material that was administered on day 2. Samples were taken day 2 pre-treatment (pre), day 2 post-treatment (post), and days 3 - 6 (d3 - d6). Comparisons between SAL, FMT, and Donor in pre - d6 samples made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis test reported with Bonferroni correction. Post-hoc differences to Donor shown by !p<0.05, !!p<0.01, !!!p<0.001 and between FMT and SAL by \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001. See Table S8 for full quantification.



Figure 13 – Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity in daily stool samples of SAL and FMT compared to Donor. Shown above are the mean Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity (PD) measurements for SAL and FMT by daily stool collection, and for Donor FMT material that was administered on day 2. Samples were taken day 2 pre-treatment (pre), day 2 post-treatment (post), and days 3 - 6 (d3 – d6). Comparisons made in pre - d6 samples made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis test reported with Bonferroni correction. Post-hoc differences shown to Donor by !p<0.05, and between FMT and SAL by \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01. See Table S8 for full quantification.

Beta diversity between piglet daily stools was measured first by Bray-Curtis Dissimilarity<sup>221</sup> and then unweighted and weighted unique fraction (unifrac). Pre-treatment, the Donor FMT material was significantly different from SAL pigs (p=0.04), but SAL and FMT were not different from each other (**Fig. 14**). Post-treatment, SAL and FMT were significantly different (p<0.05), and both were different from Donor (p<0.05). These differences increased slightly by day 3 (all p<0.01), but by days 4 to 6, FMT and SAL were not significantly dissimilar. Donor was

dissimilar to FMT and SAL on day 4 (p<0.05), day 5 (p<0.05), and day 6 (p<0.01). The unweighted unique fraction (Unifrac) distances (**Fig. 15**) of species present between SAL and FMT piglets were significantly different post-treatment (p<0.01) and on day 3 (p<0.05) only, while Donor was significantly different at all time points (pre & post, p<0.05; day 3, p<0.01; day 4, p<0.05; days 5 & 6, p<0.01). The weighted Unifrac, which considers abundances of species in addition to their presence or absence, was similar to the unweighted analysis (**Fig. 16**). SAL and FMT were significantly different post-treatment (p<0.01), and on day 3 (p<0.05), but no longer different on days 4 to 6. Donor was significantly different than both SAL and FMT at all time points (pre & post, p<0.05; days 3-5, p<0.01; day 6, p<0.05).



Figure 14 – Bray-Curtis dissimilarity between FMT and SAL daily stools compared to Donor. Shown above are Principal Components Analysis (PCoA) plots of the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity measurements between saline (SAL, green circles) and fecal microbial transplant (FMT, red circles) treated piglets compared also with the Donor FMT material (blue circles) that was administered on day 2. Samples were taken day 2 pre-treatment (pre), day 2 post-treatment (post), and days 3 - 6 (d3 - d6). Statistical analysis was performed using permanova with superimposed ovals indicating groups that were significantly different. Results were considered significant at p<0.05.



Figure 15 – Unweighted Unifrac distances between FMT and SAL compared with Donor. Shown above are Principal Components Analysis (PCoA) plots of the unweighted unique fraction (Unifrac) measurements between saline (SAL, green circles) and fecal microbial transplant (FMT, red circles) treated piglets compared also with the Donor FMT material (blue circles) that was administered on day 2. Samples were taken day 2 pre-treatment (pre), day 2 post-treatment (post), and days 3 - 6 (d3 - d6). Statistical analysis was performed using permanova with superimposed ovals indicating groups that were significantly different. Results were considered significant at p<0.05.



Figure 16 – Weighted Unifrac distances between FMT and SAL compared with Donor. Shown above are Principal Components Analysis (PCoA) plots of the unweighted unique fraction (Unifrac) measurements between saline (SAL, green circles) and fecal microbial transplant (FMT, red circles) treated piglets compared also with the Donor FMT material (blue circles) that was administered on day 2. Samples were taken day 2 pre-treatment (pre), day 2 post-treatment (post), and days 3 - 6 (d3 - d6). Statistical analysis was performed using permanova with superimposed ovals indicating groups that were significantly different. Results were considered significant at p<0.05.

### 3.4.3.8. Diversity of Base and Term tissues

Alpha diversity was measured in the mucosal associated bacteria of the baseline and termination tissue samples for each group. At baseline, the numbers of observed OTUs was not different between SAL and FMT piglets (Fig. 17), nor were there differences within SAL or FMT groups between base and term. At termination, the jejunum of FMT piglets had more OTUs than SAL (p<0.05). SOW piglets had significantly more OTUs than SAL at termination in the jejunum (p<0.001) and colon (p<0.001), and more than FMT in the jejunum (p<0.05). The Donor material had significantly more OTUs than SAL, FMT, and SOW piglet tissue samples at all time points (p<0.001). SAL, FMT, and SOW piglets all had higher Faith's PD measured in the jejunum than the colon (Fig. 18). SOW piglets had more diverse jejunum samples at termination than SAL (p<0.05), and more diverse colons than FMT (p<0.05). Donor material was more diverse than FMT colon (p<0.05) only.



Figure 17 – Observed assigned OTUs in base and term tissue samples of FMT, SAL, SOW, and Donor. Shown above are the observed OTUs from a read depth of 2667 for FMT, SAL, and SOW piglet baseline (B) and termination (T) tissue samples from jejunum (J) and colon (C), and for Donor FMT material that was administered on day 2. Comparisons were made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis test reported with Bonferroni correction. Post-hoc differences shown for Donor (!p<0.05, !!p<0.01, !!!p<0.001), FMT and SAL (\*p<0.05), SOW to SAL (\*p<0.05, #p<0.01), and SOW to FMT (p<0.05, p<0.05, p<0.01). See Table S9 for full quantification.



Figure 18 – Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity in base and term tissue samples of FMT, SAL, SOW, and Donor. Shown above is the calculated Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity (PD) for FMT, SAL, and SOW piglet baseline (B) and termination (T) tissue samples from jejunum (J) and colon (C), and for Donor FMT material that was administered on day 2. Comparisons were made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis test reported with Bonferroni correction. Post-hoc differences shown for Donor (!p<0.05, !!p<0.01, !!!p<0.001), FMT and SAL (\*p<0.05), SOW to SAL (p<0.05, p<0.01), and SOW to FMT (p<0.05, p<0.01). See Table S9 for full quantification.

At baseline, Bray-Curtis dissimilarity (Fig. 19) was not significantly different between SAL and FMT piglets. At termination, SAL, FMT, and SOW piglets were not dissimilar in the jejunum, but were in the colon (p<0.05). Donor material was significantly different than SAL and FMT in the jejunum (p<0.01) and colon (p<0.05). Unweighted Unifrac (Fig. 20) was not different between SAL and FMT groups either at baseline or termination in either jejunum or colon. At

termination, SOW was different only compared to SAL in the jejunum (p<0.05) but was different than SAL and FMT in the colon (p<0.01). Donor was different in jejunum (p<0.01) and colon (p<0.05) compared to both SAL and FMT. The weighted unifrac (**Fig. 21**) reflects the same trend as the unweighted unifrac, in that SAL and FMT were not different from each other in either tissue at baseline nor termination. SOW piglets were only different compared to SAL and FMT in the colon at term (p<0.05), and likewise the Donor was only significantly different in the colon (p<0.05).



Figure 19 – Bray-Curtis dissimilarity in base and term tissue samples from treatment piglets compared with Donor. Shown above are Principal Components Analysis (PCoA) plots of the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity measurements between saline (SAL, green circles) and fecal microbial transplant (FMT, red circles) treated piglets in baseline (BASE) A) jejunum tissue, and B) colon tissue. SAL and FMT tissues at termination (TERM) are compared with C,D) sow-reared piglets (SOW, yellow circles), and E,F) Donor FMT material (blue circles) administered on day 2. Statistical analysis was performed using permanova with superimposed ovals indicating groups that were significantly different. Results were considered significant at p<0.05.









# **3.5. Discussion**

Fecal microbial transplant (FMT) is a promising therapy known to have excellent efficacy in treatment of recurrent *C. difficile* infections<sup>150</sup> and potential to treat colonization with antibiotic resistant organisms<sup>152</sup>. Initial promising results have encouraged clinicians to begin investigating its use in other areas as well, including IBD, IBS, and chronic constipation, as well as nongastrointestinal-related illnesses such as chronic fatigue syndrome, insulin resistance, and others<sup>146</sup>. FMT has also already seen success in the context of short bowel syndrome, when it was used to treat small intestinal bacterial overgrowth (SIBO)-induced D-lactic acidosis in two patients for which all other treatments had failed<sup>53,153</sup>. The most common cause of SBS in preterm neonates, necrotizing enterocolitis, is a condition initiated by either a disruption of or failure to properly establish the microbiota, and the most common complications of SBS are sepsis with gut-derived organisms and IFALD, which is caused in part due to microbial endotoxin initiating inflammation in the liver. With these factors in mind, we felt the time was right to experimentally evaluate the use of FMT in SBS to restore an ideal microbiota and thus hopefully improve patient outcomes.

In this study, we used our well-established neonatal piglet model of SBS to investigate the effects of delivering an FMT prepared from feces collected from a healthy gilt to piglets that had undergone a 75% distal jejunocolic resection. Our primary objective in doing so was to determine whether or not this practice would lead to an increase in mortality. Neonates who have undergone extensive intestinal resection are an extremely vulnerable population, and any treatment proposed must not cause any increase in mortality or complications that reduce an already impacted quality of life. In our cohort, there was no disease-specific mortality, and all piglets tolerated FMT well. One piglet from the SAL group was removed from the study early due to a breakage in the gastrostomy tube that had been inserted for delivery of enteral nutrition. A second piglet, from the

FMT group, was removed from the study early due to intestinal obstruction. We do not believe that the obstruction was caused by the FMT, but rather likely caused by severe adhesions, which is something that can occur as a consequence of abdominal surgery in this model at random. In this trial, no other piglets developed an obstruction and at termination there was no subjective difference in the severity of adhesions between SAL and FMT groups (data not shown). Careful monitoring and attentive care of future SBS patients that may receive FMTs is prudent, however, to ensure that this is indeed the case.

Our second objective was to evaluate whether or not a dysbiotic microbiota can be restored to that of a healthy, ideal community structure after a single infusion of donor fecal material, and for this we analyzed the daily stool samples. Our results indicate that an immediate alteration of the SBS microbiota can be detected at the Family level of classification within hours after delivery of FMT material, and that many of these changes persist through the following day. As shown in Figure 9, in 5 of 14 families, FMT piglets experienced a significant increase after treatment compared with SAL piglets, 3 of these maintained this increase through the day following treatment (day 3), and a further 2 families experienced increases that achieved significance on the day after treatment. This same trend of a slight increase in percent composition after FMT treatment can be observed even in families which did not reach statistical significance, such as *Ruminococcaceae* and *Lachnospiraceae*. This trend is dramatic enough to be observed even at the higher phylum level of classification, as shown in Actinobacteria (Fig. 10). When compared to the Donor material, Actinobacteria in FMT piglets was significantly lower pre-treatment, but then increased so the post-treatment sample was significantly higher compared to both their own pretreatment measurements, and the SAL piglets post-treatment, while not being significantly different to the Donor. This trend is seen in the Actinobacteria families Bifidobacteriaceae and

Coriobacteriaceae (Fig. 11), as well as similar effects in several Firmicutes families (namely Clostridiaceae, Lachnospiraceae, Peptostreptococcaceae, Ruminococcaceae, and Erysipelotrichaceae).

We also examined for FMT changes over the course of the experiment in mucosalassociated bacteria, comparing baseline and termination tissue samples taken from the jejunum and colon of each piglet. Mucosal-associated bacteria are important in this model as those are the organisms that most closely interact with the epithelial barrier, and thus are more likely to exert effects upon it. These effects can be beneficial, in terms of SFCA production, or they can be harmful, including inflammation and translocation leading to liver fibrosis, depending on the species present. SAL and FMT piglets experienced modest increases in the mucosal Bacteroidetes in their jejunum so they were not different than sow-fed piglets (SOW) at term, but the same phylum decreased in the colon of both SAL and FMT, so that SOW had significantly more (Fig. 3). Fusobacteria, a phylum that contains many Gram negative pro-inflammatory species, remained constant in SAL and low in SOW piglets, but modestly increased in FMT. Proteobacteria also increased in the colons of SAL and FMT between base and term, suggesting an inflammatory state could have been developing in the colons. This could be due to effects of initial antibiotics and oxygen exposure during the short-bowel surgery, as well as housing in metabolic cages and administration of sterile diet rather than solely due to treatment, as both SAL and FMT experienced this increase. This is supported by analysis of the Family-level of distinction, which shows that while Firmicutes as a phylum made no significant changes in the stool (Fig. 5), families tended to increase in the jejunum between base and term, decrease in the colons, and at term were significantly lower than the sow-fed colonic microbiotas (Fig. 7). Pro-inflammatory Campylobacteraceae and Enterobacteriaceae also increased in the colons of treatment piglets

(Fig. 7), while decreasing in their sow-fed peers (Table S3). Increases in the jejunum accompanied by decreases in the colon could also indicate retrograde migration of the species due to loss of the ileocecal valve.

Transient increases are reflected further in the measures of alpha and beta diversity. The number of OTUs observed in FMT piglet daily stool samples increases between pre- and post-treatment after exposure to the Donor material (Fig. 12), and is significantly more than SAL piglets post-treatment and on day 3, remaining higher than their pre-treatment levels through to termination. Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity (PD) also experienced a post-treatment bump (Fig. 13), that did not persist and returned to pre-treatment levels. Together with the OTUs, this suggests that while some new OTUs may have been introduced to FMT piglets, these species did not persist in high enough numbers, or they could be closely related, both factors that would not consistently affect diversity on days 3 to 6. Beta diversity, the differences in species detected between individuals, reflects this post-treatment and day 3 change when measured by Bray-Curtis Dissimilarity (Fig. 14), Unweighted Unifrac (Fig. 15), and Weighted Unifrac (Fig. 16). SAL and FMT piglets are significantly different to each other only briefly, and both remain different than the Donor material at all time points.

The reasons for this lack of persistence can be explained by looking at both the source of the donor FMT material, and at the composition of the enteral nutrition provided to the piglets. Microbiotas are made of live organisms that must have acceptable nutritional substrates in order to persist, and if the diet does not contain microbiota-accessible carbohydrates (MAC), then compositional changes will occur that predispose the gut to an inflammatory state<sup>91</sup>. The donor that we used for our FMT material was an adult gilt (unfarrowed female), and as piglets are weaned at 3 weeks of age and thereafter fed a solid chow diet high in complex glycans and protein, this

results in gradual changes to the microbial composition so that adult pigs are distinct from nursing piglets<sup>191,222</sup>.

The parenteral and enteral nutrition formulas that we use in our lab are elemental, composed of amino acids, lipids, vitamins, and minerals, with glucose as carbohydrate source in the PN and polycose in the EN, to reduce osmotic diarrhea<sup>18</sup>. Polycose is a modified glucose polymer made from cornstarch<sup>223</sup>, and so does not represent a source of complex glycans or SCFAs that are required by many beneficial microorganisms for their survival. While this is nutritionally sufficient to ensure adequate health and growth of our experimental piglets, it does not appear to promote an ideal microbiota with diversity comparable to sow-reared piglets. SAL piglets had significantly fewer OTUs in the jejunum and colon (Fig. 17) and less alpha diversity in the jejunum (Fig. 18) than SOW piglets, while FMT piglets had fewer OTUs in the jejunum and less diverse colons than SOW. Beta diversity measures show that treatment piglet mucosal-associated bacteria were significantly different in the colons, compared to both SOW and Donor (Fig. 19-21), while the jejunums tended to not be significantly different at termination. Adult pig microbiota is composed of fibre-fermenting species (ie. *Bacteroidaceae, Lachnospiraceae, Ruminococcaceae*) that survive on different substrate than either nursing piglets or weaned piglets fed elemental diets, and thus cannot be expected to persist in high numbers under starvation conditions.

In this experiment we did not perform a bowel preparation procedure on the piglets before administering the FMT, which may have prevented the transplanted organisms from establishing growth. In human patients, preparation of the bowel with a polyethylene glycol-based solution (ie. GoLYTELY<sup>®</sup>) prior to colonic administration of FMT is common in order to remove the dysbiotic community and allow for open niches that the newly transplanted organisms can then occupy<sup>165</sup>. While a bowel preparation procedure is not recommended for upper GI delivery of FMT in humans, it does appear that colonic delivery may have a slightly higher efficacy than upper delivery (84-93% colonic delivery versus 81-86% upper) in clinical practice<sup>149</sup>. Colonization history affects the growth fitness and ability of later-arriving organisms to survive, as shown in mice<sup>104</sup> and pigs<sup>202</sup>. In the latter experiment, the largest contribution to a pig's mature microbiota came from organisms acquired during the nursery and growing stage, when solid feeds were first introduced, showing that the first and largest changes to community structure are the ones with the greatest longevity. This experiment also investigated the effects of FMT on the progression of the microbiota in healthy pigs and found that while FMT-treated pigs had increased growth performance, there were no significant differences between FMT or Control pig diversity indices. This experiment also did not perform a bowel prep procedure, and used very small amounts of FMT filtrate (3mL, twice), both of which may have negatively affected their results.

Previous FMT experiments in pigs using larger volumes of Donor material<sup>196,199-201</sup> have shown significant changes in the microbiota after treatments, but one<sup>201</sup> also found negative impacts on the intestinal morphology, poor nutrition, and a reduction in growth, while another<sup>198</sup> found good growth, increased Firmicutes and decreases in inflammatory Families, but also a decrease in some beneficial Bacteroidetes groups. One of our FMT piglets did experience severely damaged epithelium that prevented histological measurements, but there were no noticeable significant differences in microbiota between this piglet and the rest of the group. These conflicting results highlight the complicated nature of attempting to alter the microbiota using FMT, with many unresolved controversies. However, overall research in swine shows that it is possible and that beneficial results can be obtained dependent upon the conditions and treatment regimens employed.

Our final objective was to ensure that FMT can be delivered to post-surgical neonatal piglets without an increase in septic episodes. Only one piglet was suspected of being septic, but as this piglet not only survived without medical intervention, but returned to excellent health after single instance of vomiting, it is likely this was not sepsis. Surgical piglets with true sepsis will usually deteriorate and require euthanasia without additional antibiotic treatment, which was deliberately not included in our protocol for this experiment. However, there may have been a transient bacteremia as blood cultures for this piglet did return a result for C. coli. Importantly, this organism was not detected in the piglet's microbiota, nor in any other study piglets, nor in the Donor FMT material. Our previously published data show that sepsis occurs in our model between 11% and 14% of piglets<sup>18,209</sup>, which are then treated with antibiotics according to our in-house protocols. Piglets in all our studies receive florfenicol at initial surgery, and as this drug has a metabolic half-life of 48 hours, it is not present to a substantial degree after day 2 and we do not believe would have impacted the establishment of FMT or later sepsis outcomes. In short, in this study we did not find that FMT caused an increase in sepsis, and that overall this appears to be a safe treatment to administer to post-surgical neonatal piglets with short bowel syndrome.

# **Chapter Four: Conclusion and Future Directions**

# 4.1. Conclusion

In this experiment, we tested the hypotheses that fecal microbial transplant would be safe for use in a post-surgical neonatal population for the treatment of dysbiosis associated with short bowel syndrome, and that this method could be used to return the microbiota to a composition more closely resembling that of the ideal sow-reared piglet. Over the course of this one-week trial, we found no disease- or treatment-related mortality and no sepsis developed, in contrast to the sepsis rates of 11-14% seen in our previous trials. This is promising initial data that supports further investigation of this technique's use to improve the health of a vulnerable population at a critical moment in their development.

Disruptions to the microbiota in children with SBS has been linked to poor growth outcomes<sup>126</sup>, vitamin B<sub>12</sub> deficiencies that lead to irreversible neurological effects<sup>127</sup>, and liver fibrosis due to bacterial LPS and flagellin from translocated bacteria<sup>50</sup>. Children and neonates with SBS are exposed to multiple rounds of antibiotics early in life as a consequence of their repeated surgeries, and to treat secondary conditions such as SIBO when they arise. We have shown previously that antibiotics and lack of enteral nutrition have a greater impact upon the microbiota than surgery does alone<sup>69</sup>, and in this study we showed that our saline-treated surgical piglets had lower alpha diversity in the jejunum than sow-reared piglets, and different beta diversity in the colon than either sow-reared or FMT-treated piglets. For human patients, we must develop ways to correct this dysbiosis before it causes irreversible damage to a child's growth and development.

While we did see some transient changes to the microbiota after FMT, these changes in general did not persist beyond the second day after treatment. We used a mature pig's feces as the

donor material, which is comprised of bacteria that survive on a different diet than neonatal piglets, and we also did not perform a bowel preparation procedure prior to treatment. Together, these factors potentially hindered the ability of our transplanted organisms to persist long term. The initial results are promising, however, as there were noticeable increases to overall alpha diversity, and some individual families of bacteria did persist at levels higher than prior to treatment. The mucosal-associated bacteria in the colon also experienced increased beta diversity that persisted 5 days after treatment.

#### 4.2. Future Directions

There are several ways in which future experiments could address the lack of long-term persistence seen with this experiment. First, supplementation with oligosaccharides found in sow milk<sup>193</sup> could be added to the diet in order to provide nutrition for the transplanted bacteria, in the same way that infant formulas are recommended to be supplemented with complex fiber or oligosaccharaides to mimic breast milk<sup>224</sup>. For human infants, fiber sources such as amylopectin, inulin (fructooligosaccharide, FOS), pectic galactans, arabinoxylan,  $\beta$ -glucan, cellobiose, and dextran, which support the growth of beneficial *Bacteroides spp*, *Roseburia intestinalis*, *E. rectale*, and F. prausnitzii, while also not being accessible by and limiting the growth of potentially harmful species such as *E. coli* or *Akkermansia mucinophila*<sup>205</sup>, would be promising avenues of exploration. One systematic review and meta-analysis<sup>225</sup> found mixed results with regard to the effect of fiber supplementation in EN on both the microbiota (mainly Bifidobacteria) and production of SCFAs; However, in all cases these studies included adult participants (mean/median ages between 45 -79) and none of them supplemented the beneficial bacterial species as well as fiber, after long fiber-free periods during which the fermentative species cannot be expected to have survived in large numbers. Combining the reintroduction of a range of healthy bacteria with sufficient levels of their specific accessible food sources (ie. use of a synbiotic, rather than prebiotic and probiotic separately) is key to effecting long-term changes on the microbiota.

Additionally, rather than using feces from an adult to treat an infant (either human or pig), selection of a donor that is more closely matched developmentally may provide more contemporary fecal composition that has a better chance of establishing. For pediatric patients, if such transplants were to occur multiple times as both donor and recipient aged, it may induce the recipient microbiota to follow a typical succession pattern as seen in healthy children. In piglets, sow-reared littermates may serve in this capacity in an experimental context. A study longer than 7 days with only 5 days of treatment may also provide more time for differences to develop enough to be detectable. Multiple treatments are another way to increase efficacy, and potentially larger sample sizes may increase the power of the study and overcome the high interindividual variation seen. Further, a bowel preparation procedure using a polyethylene glycol solution delivered enterally or via enema should be used to clear the bowel prior to transplantation so that the newly introduced organisms find empty niches to populate. Such a procedure has already been tested in sows and found to be safe and efficacious<sup>201</sup>. This will eliminate or reduce the colonization order complications that often prevent later species from establishing entirely, or from thriving in large numbers.

With regard to investigating safety of FMT in a neonatal population, studies with longer treatment periods than 5 days should be planned, to ensure that the lack of increase in sepsis observed herein is a lasting effect. One main point of caution in this study was the presence of inflammatory species (*Peptrostreptococcaceae, Veillonellaceae, Fusobacteriaceae*) in the Donor material. Such groups contain many opportunistic pathogens which may not cause issues in small numbers in a healthy adult pig, but transplanted into a surgical neonatal piglet with a gut

predisposed to inflammation due to oxygen exposure and lack of fiber have the potential to cause negative impact. In order to eliminate this possibility, a synthetic microbial community that is free of any potential pathogens could be created and used as the Donor material. Such a synthetic microbiota has already been used in one of the first modern references to use of FMT to cure RCDI<sup>161</sup>. Tvede and Rask-Madsen used a mix of bacteria cultured from feces and shown to inhibit growth of *C. difficile* for their inoculum, however as their mixture contained *E. coli*, a different mixture should be used for neonates. The healthy developing infant microbiome is typically comprised of mostly *Bifidobacteriaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *Ruminococcaceae*, and *Lactobacillaceae*<sup>102</sup>, so these Families should be included, ensuring that vital fiber fermenters and butyrate producers such as *F. prausnitzii*, *E. rectale*, and *B. thetaiotamicron* are present for optimal effect.

Careful consideration of the timing of FMT used to treat dysbiosis in neonates should be considered also. At this present time, it would not be prudent to recommend using FMT prophylactically to prevent dysbiosis immediately post-surgery. Although dysbiosis in neonates and children with SBS is likely universal, some children adapt on their own and experience minimal complications. Close monitoring of the stool for the development of dysbiosis in terms of species and metabolic pathways may provide insight as to the optimal time to use FMT on an individual case by case basis.

In terms of a deeper look at the effects of an FMT, there are many potential avenues of investigation. As discussed, the benefits of the microbiota are derived not only from the individual species, but from the metabolic pathways present in their genomes. It is possible that changes to the microbiomes of the study piglets were made that were not detected by focusing only on their microbiotas. Metabolomic and metagenomic studies that look into the predicted or actual

functionality of the microbiota could help bring further understanding of common complications like malnutrition, lack of satiety, and vitamin deficiencies seen in children with SBS. This leads into looking at the effects of FMT on liver function as well, in terms of bile flow and bile acid transport, histology and any presence of fibrosis, as well as inflammation and cytokines present in the tissues or serum. The impact of the FMT on gut adaptation should also be investigated. As shown in a case report of using FMT to treat D-lactic acidosis<sup>153</sup>, relative abundance of *Lactobacilli* did not change after FMT, but serum D-lactate lowered and fecal D-lactate increased, indicating that D-lactate was still present, but was not being absorbed. A deeper look at tight junction protein expression, mucosal proliferation and quality, apoptotic index, stem cell proliferation, and expression and regulation of trophic hormones such as GLP-2 and IGF-1 may help shed light on the mechanics of increasing barrier function using FMT. Such a study should also employ metagenomic methods in order to detect which exact species are present. This study was hindered in its ability to resolve species-level differences reliably, as it used 16S rRNA, which has limitations in this regard.

In summary, FMT has been shown to be a safe treatment used in surgical neonatal piglets in this context, producing no disease-specific mortality and no increased incidence of sepsis, in contrast to the sepsis rates typically seen in this model. We succeeded in altering the microbiota of FMT-treated piglets, and although most differences did return to pre-treatment levels, there were significant differences in colonic mucosal-associated bacteria that persisted through to termination on day 7, 5 days after treatment. These initial results are encouraging and raise several exciting new questions for future avenues of research into refining this technique for use in children with dysbiosis due to short bowel syndrome.
## References

1. Pironi, L. Definitions of intestinal failure and the short bowel syndrome. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol*. 2016;30(2):173-185.

- 2. Goulet, O, Ruemmele F, Lacaille F, et al. Irreversible intestinal failure. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 2004;38(3):250-269.
- 3. DeLegge, M, Alsolaiman MM, Barbour E, et al. Short bowel syndrome: Parenteral nutrition versus intestinal transplantation. where are we today? *Dig Dis Sci*. 2007;52(4):876-892.
- 4. Wales, PW, de Silva N, Kim J, et al. Neonatal short bowel syndrome: Population-based estimates of incidence and mortality rates. *J Pediatr Surg.* 2004;39(5):690-695.
- 5. O'Keefe, SJD, Buchman AL, Fishbein TM, et al. Short bowel syndrome and intestinal failure: Consensus definitions and overview. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2006;4(1):6-10.
- 6. Catena, F, De Simone B, Coccolini F, et al. Bowel obstruction: A narrative review for all physicians. *World J Emerg Surg.* 2019;14(1):20.
- 7. Allan, P, Lal S. Intestinal failure: A review. F1000Res. 2018;7:85.
- 8. Wilmore, DW. Factors correlating with a successful outcome following extensive intestinal resection in newborn infants. *J Pediatr*. 1972;80(1):88-95.
- Quirós-Tejeira, RE, Ament ME, Reyen L, et al. Long-term parenteral nutritional support and intestinal adaptation in children with short bowel syndrome: A 25-year experience. J Pediatr. 2004;145(2):157-163.
- Squires, RH, Duggan C, Teitelbaum DH, et al. Natural history of pediatric intestinal failure: Initial report from the pediatric intestinal failure consortium. *J Pediatr*. 2012;161(4):723-728.e2.
- 11. Merritt, RJ, Cohran V, Raphael BP, et al. Intestinal rehabilitation programs in the management of pediatric intestinal failure and short bowel syndrome. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 2017;65(5):588-596.
- 12. Diamanti, A, Basso MS, Castro M, et al. Prevalence of life-threatening complications in pediatric patients affected by intestinal failure. *Transplant Proc.* 2007;39(5):1632-1633.
- 13. Wales, PW, Christison-Lagay ER. Short bowel syndrome: Epidemiology and etiology. *Semin Pediatr Surg.* 2010;19(1):3-9.
- Diamond, IR, Sterescu A, Pencharz PB, et al. The rationale for the use of parenteral omega-3 lipids in children with short bowel syndrome and liver disease. *Pediatr Surg Int.* 2008;24(7):773-778.

- 15. Hess, RA, Welch KB, Brown PI, et al. Survival outcomes of pediatric intestinal failure patients: Analysis of factors contributing to improved survival over the past two decades. J Surg Res. 2011;170(1):27-31.
- 16. Belza, C, Fitzgerald K, de Silva N, et al. Predicting intestinal adaptation in pediatric intestinal failure: A retrospective cohort study. *Ann Surg.* 2019;269(5):988-993.
- 17. Pironi, L, Corcos O, Forbes A, et al. Intestinal failure in adults: Recommendations from the ESPEN expert groups. *Clin Nutr*. 2018;37(6 Pt A).
- 18. Turner, JM, Wales PW, Nation PN, et al. Novel neonatal piglet models of surgical short bowel syndrome with intestinal failure. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 2011;52(1):9-16.
- 19. Suri, M, Turner JM, Sigalet DL, et al. Exogenous glucagon-like peptide-2 improves outcomes of intestinal adaptation in a distal-intestinal resection neonatal piglet model of short bowel syndrome. *Pediatr Res.* 2014;76(4):370-377.
- 20. Andorsky, DJ, Lund DP, Lillehei CW, et al. Nutritional and other postoperative management of neonates with short bowel syndrome correlates with clinical outcomes. *J Pediatr*. 2001;139(1):27-33.
- 21. Sanchez, JB, Kadrofske M. Necrotizing enterocolitis. *Neurogastroenterol Motil.* 2019;31(3):e13569.
- 22. Son, M, Grobman WA, Miller ES. Is mode of delivery associated with the risk of necrotizing enterocolitis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2016;215(3):389.e1-4.
- 23. Tappenden, KA. Intestinal adaptation following resection. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr*. 2014;38(1\_suppl):23S-31S.
- 24. Martin, CA, Perrone EE, Longshore SW, et al. Intestinal resection induces angiogenesis within adapting intestinal villi. *J Pediatr Surg*. 2009;44(6):1077-1083.
- 25. Loran, MR, Crocker TT. Population dynamics of intestinal epithelia in the rat two months after partial resection of the ileum. *J Cell Biol*. 1963;19(2):285-291.
- 26. Doldi, SB. Intestinal adaptation following jejuno-ileal bypass. *Clin Nutr.* 1991;10(3):138-145.
- 27. McDuffie, LA, Bucher BT, Erwin CR, et al. Intestinal adaptation after small bowel resection in human infants. *J Pediatr Surg*. 2011;46(6):1045-1051.
- 28. Hines, OJ, Bilchik AJ, Zinner MJ, et al. Adaptation of the na+ glucose cotransporter following intestinal resection. *J Surg Res.* 1994;57(1):22-27.

- 29. Ziegler, TR, Fernández-Estívariz C, Gu LH, et al. Distribution of the H+/peptide transporter PepT1 in human intestine: Up-regulated expression in the colonic mucosa of patients with short-bowel syndrome. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2002;75(5):922-930.
- 30. Cosnes, J, Carbonnel F, Beaugerie L, et al. Functional adaptation after extensive small bowel resection in humans. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 1994;6:197-202.
- 31. Nightingale, JMD, Kamm MA, Van Der Sijp, J R M, et al. Gastrointestinal hormones in short bowel syndrome. peptide YY may be the 'colonic brake' to gastric emptying. *Gut*. 1996;39(2):267-272.
- 32. Burghardt, KM, Wales PW, De Silva N, et al. Pediatric intestinal transplant listing criteria A call for a change in the new era of intestinal failure outcomes. *Am J Transplant*. 2015;15(6):1674-1681.
- 33. Kocoshis, SA. Medical management of pediatric intestinal failure. *Semin Pediatr Surg*. 2010;19(1):20-26.
- 34. Javid, PJ, Malone FR, Reyes J, et al. The experience of a regional pediatric intestinal failure program: Successful outcomes from intestinal rehabilitation. *Am J Surg*. 2010;199(5):676-679.
- 35. Cavicchi, M, Beau P, Crenn P, et al. Prevalence of liver disease and contributing factors in patients receiving home parenteral nutrition for permanent intestinal failure. *Ann Intern Med.* 2000;132(7):525-532.
- 36. Puder, M, Valim C, Meisel JA, et al. Parenteral fish oil improves outcomes in patients with parenteral nutrition-associated liver injury. *Ann Surg.* 2009;250(3):395-402.
- 37. Oliveira, C, de Silva NT, Stanojevic S, et al. Change of outcomes in pediatric intestinal failure: Use of time-series analysis to assess the evolution of an intestinal rehabilitation program. *J Am Coll Surg.* 2016;222(6):1180-1188.e3.
- Carter, BA, Cohran VC, Cole CR, et al. Outcomes from a 12-week, open-label, multicenter clinical trial of teduglutide in pediatric short bowel syndrome. *J Pediatr*. 2017;181:102-111.e5.
- 39. Kocoshis, SA, Merritt RJ, Hill S, et al. Safety and efficacy of teduglutide in pediatric patients with intestinal failure due to short bowel syndrome: A 24-Week, phase III study. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* 2020;44(4):621-631.
- 40. Koopmann, MC, Chen X, Holst JJ, et al. Sustained glucagon-like peptide-2 infusion is required for intestinal adaptation, and cessation reverses increased cellularity in rats with intestinal failure. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*. 2010;299(6):G1222-G1230.

- 41. Jeppesen, Sanguinetti EL, Buchman A, et al. Teduglutide (ALX-0600), a dipeptidyl peptidase IV resistant glucagon-like peptide 2 analogue, improves intestinal function in short bowel syndrome patients. *Gut.* 2005;54(9):1224.
- 42. Compher, C, Gilroy R, Pertkiewicz M, et al. Maintenance of parenteral nutrition volume reduction, without weight loss, after stopping teduglutide in a subset of patients with short bowel syndrome. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr*. 2011;35(5):603-609.
- 43. Hinchliffe, T, Pauline ML, Wizzard PR, et al. Durability of linear small-intestinal growth following treatment discontinuation of long-acting glucagon-like peptide 2 (GLP-2) analogues. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr*. 2020;0.
- 44. Bolognani, Dimitriadou V, Petri N, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of glucagon-like peptide (GLP-2) analogue apraglutide (FE 203799) in adult healthy volunteers. *Transplantation*. 2019;103(7S2):S128.
- 45. Fullerton, BS, Hong CR, Jaksic T. Long-term outcomes of pediatric intestinal failure. *Semin Pediatr Surg.* 2017;26(5):328-335.
- 46. Meyerson, C, Naini BV. Something old, something new: Liver injury associated with total parenteral nutrition therapy and immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Hum Pathol*. 2020;96:39-47.
- 47. Naini, BV, Lassman CR. Total parenteral nutrition therapy and liver injury: A histopathologic study with clinical correlation. *Human pathology*. 2012;43(6):826-833.
- 48. Lacaille, F, Gupte G, Colomb V, et al. Intestinal Failure–Associated liver disease: A position paper of the ESPGHAN working group of intestinal failure and intestinal transplantation. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 2015;60(2):272-283.
- 49. Neelis, E, Koning B, Rings E, et al. The gut microbiome in patients with intestinal failure: Current evidence and implications for clinical practice. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr*. 2018;43(2):194-205.
- 50. Cole, CR, Frem JC, Schmotzer B, et al. The rate of bloodstream infection is high in infants with short bowel syndrome: Relationship with small bowel bacterial overgrowth, enteral feeding, and inflammatory and immune responses. *J Pediatr*. 2010;156(6):941-947.e1.
- 51. Amin, SC, Pappas C, Iyengar H, et al. Short bowel syndrome in the NICU. *Clin Perinatol*. 2013;40(1):53-68.
- 52. Mayeur, C, Gratadoux J, Bridonneau C, et al. Faecal D/L lactate ratio is a metabolic signature of microbiota imbalance in patients with short bowel syndrome. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(1):e54335.

- 53. Davidovics, ZH, Vance K, Etienne N, et al. Fecal transplantation successfully treats recurrent D-lactic acidosis in a child with short bowel syndrome. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr*. 2017;41(5):896-897.
- 54. Gutierrez, IM, Kang KH, Calvert CE, et al. Risk factors for small bowel bacterial overgrowth and diagnostic yield of duodenal aspirates in children with intestinal failure: A retrospective review. *J Pediatr Surg.* 2012;47(6):1150-1154.
- 55. Stanger, JD, Oliveira C, Blackmore C, et al. The impact of multi-disciplinary intestinal rehabilitation programs on the outcome of pediatric patients with intestinal failure: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Pediatr Surg.* 2013;48(5):983-992.
- 56. Quigley, EM, Quera R. Small intestinal bacterial overgrowth: Roles of antibiotics, prebiotics, and probiotics. *Gastroenterology*. 2006;130(2 Suppl 1):78.
- 57. Greenberg, R, Moran C, Ulshen M, et al. Outcomes of catheter-associated infections in pediatric patients with short bowel syndrome. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 2010;50(4):460-462.
- 58. Walter, J, Ley R. The human gut microbiome: Ecology and recent evolutionary changes. *Ann Rev Microbiol.* 2011;65(1):411-429.
- 59. Sachdev, AH, Pimentel M. Gastrointestinal bacterial overgrowth: Pathogenesis and clinical significance. *Ther Adv Chronic Dis.* 2013;4(5):223-231.
- 60. Sieczkowska, A, Landowski P, Kamińska B, et al. Small bowel bacterial overgrowth in children. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 2016;62(2):196-207.
- 61. Rosen, R, Amirault J, Liu H, et al. Changes in gastric and lung microflora with acid suppression: Acid suppression and bacterial growth. *JAMA Pediatr*. 2014;168(10):932-937.
- 62. Sentongo, TA, Azzam R, Charrow J. Vitamin B 12 status, methylmalonic acidemia, and bacterial overgrowth in short bowel syndrome. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 2009;48(4):495-497.
- 63. Cole, CR, Ziegler TR. Small bowel bacterial overgrowth: A negative factor in gut adaptation in pediatric SBS. *Curr Gastroenterol Rep.* 2007;9(6):456-462.
- 64. Kaufman, SS, Loseke CA, Lupo JV, et al. Influence of bacterial overgrowth and intestinal inflammation on duration of parenteral nutrition in children with short bowel syndrome. *J Pediatr.* 1997;131(3):356-361.
- 65. Terra, RM, Plopper C, Waitzberg DL, et al. Remaining small bowel length: Association with catheter sepsis in patients receiving home total parenteral nutrition: Evidence of bacterial translocation. *World J Surg.* 2000;24(12):1537-1541.

- 66. van Saene, H K F, Taylor N, Donnell SC, et al. Gut overgrowth with abnormal flora: The missing link in parenteral nutrition-related sepsis in surgical neonates. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2003;57(4):548-553.
- 67. Billiar, TR, Maddaus MA, West MA, et al. Intestinal gram-negative bacterial overgrowth in vivo augments the in vitro response of kuppfer cells to endotoxin. *Ann Surg*. 1988;208(4):532-540.
- 68. Tappenden, KA. Mechanisms of enteral nutrient-enhanced intestinal adaptation. *Gastroenterol.* 2006;130(2):S93-S99.
- 69. Levesque, CL, Turner J, Li J, et al. In a neonatal piglet model of intestinal failure, administration of antibiotics and lack of enteral nutrition have a greater impact on intestinal microflora than surgical resection alone. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr*. 2017;41(6):938-945.
- 70. Tilg, H. Short bowel syndrome: Searching for the proper diet. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2008;20(11):1061-1063.
- 71. Vanderhoof, JA, Young RJ, Murray N, et al. Treatment strategies for small bowel bacterial overgrowth in short bowel syndrome. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 1998;27(2):155-160.
- 72. Engstrand Lilja, H, Wefer H, Nyström N, et al. Intestinal dysbiosis in children with short bowel syndrome is associated with impaired outcome. *Microbiome*. 2015;3(1):18.
- 73. Sender, R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Revised estimates for the number of human and bacteria cells in the body. *PLoS Biol*. 2016;14(8):e1002533.
- 74. Turnbaugh, PJ, Ley RE, Hamady M, et al. The human microbiome project. *Nature*. 2007;449(7164):804-810.
- 75. Qin, J, Li R, Raes J, et al. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. *Nature*. 2010;464(7285):59-65.
- 76. Bocci, V. The neglected organ: Bacterial flora has a crucial immunostimulatory role. *Perspect Biol Med.* 1992;35(2):251-260.
- 77. Seo, D, Holtzman DM. Gut microbiota: From the forgotten organ to a potential key player in the pathology of alzheimer's disease. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2020;75(7):1232-1241.
- 78. Li, X, Liu L, Cao Z, et al. Gut microbiota as an "invisible organ" that modulates the function of drugs. *Biomed Pharmacother*. 2020;121:109653.
- 79. Riccio, P, Rossano R. The human gut microbiota is neither an organ nor a commensal. *FEBS Lett.* 2020;594(20):3262-3271.

- 80. Turnbaugh, PJ, Ley RE, Mahowald MA, et al. An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature*. 2006;444(7122):1027-1031.
- 81. Ridaura, VK, Faith JJ, Rey FE, et al. Gut microbiota from twins discordant for obesity modulate metabolism in mice. *Science*. 2013;341(6150):1241214.
- 82. Sharon, G, Cruz NJ, Kang D, et al. Human gut microbiota from autism spectrum disorder promote behavioral symptoms in mice. *Cell*. 2019;177(6):1600-1618.e17.
- 83. Willing, BP, Dicksved J, Halfvarson J, et al. A pyrosequencing study in twins shows that gastrointestinal microbial profiles vary with inflammatory bowel disease phenotypes. *Gastroenterology*. 2010;139(6):1844-1854.e1.
- 84. Smith, MI, Yatsunenko T, Manary MJ, et al. Gut microbiomes of malawian twin pairs discordant for kwashiorkor. *Science*. 2013;339(6119):548-554.
- 85. Clarridge, JE. Impact of 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis for identification of bacteria on clinical microbiology and infectious diseases. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 2004;17(4):840-862.
- 86. Rooks, MG, Garrett WS. Gut microbiota, metabolites and host immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2016;16(6):341-352.
- 87. Sender, R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Are we really vastly outnumbered? revisiting the ratio of bacterial to host cells in humans. *Cell*. 2016;164(3):337-340.
- 88. Human Microbiome Project Consortium. Structure, function and diversity of the healthy human microbiome. *Nature*. 2012;486(7402):207-214.
- 89. Arumugam, M, Raes J, Pelletier E, et al. Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome. *Nature*. 2011;473(7346):174-180.
- 90. Tropini, C, Earle KA, Huang KC, et al. The gut microbiome: Connecting spatial organization to function. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2017;21(4):433-442.
- 91. Sonnenburg, E, Sonnenburg J. Starving our microbial self: The deleterious consequences of a diet deficient in microbiota-accessible carbohydrates. *Cell Metab.* 2014;20(5):779-786.
- 92. Scanlan, PD, Marchesi JR. Micro-eukaryotic diversity of the human distal gut microbiota: Qualitative assessment using culture-dependent and -independent analysis of faeces. *ISME* J. 2008;2(12):1183-1193.
- 93. Eckburg, PB, Lepp PW, Relman DA. Archaea and their potential role in human disease. *Infect Immun.* 2003;71(2):591-596.
- 94. Breitbart, M, Hewson I, Felts B, et al. Metagenomic analyses of an uncultured viral community from human feces. *J Bacteriol*. 2003;185(20):6220-6223.

- 95. Carbonero, F, Benefiel AC, Gaskins HR. Contributions of the microbial hydrogen economy to colonic homeostasis. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2012;9(9):504-518.
- 96. Robinson, CM, Pfeiffer JK. Viruses and the microbiota. Ann Rev Virol. 2014;1:55-69.
- 97. Nash, AK, Auchtung TA, Wong MC, et al. The gut mycobiome of the human microbiome project healthy cohort. *Microbiome*. 2017;5(1):153.
- 98. David, LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, et al. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. *Nature*. 2013;505(7484):559-563.
- 99. Jiang, TT, Shao T, Ang WG, et al. Commensal fungi recapitulate the protective benefits of intestinal bacteria. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2017;22(6):809-816.e4.
- 100. Brown, GD, Denning DW, Gow NAR, et al. Hidden killers: Human fungal infections. *Sci Transl Med.* 2012;4(165):165rv13.
- 101. Forbes, JD, Bernstein CN, Tremlett H, et al. A fungal world: Could the gut mycobiome be involved in neurological disease? *Front Microbiol*. 2019;9:3249.
- 102. Arrieta, M, Stiemsma LT, Amenyogbe N, et al. The intestinal microbiome in early life: Health and disease. *Front Immunol*. 2014;5:427.
- 103. Koenig, JE, Spor A, Scalfone N, et al. Succession of microbial consortia in the developing infant gut microbiome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2010;108(Supplement\_1):4578-4585.
- 104. Martínez, I, Maldonado-Gomez MX, Gomes-Neto JC, et al. Experimental evaluation of the importance of colonization history in early-life gut microbiota assembly. *Elife*. 2018;7:e36521.
- 105. Goodrich, J, Waters J, Poole A, et al. Human genetics shape the gut microbiome. *Cell*. 2014;159(4):789-799.
- 106. Turnbaugh, PJ, Hamady M, Yatsunenko T, et al. A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins. *Nature*. 2009;457(7228):480-484.
- 107. Benson, AK, Kelly SA, Legge R, et al. Individuality in gut microbiota composition is a complex polygenic trait shaped by multiple environmental and host genetic factors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2010;107(44):18933-18938.
- 108. Martínez, I, Muller CE, Walter J. Long-term temporal analysis of the human fecal microbiota revealed a stable core of dominant bacterial species. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(7):e69621.
- 109. Bäckhed, F, Ley R, Sonnenburg JL, et al. Host-bacterial mutualism in the human intestine. *Science*. 2005;307(5717):1915-1920.

- 110. Kumar, S, Suyal DC, Yadav A, et al. Microbial diversity and soil physiochemical characteristic of higher altitude. *PloS One*. 2019;14(3):e0213844.
- 111. Dunbar, J, Barns SM, Ticknor LO, et al. Empirical and theoretical bacterial diversity in four arizona soils. *Appl Environ Microbiol*. 2002;68(6):3035-3045.
- 112. Rossi-Tamisier, M, Benamar S, Raoult D, et al. Cautionary tale of using 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity values in identification of human-associated bacterial species. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol.* 2015;65(Pt 6):1929-1934.
- Chakravorty, S, Helb D, Burday M, et al. A detailed analysis of 16S ribosomal RNA gene segments for the diagnosis of pathogenic bacteria. *J Microbiol Methods*. 2007;69(2):330-339.
- 114. Ríos-Covián, D, Ruas-Madiedo P, Margolles A, et al. Intestinal short chain fatty acids and their link with diet and human health. *Front Microbiol*. 2016;7:185.
- 115. Sokol, H, Pigneur B, Watterlot L, et al. Faecalibacterium prausnitzii is an anti-inflammatory commensal bacterium identified by gut microbiota analysis of crohn's disease patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2008;105(43):16731-16736.
- 116. Zheng, L, Kelly CJ, Battista KD, et al. Microbial-derived butyrate promotes epithelial barrier function through IL-10 Receptor–Dependent repression of claudin-2. *J Immunol*. 2017;199(8):2976-2984.
- 117. Furusawa, Y, Obata Y, Fukuda S, et al. Commensal microbe-derived butyrate induces the differentiation of colonic regulatory T cells. *Nature*. 2013;504(7480):446-450.
- 118. Barcenilla, A, Pryde SE, Martin JC, et al. Phylogenetic relationships of butyrate-producing bacteria from the human gut. *Appl Environ Microbiol*. 2000;66(4):1654-1661.
- 119. Zocco, MA, Ainora ME, Gasbarrini G, et al. Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron in the gut: Molecular aspects of their interaction. *Dig Liver Dis*. 2007;39(8):707-712.
- 120. Mahowald, MA, Rey FE, Seedorf H, et al. Characterizing a model human gut microbiota composed of members of its two dominant bacterial phyla. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2009;106(14):5859-5864.
- 121. Wang, P, Wang Y, Lu L, et al. Alterations in intestinal microbiota relate to intestinal failure-associated liver disease and central line infections. *J Pediatr Surg.* 2017;52(8):1318-1326.
- 122. Davidovics, ZH, Carter BA, Luna RA, et al. The fecal microbiome in pediatric patients with short bowel syndrome. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr*. 2016;40(8):1106-1113.

- 123. Wang, Y, Hoenig JD, Malin KJ, et al. 16S rRNA gene-based analysis of fecal microbiota from preterm infants with and without necrotizing enterocolitis. *ISME J.* 2009;3(8):944-954.
- 124. Korpela, K, Mutanen A, Salonen A, et al. Intestinal microbiota signatures associated with histological liver steatosis in pediatric-onset intestinal failure. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr*. 2017;41(2):238-248.
- 125. Dahlgren, AF, Pan A, Lam V, et al. Longitudinal changes in the gut microbiome of infants on total parenteral nutrition. *Pediatr Res.* 2019;86(1):107-114.
- 126. Piper, HG, Fan D, Coughlin LA, et al. Severe gut microbiota dysbiosis is associated with poor growth in patients with short bowel syndrome. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr*. 2017;41(7):1202-1212.
- 127. Kotilea, K, Quennery S, Decroës V, et al. Case report successful sublingual cobalamin treatment in a child with short-bowel syndrome. *J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther*. 2014;19(1):60-63.
- 128. Hopkins, J, Cermak SA, Merritt RJ. Oral feeding difficulties in children with short bowel syndrome: A narrative review. *Nutr Clin Pract*. 2018;33(1):99-106.
- 129. Fuller, R. Probiotics in human medicine. Gut. 1991;32(4):439-442.
- 130. Kolida, S, Gibson GR. Synbiotics in health and disease. *Annu Rev Food Sci Technol*. 2011;2(1):373-393.
- 131. Gibson, GR, Roberfroid MB. Dietary modulation of the human colonic microbiota: Introducing the concept of prebiotics. *J Nutr*. 1995;125(6).
- 132. Sela, DA, Mills DA. Nursing our microbiota: Molecular linkages between bifidobacteria and milk oligosaccharides. *Trends Microbiol*. 2010;18(7):298-307.
- 133. Tanaka, R, Takayama H, Morotomi M, et al. Effects of administration of TOS and bifidobacterium breve 4006 on the human fecal flora. *Bifido Microflora*. 1983;2(1):17-24.
- 134. Kunz, A, Noel J, Fairchok M. Two cases of lactobacillus bacteremia during probiotic treatment of short gut syndrome. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 2004;38(4):457-458.
- 135. Land, MH, Rouster-Stevens K, Woods CR, et al. Lactobacillus sepsis associated with probiotic therapy. *Pediatrics*. 2005;115(1):178-181.
- 136. Uchida, K, Takahashi T, Inoue M, et al. Immunonutritional effects during synbiotics therapy in pediatric patients with short bowel syndrome. *Pediatr Surg Int.* 2007;23(3):243-248.

- 137. Reddy, VS, Patole SK, Rao S. Role of probiotics in short bowel syndrome in infants and children a systematic review. *Nutrients*. 2013;5(3):679-699.
- 138. Sentongo, T, Cohran V, Korff S, et al. Intestinal permeability and effects of lactobacillus rhamnosus therapy in children with short bowel syndrome. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 2008;46(1):41-47.
- 139. Hennequin, C, Kauffmann-Lacroix C, Jobert A, et al. Possible role of catheters in saccharomyces boulardii fungemia. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* 2000;19(1):16-20.
- 140. Good, M, Sodhi CP, Ozolek JA, et al. Lactobacillus rhamnosus HN001 decreases the severity of necrotizing enterocolitis in neonatal mice and preterm piglets: Evidence in mice for a role of TLR9. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*. 2014;306(11):G1021-G1032.
- 141. Wang, T, Teng K, Liu YK, et al. Lactobacillus plantarum PFM 105 promotes intestinal development through modulation of gut microbiota in weaning piglets. *Front Microbiol*. 2019;10:90.
- 142. Collado, MC, Grześkowiak Ł, Salminen S. Probiotic strains and their combination inhibit in vitro adhesion of pathogens to pig intestinal mucosa. *Curr Microbiol*. 2007;55(3):260-265.
- 143. Chae, JP, Pajarillo EAB, Oh JK, et al. Revealing the combined effects of lactulose and probiotic enterococci on the swine faecal microbiota using 454 pyrosequencing. *Microb Biotechnol*. 2016;9(4):486-495.
- 144. Laffin, M, Perry T, Park H, et al. Prebiotic supplementation following ileocecal resection in a murine model is associated with a loss of microbial diversity and increased inflammation. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* 2018;24(1):101-110.
- 145. Barnes, JL, Hartmann B, Holst JJ, et al. Intestinal adaptation is stimulated by partial enteral nutrition supplemented with the prebiotic short-chain fructooligosaccharide in a neonatal intestinal failure piglet model. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* 2012;36(5):524-537.
- 146. Brandt, LJ, Aroniadis OC. An overview of fecal microbiota transplantation: Techniques, indications, and outcomes. *Gastrointest Endosc*. 2013;78(2):240-249.
- 147. Bakken, JS. Fecal bacteriotherapy for recurrent clostridium difficile infection. *Anaerobe*. 2009;15(6):285-289.
- 148. Huebner, ES, Surawicz CM. Treatment of recurrent clostridium difficile diarrhea. *Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 2006;2(3):203-208.
- 149. Kim, Gluck M. Fecal microbiota transplantation: An update on clinical practice. *Clin Endosc.* 2019;52(2):137-143.

- 150. Gough, E, Shaikh H, Manges AR. Systematic review of intestinal microbiota transplantation (fecal bacteriotherapy) for recurrent clostridium difficile infection. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2011;53(10):994-1002.
- 151. Cho, S, Spencer E, Hirten R, et al. Fecal microbiota transplant for recurrent clostridium difficile infection in pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 2019;68(3):343-347.
- 152. Millan, B, Park H, Hotte N, et al. Fecal microbial transplants reduce antibiotic-resistant genes in patients with recurrent clostridium difficile infection. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2016;62(12):1479-1486.
- 153. Bulik-Sullivan, E, Roy S, Elliott R, et al. Intestinal microbial and metabolic alterations following successful fecal microbiota transplant for D-lactic acidosis. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 2018;67(4):483-487.
- 154. Cammarota, G, Ianiro G, Tilg H, et al. European consensus conference on faecal microbiota transplantation in clinical practice. *Gut.* 2017;66(4):569-580.
- 155. Guidance document: Fecal microbiota therapy used in the treatment of clostridium difficile infection not responsive to conventional therapies. Ottawa: Health Canada; 2015. (modified 2020, Mar 27). Available: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/biologics-radiopharmaceuticals-genetic-therapies/applications-submissions/guidance-documents/regulation-fecal-microbiota-therapy-treatment-difficile-infections.html. Accessed 2021, Jan 21.</u>
- 156. Khan, M, Dirweesh A, Khurshid T, et al. Comparing fecal microbiota transplantation to standard-of-care treatment for recurrent clostridium difficile infection: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2018;30(11):1309-1317.
- 157. Song, SJ, Amir A, Metcalf JL, et al. Preservation methods differ in fecal microbiome stability, affecting suitability for field studies. *mSystems*. 2016;1(3):21.
- 158. Hamilton, MJ, Weingarden AR, Sadowsky MJ, et al. Standardized frozen preparation for transplantation of fecal microbiota for recurrent clostridium difficile infection. *Am J Gastroenterol*. 2012;107(5):761-767.
- 159. Narula, N, Kassam Z, Yuan Y, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis: Fecal microbiota transplantation for treatment of active ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis*. 2017;23(10):1702-1709.
- 160. Jiang, ZD, Ajami NJ, Petrosino JF, et al. Randomised clinical trial: Faecal microbiota transplantation for recurrent clostridum difficile infection - fresh, or frozen, or lyophilised microbiota from a small pool of healthy donors delivered by colonoscopy. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* 2017;45(7):899-908.

- 161. Tvede, M, Rask-Madsen J. Bacteriotherapy for chronic relapsing clostridium difficile diarrhoea in six patients. *Lancet*. 1989;333(8648):1156-1160.
- 162. Petrof, EO, Gloor GB, Vanner SJ, et al. Stool substitute transplant therapy for the eradication of clostridium difficile infection: 'RePOOPulating' the gut. *Microbiome*. 2013;1:3.
- 163. Dalmasso, M, Hill C, Ross RP. Exploiting gut bacteriophages for human health. *Trends Microbiol*. 2014;22(7):399-405.
- 164. Ott, SJ, Waetzig GH, Rehman A, et al. Efficacy of sterile fecal filtrate transfer for treating patients with clostridium difficile infection. *Gastroenterology*. 2017;152(4):799-811.e7.
- 165. Park, H, Laffin MR, Jovel J, et al. The success of fecal microbial transplantation in clostridium difficile infection correlates with bacteriophage relative abundance in the donor: A retrospective cohort study. *Gut Microbes*. 2019;10(6):676-687.
- 166. Gil-Cruz, C, Perez-Shibayama C, De Martin A, et al. Microbiota-derived peptide mimics drive lethal inflammatory cardiomyopathy. *Science*. 2019;366(6467):881-886.
- 167. Campbell. Andrew, W. Autoimmunity and the gut. Autoimmune Dis. 2014;2014:152428.
- 168. Smillie, CS, Sauk J, Gevers D, et al. Strain tracking reveals the determinants of bacterial engraftment in the human gut following fecal microbiota transplantation. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2018;23(2):229-240.e5.
- 169. DeFilipp, Z, Bloom PP, Torres Soto M, et al. Drug-resistant E. coli bacteremia transmitted by fecal microbiota transplant. *N Engl J Med.* 2019;381(21):2043-2050.
- 170. Amirian, ES. Potential fecal transmission of SARS-CoV-2: Current evidence and implications for public health. *Int J Infect Dis.* 2020;95:363-370.
- 171. Chen, Y, Chen L, Deng Q, et al. The presence of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in the feces of COVID-19 patients. *J Med Virol*. 2020;92(7):833-840.
- 172. De Leon, LM, Watson JB, Kelly CR. Transient flare of ulcerative colitis after fecal microbiota transplantation for recurrent clostridium difficile infection. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 2013;11(8):1036-1038.
- 173. Khoruts, A, Rank KM, Newman KM, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease affects the outcome of fecal microbiota transplantation for recurrent clostridium difficile infection. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 2016;14(10):1433-1438.
- 174. Davidson, MK, Lindsey JR, Davis JK. Requirements and selection of an animal model. *Isr J Med Sci.* 1987;23(6):551-555.

- 175. Corvalho, C, Gaspar A, Knight A, et al. Ethical and scientific pitfalls concerning laboratory research with non-human primates, and possible solutions. *Animals (Basel)*. 2018;9(1):12.
- 176. Ziegler, A, Gonzalez L, Blikslager A. Large animal models: The key to translational discovery in digestive disease research. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2016;2(6):716-724.
- 177. Lim, DW, Turner JM, Wales PW. Emerging piglet models of neonatal short bowel syndrome. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr*. 2015;39(6):636-643.
- 178. Puiman, P, Stoll B. Animal models to study neonatal nutrition in humans. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2008;11(5):601-606.
- 179. Sangild, PT. Gut responses to enteral nutrition in preterm infants and animals. *Exp Biol Med* (*Maywood*). 2006;231(11):1695-711.
- 180. Ghoshal, NG, Bal HS. Comparative morphology of the stomach of some laboratory mammals. *Lab Anim.* 1989;23(1):21-29.
- 181. Graham, H, Aman P. The pig as a model in dietary fibre digestion studies. *Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl.* 1987;129:55-61.
- 182. Azcarate-Peril, MA, Foster DM, Cadenas MB, et al. Acute necrotizing enterocolitis of preterm piglets is characterized by dysbiosis of ileal mucosa-associated bacteria. *Gut Microbes.* 2011;2(4):234-243.
- 183. Sangild, PT, Siggers RH, Schmidt M, et al. Diet- and colonization-dependent intestinal dysfunction predisposes to necrotizing enterocolitis in preterm pigs. *Gastroenterology*. 2006;130(6):1776-1792.
- 184. Sigalet, DL, Lees GM, Aherne F, et al. The physiology of adaptation to small bowel resection in the pig: An integrated study of morphological and functional changes. *J Pediatr Surg.* 1990;25(6):650-657.
- 185. Mair, KH, Sedlak C, Käser T, et al. The porcine innate immune system: An update. *Dev Comp Immunol.* 2014;45(2):321-343.
- 186. Wimmers, K, Mekchay S, Schellander K, et al. Molecular characterization of the pig C3 gene and its association with complement activity. *Immunogenetics*. 2003;54(10):714-724.
- 187. Karalyan, Z, Zakaryan H, Arzumanyan H, et al. Pathology of porcine peripheral white blood cells during infection with african swine fever virus. *BMC Vet Res.* 2012;8:18.
- 188. Pabst, R. The pig as a model for immunology research. *Cell Tissue Res.* 2020;380(2):287-304.

- 189. Raymond, CR, Wilkie BN. Toll-like receptor, MHC II, B7 and cytokine expression by porcine monocytes and monocyte-derived dendritic cells in response to microbial pathogen-associated molecular patterns. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*. 2005;107(3-4):235-247.
- 190. Murtaugh, MP, Johnson CR, Xiao Z, et al. Species specialization in cytokine biology: Is interleukin-4 central to the Th1-Th2 paradigm in swine? *Dev Comp Immunol*. 2009;33(3):344-352.
- 191. Frese, SA, Parker K, Calvert CC, et al. Diet shapes the gut microbiome of pigs during nursing and weaning. *Microbiome*. 2015;3(1):28.
- 192. Guevarra, RB, Lee JH, Lee SH, et al. Piglet gut microbial shifts early in life: Causes and effects. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*. 2019;10:1.
- 193. Salcedo, J, Frese SA, Mills DA, et al. Characterization of porcine milk oligosaccharides during early lactation and their relation to the fecal microbiome. *J Dairy Sci&nbsp*;. 2016;99(10):7733-7743.
- 194. Pedersen, R, Ingerslev H, Sturek M, et al. Characterisation of gut microbiota in ossabaw and göttingen minipigs as models of obesity and metabolic syndrome. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(2):e56612.
- 195. Lapthorne, S, Pereira-Fantini PM, Fouhy F, et al. Gut microbial diversity is reduced and is associated with colonic inflammation in a piglet model of short bowel syndrome. *Gut Microbes*. 2013;4(3):212-221.
- 196. Hu, J, Ma L, Nie Y, et al. A microbiota-derived bacteriocin targets the host to confer diarrhea resistance in early-weaned piglets. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2018;24(6):817-832.e8.
- 197. Xiang, Q, Wu X, Pan Y, et al. Early-life intervention using fecal microbiota combined with probiotics promotes gut microbiota maturation, regulates immune system development, and alleviates weaning stress in piglets. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;21(2):503.
- 198. Hu, L, Geng S, Li Y, et al. Exogenous fecal microbiota transplantation from local adult pigs to crossbred newborn piglets. *Front Microbiol*. 2017;8:2663.
- 199. Bin, P, Tang Z, Liu S, et al. Intestinal microbiota mediates enterotoxigenic escherichia coliinduced diarrhea in piglets. *BMC Vet Res.* 2018;14(1):385.
- 200. Diao, H, Yan H, Xiao Y, et al. Modulation of intestine development by fecal microbiota transplantation in suckling pigs. *RSC Adv.* 2018;8(16):8709-8720.
- 201. Mccormack, UM, Curião T, Wilkinson T, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation in gestating sows and neonatal offspring alters lifetime intestinal microbiota and growth in offspring. *mSystems*. 2018;3(3):134.

- 202. Wang, X, Tsai T, Deng F, et al. Longitudinal investigation of the swine gut microbiome from birth to market reveals stage and growth performance associated bacteria. *Microbiome*. 2019;7(1):109.
- 203. Hu, J, Chen L, Tang Y, et al. Standardized preparation for fecal microbiota transplantation in pigs. *Front Microbiol*. 2018;9.
- 204. Kosar, C, Steinberg K, de Silva N, et al. Cost of ambulatory care for the pediatric intestinal failure patient: One-year follow-up after primary discharge. *J Pediatr Surg.* 2016;51(5):798-803.
- 205. Desai, MS, Seekatz AM, Koropatkin NM, et al. A dietary fiber-deprived gut microbiota degrades the colonic mucus barrier and enhances pathogen susceptibility. *Cell*. 2016;167(5):1339-1353.e21.
- 206. Kao, D, Hotte N, Gillevet P, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation inducing remission in crohn's colitis and the associated changes in fecal microbial profile. *J Clin Gastroenterol*. 2014;48(7):625-628.
- 207. Hill, J, Garner R. Efficacy of 4% tetrasodium ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (T-EDTA) catheter lock solution in home parenteral nutrition patients: A quality improvement evaluation. *J Vasc Access*. 2020;0(0):Online ahead of print.
- 208. Wykes, LJ, Ball RO, Pencharz PB. Development and validation of a total parenteral nutrition model in the neonatal piglet. *J Nutr*. 1993;123(7):1248-1259.
- 209. Pauline, ML, Nation PN, Wizzard PR, et al. Comparing the intestinotrophic effects of 2 Glucagon-Like Peptide-2 analogues in the treatment of Short-Bowel syndrome in neonatal piglets. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr*. 2021;45(3):535-545.
- 210. Burrin, DG, Stoll B, Jiang R, et al. Minimal enteral nutrient requirements for intestinal growth in neonatal piglets, how much is enough. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2000;71(6):1603-1610.
- 211. Bolyen, E, Rideout JR, Dillon MR, et al. Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. *Nat Biotechnol*. 2019;37(8):852-857.
- 212. Callahan, BJ, McMurdie PJ, Rosen MJ, et al. DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from illumina amplicon data. *Nat Methods*. 2016;13(7):581-583.
- 213. DeSantis, TZ, Hugenholtz P, Larsen N, et al. Greengenes, a chimera-checked 16S rRNA gene database and workbench compatible with ARB. *Appl Environ Microbiol*. 2006;72(7):5069-5072.
- 214. Douglas, GM, Maffei VJ, Zaneveld JR, et al. PICRUSt2 for prediction of metagenome functions. *Nat Biotechnol*. 2020;38(6):685-688.

- 215. Ghasemi, A, Zahediasl S. Normality tests for statistical analysis: A guide for nonstatisticians. *Int J Endocrinol Metab.* 2012;10(2):486-489.
- 216. Fan, Zhang D, Zhang C. On sample size of the kruskal-wallis test with application to a mouse peritoneal cavity study. *Biometrics*. 2011;67(1):213-224.
- 217. Mahoney, M, Magel R. Estimation of the power of the Kruskal-Wallis test. *Biom J*. 1996;38(5):613-630.
- 218. Faul, F, Erdfelder E, Lang A, et al. G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behav Res Methods*. 2007;39(2):175-191.
- 219. Cooper, VL. Diagnosis of neonatal pig diarrhea. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract. 2000;16(1):117-133.
- 220. Faith, DP, Baker AM. Phylogenetic diversity (PD) and biodiversity conservation: Some bioinformatics challenges. *Evol Bioinform Online*. 2007;2:121-128.
- 221. Bray, RJ, Curtis JT. An ordination of upland forest communities of southern wisconsin. *Ecol Monogr.* 1957;27(4):325-349.
- 222. Wang, W, Hu H, Zijlstra RT, et al. Metagenomic reconstructions of gut microbial metabolism in weanling pigs. *Microbiome*. 2019;7(1):48.
- 223. Abbott Laboratories I, ed. *Product information: Polycose* ®. Columbus, OH: Abbott Nutrition; 2013.
- 224. Ackerman, DL, Craft KM, Townsend SD. Infant food applications of complex carbohydrates: Structure, synthesis, and function. *Carbohydr Res.* 2017;437:16-27.
- 225. Kamarul Zaman, M, Chin K, Rai V, et al. Fiber and prebiotic supplementation in enteral nutrition: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *World J Gastroenterol*. 2015;21(17):5372-5381.

## **Appendix A: Supplementary Tables and Figures**

Table S1 - Quantification	of Phyla in	base and	l term tissue	samples fr	om SAL, FMT, and
SOW piglets.					

	_	JB	JT	CB	CT
Phylum	n	11	11	11	11
Actinobacteria		1.6 (2.4)	3.5 (4.1)	4.4 (3.5)	6.2 (7.2)
Bacteroidetes		6.5 (9.1)#	14.8 (8.2)	18.1 (8.1)#	8.9 (10.7)
Firmicutes		42.2 (26.3)	53.4 (15.3)	65.8 (13.7)	62.8 (18.9)
Fusobacteria		2.4 (3.5)	3.7 (5.2)	3.4 (3.6)	3.5 (5.1)
Proteobacteria		4.2 (4.4)	7.6 (4.3)	4.3 (2.8)##	15.4 (8.8)
Unassigned		43.0 (29.4)#	16.8 (17.8)	3.4 (2.6)	3.2 (5.0)
Other		0.0	0.2 (0.6)	0.5 (1.6)	0.0
	n	11	11	11	11
Actinobacteria		1.9 (2.7)	1.7 (2.2)	4.4 (2.6)	3.1 (4.1)
Bacteroidetes		2.7 (3.0)##	15.0 (9.7)	21.3 (11.5)#	8.7 (12.4)
Firmicutes		34.2 (18.5)	45.1 (12.5)	64.8 (10.9)	57.8 (17.2)
Fusobacteria		0.7 (1.2)#	4.2 (5.1)	2.2 (3.0)	2.9 (4.9)
Proteobacteria		6.0 (4.2)	7.1 (5.6)	3.8 (3.2)##	23.7 (17.3)
Unassigned		54.4 (21.8)#	26.4 (21.6)	3.0 (2.6)	2.9 (3.1)
Other		0.04 (0.1)	0.4 (0.8)	0.5 (1.5)	0.8 (2.7)
	n		6		6
Actinobacteria		-	2.2 (2.9)	-	1.5 (1.4)
Bacteroidetes		-	11.5 (10.3)	-	27.5 (6.3)‡§
Firmicutes		-	35.5 (16.1)	-	56.5 (7.8)
Fusobacteria		-	2.7 (3.2)	-	3.6 (1.0)
Proteobacteria		-	6.2 (3.2)	-	4.0 (1.5)त
Unassigned		-	41.6 (25.2)	-	5.6 (3.2)
Other		-	0.4 (0.4)	-	1.5 (1.5)
	Actinobacteria Bacteroidetes Firmicutes Fusobacteria Proteobacteria Unassigned Other Actinobacteria Bacteroidetes Firmicutes Fusobacteria Unassigned Other Actinobacteria Bacteroidetes Firmicutes Fusobacteria Bacteroidetes Firmicutes Fusobacteria Dacteroidetes Firmicutes	Actinobacteria Bacteroidetes Firmicutes Fusobacteria Proteobacteria Unassigned Other <b>n</b> Actinobacteria Bacteroidetes Firmicutes Fusobacteria Unassigned Other <b>n</b> Actinobacteria Bacteroidetes Firmicutes Firmicutes Firmicutes Fusobacteria Bacteroidetes Firmicutes Fusobacteria Proteobacteria Proteobacteria	Phylumn11Actinobacteria $1.6 (2.4)$ Bacteroidetes $6.5 (9.1)$ #Firmicutes $42.2 (26.3)$ Fusobacteria $2.4 (3.5)$ Proteobacteria $4.2 (4.4)$ Unassigned $43.0 (29.4)$ #Other $0.0$ n11Actinobacteria $1.9 (2.7)$ Bacteroidetes $2.7 (3.0)$ ##Firmicutes $34.2 (18.5)$ Fusobacteria $0.7 (1.2)$ #Proteobacteria $6.0 (4.2)$ Unassigned $54.4 (21.8)$ #Other $0.04 (0.1)$ n1Actinobacteria-Firmicutes $-$ Fusobacteria-Proteobacteria-Proteobacteria-N-Actinobacteria-Unassigned-Fusobacteria-Proteobacteria-Unassigned-	Phylumn1111Actinobacteria $1.6 (2.4)$ $3.5 (4.1)$ Bacteroidetes $6.5 (9.1)$ # $14.8 (8.2)$ Firmicutes $42.2 (26.3)$ $53.4 (15.3)$ Fusobacteria $2.4 (3.5)$ $3.7 (5.2)$ Proteobacteria $4.2 (4.4)$ $7.6 (4.3)$ Unassigned $43.0 (29.4)$ # $16.8 (17.8)$ Other $0.0$ $0.2 (0.6)$ n1111Actinobacteria $1.9 (2.7)$ $1.7 (2.2)$ Bacteroidetes $2.7 (3.0)$ ## $15.0 (9.7)$ Firmicutes $34.2 (18.5)$ $45.1 (12.5)$ Fusobacteria $0.7 (1.2)$ # $4.2 (5.1)$ Proteobacteria $6.0 (4.2)$ $7.1 (5.6)$ Unassigned $54.4 (21.8)$ # $26.4 (21.6)$ Other $0.04 (0.1)$ $0.4 (0.8)$ n $6$ Actinobacteria $ 2.2 (2.9)$ Bacteroidetes $ 11.5 (10.3)$ Firmicutes $ 35.5 (16.1)$ Fusobacteria $ 2.7 (3.2)$ Proteobacteria $ 2.7 (3.2)$ Proteobacteria $ 6.2 (3.2)$ Unassigned $ 41.6 (25.2)$	Phylumn111111Actinobacteria $1.6 (2.4)$ $3.5 (4.1)$ $4.4 (3.5)$ Bacteroidetes $6.5 (9.1)$ # $14.8 (8.2)$ $18.1 (8.1)$ #Firmicutes $42.2 (26.3)$ $53.4 (15.3)$ $65.8 (13.7)$ Fusobacteria $2.4 (3.5)$ $3.7 (5.2)$ $3.4 (3.6)$ Proteobacteria $4.2 (4.4)$ $7.6 (4.3)$ $4.3 (2.8)$ ##Unassigned $43.0 (29.4)$ # $16.8 (17.8)$ $3.4 (2.6)$ Other $0.0$ $0.2 (0.6)$ $0.5 (1.6)$ n $11$ $11$ $11$ Actinobacteria $1.9 (2.7)$ $1.7 (2.2)$ $4.4 (2.6)$ Bacteroidetes $2.7 (3.0)$ ## $15.0 (9.7)$ $21.3 (11.5)$ #Firmicutes $34.2 (18.5)$ $45.1 (12.5)$ $64.8 (10.9)$ Fusobacteria $0.7 (1.2)$ # $4.2 (5.1)$ $2.2 (3.0)$ Proteobacteria $6.0 (4.2)$ $7.1 (5.6)$ $3.8 (3.2)$ ##Unassigned $54.4 (21.8)$ # $26.4 (21.6)$ $3.0 (2.6)$ Other $0.04 (0.1)$ $0.4 (0.8)$ $0.5 (1.5)$ n $6$ $6$ $6$ Actinobacteria $ 2.2 (2.9)$ $-$ n $6$ $6$ $6$ $6.0 (4.2)$ $7.1 (5.6)$ Proteobacteria $ 2.7 (3.2)$ $-$ Proteobacteria $ 2.7 (3.2)$ $-$ Proteobacteria $ 2.7 (3.2)$ $-$ Proteobacteria $ 6.2 (3.2)$ $-$ Unassigned $ 41.6 (25.2)$ $-$

Relative % compositions are presented as mean (SD). Samples were taken from saline (SAL, n=11), fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=11), and non-surgical sow-reared (SOW, n=6) piglets. For SAL and FMT base to term, comparisons made using related samples Wilcoxon Signed Rank tests, #p<0.05, ##p<0.01. For SOW to SAL and SOW to FMT, comparisons made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis tests. Significant differences as indicated: SOW and SAL (#p<0.05, #p<0.01) and SOW and FMT (\$p<0.05, \$p<0.01) phyla. JB = jejunum base, JT = jejunum term, CB = colon base, CT = colon term.

		pre	post	d3	d4	d5	d6
Phylum	n	8	8	11	10	10	10
Actinobacteria		1.9 (1.9)	2.3 (2.9)	1.1 (2.4)	2.9 (2.7)	6.6 (8.8)	7.8 (10.4)
Bacteroidetes		9.0 (8.3)	1.7 (1.9)	5.7 (6.0)	4.5 (3.7)	6.2 (8.5)	4.7 (5.8)
Firmicutes		52.3 (30.8)	55.1 (28.4)	41.5 (20.5)	49.9 (20.1)	51.5 (19.8)	54.6 (23.8)
Fusobacteria		0.7 (1.6)	0.7 (2.1)	2.7 (5.8)	0.9 (1.6)	3.4 (5.5)	5.0 (6.1)
Proteobacteria		35.3 (28.9)	39.6 (30.2)	48.5 (16.7)	41.5 (18.0)	31.7 (17.2)	27.6 (15.6)
Unassigned		0.4 (0.8)	0.5 (0.7)	0.4 (0.7)	0.2 (0.3)	0.6 (0.9)	0.3 (0.4)
Other		0.4 (1.1)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	n	7	11	11	11	11	10
Actinobacteria		0.6 (0.9)	8.6 (4.0)**	5.5 (6.0)*	5.0 (3.2)	4.9 (4.5)	7.5 (3.5)
Bacteroidetes		4.4 (4.0)	4.0 (2.4)	3.8 (4.5)	7.8 (11.1)	7.0 (9.5)	5.6 (8.2)
Firmicutes		59.3 (37.8)	54.3 (17.7)	50.1 (24.2)	59.3 (24.7)	58.3 (19.5)	61.9 (20.6)
Fusobacteria		0.08 (0.14)	0.30 (1.0)	1.3 (2.4)	4.0 (8.3)	5.5 (8.1)	3.9 (8.9)
Proteobacteria		34.5 (36.6)	29.7 (20.9)	38.8 (23.8)	23.1 (21.0)	24.0 (19.7)	20.0 (13.8)
Unassigned		1.0 (1.9)	2.7 (1.5)***	0.4 (0.8)	0.8 (1.2)	0.4 (0.7)	1.1 (1.3)
Other		0.0	0.4 (0.4)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.02 (0.07)
	Actinobacteria Bacteroidetes Firmicutes Fusobacteria Proteobacteria Unassigned Other Actinobacteria Bacteroidetes Firmicutes Fusobacteria Proteobacteria Unassigned	Actinobacteria Bacteroidetes Firmicutes Fusobacteria Proteobacteria Unassigned Other <b>n</b> Actinobacteria Bacteroidetes Firmicutes Fusobacteria Proteobacteria Unassigned	Phylum n 8   Actinobacteria 1.9 (1.9)   Bacteroidetes 9.0 (8.3)   Firmicutes 52.3 (30.8)   Fusobacteria 0.7 (1.6)   Proteobacteria 0.7 (1.6)   Proteobacteria 0.4 (0.8)   Other 0.4 (1.1)   Actinobacteria 0.6 (0.9)   Bacteroidetes 4.4 (4.0)   Firmicutes 59.3 (37.8)   Fusobacteria 0.08 (0.14)   Proteobacteria 0.45 (36.6)   Unassigned 1.0 (1.9)	Phylumn88Actinobacteria $1.9 (1.9)$ $2.3 (2.9)$ Bacteroidetes $9.0 (8.3)$ $1.7 (1.9)$ Firmicutes $52.3 (30.8)$ $55.1 (28.4)$ Fusobacteria $0.7 (1.6)$ $0.7 (2.1)$ Proteobacteria $35.3 (28.9)$ $39.6 (30.2)$ Unassigned $0.4 (0.8)$ $0.5 (0.7)$ Other $0.4 (1.1)$ $0.0$ Actinobacteria $0.6 (0.9)$ $8.6 (4.0)^{**}$ Bacteroidetes $4.4 (4.0)$ $4.0 (2.4)$ Firmicutes $59.3 (37.8)$ $54.3 (17.7)$ Fusobacteria $0.08 (0.14)$ $0.30 (1.0)$ Proteobacteria $34.5 (36.6)$ $29.7 (20.9)$ Unassigned $1.0 (1.9)$ $2.7 (1.5)^{***}$	Phylumn8811Actinobacteria1.9 (1.9)2.3 (2.9)1.1 (2.4)Bacteroidetes9.0 (8.3)1.7 (1.9)5.7 (6.0)Firmicutes52.3 (30.8)55.1 (28.4)41.5 (20.5)Fusobacteria0.7 (1.6)0.7 (2.1)2.7 (5.8)Proteobacteria35.3 (28.9)39.6 (30.2)48.5 (16.7)Unassigned0.4 (0.8)0.5 (0.7)0.4 (0.7)Other0.4 (1.1)0.00.0M71111Actinobacteria0.6 (0.9)8.6 (4.0)**5.5 (6.0)*Bacteroidetes4.4 (4.0)4.0 (2.4)3.8 (4.5)Firmicutes59.3 (37.8)54.3 (17.7)50.1 (24.2)Fusobacteria0.08 (0.14)0.30 (1.0)1.3 (2.4)Proteobacteria34.5 (36.6)29.7 (20.9)38.8 (23.8)Unassigned1.0 (1.9)2.7 (1.5)***0.4 (0.8)	Phylumn881110Actinobacteria1.9 (1.9)2.3 (2.9)1.1 (2.4)2.9 (2.7)Bacteroidetes9.0 (8.3)1.7 (1.9)5.7 (6.0)4.5 (3.7)Firmicutes52.3 (30.8)55.1 (28.4)41.5 (20.5)49.9 (20.1)Fusobacteria0.7 (1.6)0.7 (2.1)2.7 (5.8)0.9 (1.6)Proteobacteria35.3 (28.9)39.6 (30.2)48.5 (16.7)41.5 (18.0)Unassigned0.4 (0.8)0.5 (0.7)0.4 (0.7)0.2 (0.3)Other0.4 (1.1)0.00.00.0M7111111Actinobacteria0.6 (0.9)8.6 (4.0)**5.5 (6.0)*5.0 (3.2)Bacteroidetes4.4 (4.0)4.0 (2.4)3.8 (4.5)7.8 (11.1)Firmicutes59.3 (37.8)54.3 (17.7)50.1 (24.2)59.3 (24.7)Fusobacteria0.08 (0.14)0.30 (1.0)1.3 (2.4)4.0 (8.3)Proteobacteria34.5 (36.6)29.7 (20.9)38.8 (23.8)23.1 (21.0)Unassigned1.0 (1.9)2.7 (1.5)***0.4 (0.8)0.8 (1.2)	Phylumn88111010Actinobacteria1.9 (1.9)2.3 (2.9)1.1 (2.4)2.9 (2.7)6.6 (8.8)Bacteroidetes9.0 (8.3)1.7 (1.9)5.7 (6.0)4.5 (3.7)6.2 (8.5)Firmicutes52.3 (30.8)55.1 (28.4)41.5 (20.5)49.9 (20.1)51.5 (19.8)Fusobacteria0.7 (1.6)0.7 (2.1)2.7 (5.8)0.9 (1.6)3.4 (5.5)Proteobacteria35.3 (28.9)39.6 (30.2)48.5 (16.7)41.5 (18.0)31.7 (17.2)Unassigned0.4 (0.8)0.5 (0.7)0.4 (0.7)0.2 (0.3)0.6 (0.9)Other0.4 (1.1)0.00.00.00.0Other0.6 (0.9)8.6 (4.0)**5.5 (6.0)*5.0 (3.2)4.9 (4.5)Bacteroidetes4.4 (4.0)4.0 (2.4)3.8 (4.5)7.8 (11.1)7.0 (9.5)Firmicutes59.3 (37.8)54.3 (17.7)50.1 (24.2)59.3 (24.7)58.3 (19.5)Fusobacteria0.08 (0.14)0.30 (1.0)1.3 (2.4)4.0 (8.3)5.5 (8.1)Proteobacteria34.5 (36.6)29.7 (20.9)38.8 (23.8)23.1 (21.0)24.0 (19.7)Unassigned1.0 (1.9)2.7 (1.5)***0.4 (0.8)0.8 (1.2)0.4 (0.7)

Table S2 – Quantification of Phyla in daily stool samples from SAL and FMT piglets.

Relative % compositions are presented as mean (SD). Samples were taken from saline (SAL, n=11), and fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=11) piglets. Comparisons made using independent samples Mann-Whitney U test, \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01.

	_	JB	JT	CB	СТ
Group	Family n	11	11	11	11
SAL	Bifidobacteriaceae	0.4 (0.8)	0.7 (1.5)	0.5 (1.1)	1.4 (3.1)
	Bacteroidaceae	0.8 (2.8)#	3.0 (3.0)	2.0 (2.8)	2.1 (3.8)
	Lactobacillaceae	17.0 (12.9)	16.5 (9.4)	14.5 (5.2)	23.0 (21.9)
	Streptococcaceae	1.0 (1.4)	0.2 (0.5)	2.2 (2.7)#	0 (0)
	Clostridiaceae	5.6 (7.6)	4.1 (3.1)	6.5 (5.8)	11.1 (23.4)
	Lachnospiraceae	4.0 (5.3)##	13.5 (5.5)	18.7 (9.2)	12.8 (13.2)
	Peptostreptococcaceae	1.8 (4.4)	2.4 (2.3)	3.4 (1.9)#	0.9 (1.6)
	Ruminococcaceae	1.4 (1.2)	3.3 (3.6)	6.6 (4.2)##	1.7 (1.3)
	Veillonellaceae	1.2 (2.3)	0.6 (1.2)	0 (0)	0 (0)
	Erysipelotrichaceae	1.2 (1.9)	2.2 (2.0)	3.6 (3.3)	1.8 (2.3)
	Fusobacteriaceae	2.4 (3.5)	3.7 (5.2)	3.4 (3.6)	3.5 (5.1)
	Campylobacteraceae	1.0 (2.4)	1.1 (1.9)	0.1 (0.4)#	2.9 (5.2)
	Enterobacteriaceae	1.0 (1.1)	2.6 (3.6)	0.3 (0.9)##	10.4 (8.6)
	Coriobacteriaceae	1.1 (1.7)	2.7 (3.6)	2.9 (2.3)	3.3 (2.9)
	Unassigned	57.0 (23.4)	35.3 (18.4)	25.2 (9.5)	19.4 (11.3)
	Other	3.2 (2.4)	7.2 (4.0)	10.1 (4.3)	5.8 (6.1)

Table S3 - Quantification of Families in base and term tissue samples.

	n	11	11	11	11
FMT	Bifidobacteriaceae	0.8 (2.1)	0.4 (1.4)	0.3 (0.8)	1.5 (2.8)
	Bacteroidaceae	0.3 (0.6)	1.1 (1.2)	1.4 (2.2)	0.4 (1.0)
	Lactobacillaceae	18.6 (16.0)	14.2 (7.5)	15.7 (6.7)	21.2 (15.5)
	Streptococcaceae	0.7 (1.7)	1.8 (2.5)	3.3 (6.1)	2.7 (5.0)
	Clostridiaceae	2.8 (3.3)	5.8 (5.4)	6.5 (3.7)	8.3 (14.4)
	Lachnospiraceae	2.2 (2.1)#	8.9 (5.8)	17.2 (10.1)#	5.9 (7.1)
	Peptostreptococcaceae	0.4 (0.9)#	1.8 (1.6)	4.3 (3.1)#	1.3 (3.6)
	Ruminococcaceae	0.7 (1.0)#	3.8 (3.6)	5.5 (5.2)#	2.2 (2.6)
	Veillonellaceae	0.2 (0.5)	0.5 (1.1)	0.1 (0.5)#	2.6 (3.7)**
	Erysipelotrichaceae	0.3 (0.4)	1.2 (1.7)	2.5 (2.2)#	0.9 (1.4)
	Fusobacteriaceae	0.7 (1.2)#	4.2 (5.1)	2.2 (3.0)	2.9 (4.9)
	Campylobacteraceae	1.7 (3.3)	1.1 (2.1)	0.4 (1.1)#	9.7 (15.6)
	Enterobacteriaceae	2.1 (3.1)	1.9 (2.2)	0 (0)##	4.5 (3.3)
	Coriobacteriaceae	0.5 (0.8)	0.9 (1.3)	2.9 (2.4)	1.5 (3.0)
	Unassigned	64.8 (17.4)#	44.7 (14.6)	28.2 (7.8)	22.0 (11.5)
	Other	3.2 (2.9)	7.7 (5.0)	9.4 (4.8)	12.2 (8.8)
	n		6		6
SOW	n Bifidobacteriaceae	-	6 0.6 (1.2)	-	6 0.3 (0.7)
SOW n=6		-		-	
	Bifidobacteriaceae	- -	0.6 (1.2)		0.3 (0.7)
	Bifidobacteriaceae Bacteroidaceae	-	0.6 (1.2) 0.5 (1.2)	- - -	0.3 (0.7) 0.8 (1.4)
	Bifidobacteriaceae Bacteroidaceae Lactobacillaceae	- - - -	0.6 (1.2) 0.5 (1.2) 9.0 (4.0)	- - - -	0.3 (0.7) 0.8 (1.4) 9.7 (3.6)
	Bifidobacteriaceae Bacteroidaceae Lactobacillaceae Streptococcaceae	- - - - -	0.6 (1.2) 0.5 (1.2) 9.0 (4.0) 1.2 (1.4)	- - - - -	0.3 (0.7) 0.8 (1.4) 9.7 (3.6) 0.9 (1.7)
	Bifidobacteriaceae Bacteroidaceae Lactobacillaceae Streptococcaceae Clostridiaceae	- - -	0.6 (1.2) 0.5 (1.2) 9.0 (4.0) 1.2 (1.4) 3.4 (3.4)	- - - - - - - -	0.3 (0.7) 0.8 (1.4) 9.7 (3.6) 0.9 (1.7) 8.4 (3.5)
	Bifidobacteriaceae Bacteroidaceae Lactobacillaceae Streptococcaceae Clostridiaceae Lachnospiraceae		0.6 (1.2) 0.5 (1.2) 9.0 (4.0) 1.2 (1.4) 3.4 (3.4) 8.8 (10.5)		0.3 (0.7) 0.8 (1.4) 9.7 (3.6) 0.9 (1.7) 8.4 (3.5) 8.3 (2.6)
	Bifidobacteriaceae Bacteroidaceae Lactobacillaceae Streptococcaceae Clostridiaceae Lachnospiraceae Peptostreptococcaceae	- - - - -	0.6 (1.2) 0.5 (1.2) 9.0 (4.0) 1.2 (1.4) 3.4 (3.4) 8.8 (10.5) 2.1 (1.3)	- - - - -	0.3 (0.7) 0.8 (1.4) 9.7 (3.6) 0.9 (1.7) 8.4 (3.5) 8.3 (2.6) 9.0 (3.8)#§§
	Bifidobacteriaceae Bacteroidaceae Lactobacillaceae Streptococcaceae Clostridiaceae Lachnospiraceae Peptostreptococcaceae Ruminococcaceae	- - - - -	0.6 (1.2) 0.5 (1.2) 9.0 (4.0) 1.2 (1.4) 3.4 (3.4) 8.8 (10.5) 2.1 (1.3) 3.5 (3.0)	- - - - -	0.3 (0.7) 0.8 (1.4) 9.7 (3.6) 0.9 (1.7) 8.4 (3.5) 8.3 (2.6) 9.0 (3.8)#§§ 11.0 (3.2)#§§
	Bifidobacteriaceae Bacteroidaceae Lactobacillaceae Streptococcaceae Clostridiaceae Lachnospiraceae Peptostreptococcaceae Ruminococcaceae Veillonellaceae	- - - - -	$\begin{array}{c} 0.6 (1.2) \\ 0.5 (1.2) \\ 9.0 (4.0) \\ 1.2 (1.4) \\ 3.4 (3.4) \\ 8.8 (10.5) \\ 2.1 (1.3) \\ 3.5 (3.0) \\ 0.01 (0.02) \end{array}$	- - - - -	0.3 (0.7) 0.8 (1.4) 9.7 (3.6) 0.9 (1.7) 8.4 (3.5) 8.3 (2.6) 9.0 (3.8)#§§ 11.0 (3.2)#§§ 0.1 (0.3)
	Bifidobacteriaceae Bacteroidaceae Lactobacillaceae Streptococcaceae Clostridiaceae Lachnospiraceae Peptostreptococcaceae Ruminococcaceae Veillonellaceae Erysipelotrichaceae	- - - - - - - - -	$\begin{array}{c} 0.6 \ (1.2) \\ 0.5 \ (1.2) \\ 9.0 \ (4.0) \\ 1.2 \ (1.4) \\ 3.4 \ (3.4) \\ 8.8 \ (10.5) \\ 2.1 \ (1.3) \\ 3.5 \ (3.0) \\ 0.01 \ (0.02) \\ 0.7 \ (0.8) \end{array}$	- - - - - - - - - -	0.3 (0.7) 0.8 (1.4) 9.7 (3.6) 0.9 (1.7) 8.4 (3.5) 8.3 (2.6) 9.0 (3.8)#§§ 11.0 (3.2)#§§ 0.1 (0.3) 0.4 (0.7)
	Bifidobacteriaceae Bacteroidaceae Lactobacillaceae Streptococcaceae Clostridiaceae Lachnospiraceae Peptostreptococcaceae Ruminococcaceae Veillonellaceae Erysipelotrichaceae Fusobacteriaceae	- - - - - - - - -	$\begin{array}{c} 0.6 (1.2) \\ 0.5 (1.2) \\ 9.0 (4.0) \\ 1.2 (1.4) \\ 3.4 (3.4) \\ 8.8 (10.5) \\ 2.1 (1.3) \\ 3.5 (3.0) \\ 0.01 (0.02) \\ 0.7 (0.8) \\ 2.6 (3.2) \end{array}$	- - - - - - - - - -	0.3 (0.7) 0.8 (1.4) 9.7 (3.6) 0.9 (1.7) 8.4 (3.5) 8.3 (2.6) 9.0 (3.8)#§§ 11.0 (3.2)#§§ 0.1 (0.3) 0.4 (0.7) 3.4 (1.1)
	Bifidobacteriaceae Bacteroidaceae Lactobacillaceae Streptococcaceae Clostridiaceae Lachnospiraceae Peptostreptococcaceae Ruminococcaceae Veillonellaceae Erysipelotrichaceae Fusobacteriaceae Campylobacteraceae	- - - - - - - - -	$\begin{array}{c} 0.6 (1.2) \\ 0.5 (1.2) \\ 9.0 (4.0) \\ 1.2 (1.4) \\ 3.4 (3.4) \\ 8.8 (10.5) \\ 2.1 (1.3) \\ 3.5 (3.0) \\ 0.01 (0.02) \\ 0.7 (0.8) \\ 2.6 (3.2) \\ 0.5 (1.3) \end{array}$	- - - - - - - - - -	0.3 (0.7) 0.8 (1.4) 9.7 (3.6) 0.9 (1.7) 8.4 (3.5) 8.3 (2.6) 9.0 (3.8)#§§ 11.0 (3.2)#§§ 0.1 (0.3) 0.4 (0.7) 3.4 (1.1) 0 (0)
	Bifidobacteriaceae Bacteroidaceae Lactobacillaceae Streptococcaceae Clostridiaceae Lachnospiraceae Peptostreptococcaceae Ruminococcaceae Veillonellaceae Erysipelotrichaceae Fusobacteriaceae Campylobacteraceae Enterobacteriaceae	- - - - - - - - -	$\begin{array}{c} 0.6 (1.2) \\ 0.5 (1.2) \\ 9.0 (4.0) \\ 1.2 (1.4) \\ 3.4 (3.4) \\ 8.8 (10.5) \\ 2.1 (1.3) \\ 3.5 (3.0) \\ 0.01 (0.02) \\ 0.7 (0.8) \\ 2.6 (3.2) \\ 0.5 (1.3) \\ 2.3 (2.1) \end{array}$	- - - - - - - - - -	0.3 (0.7) 0.8 (1.4) 9.7 (3.6) 0.9 (1.7) 8.4 (3.5) 8.3 (2.6) 9.0 (3.8)#§§ 11.0 (3.2)#§§ 0.1 (0.3) 0.4 (0.7) 3.4 (1.1) 0 (0) 0.7 (0.9)#

Relative % compositions are presented as mean (SD). Samples were taken from saline (SAL, n=11), fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=11), and non-surgical sow-reared (SOW, n=6) piglets. For base to term within SAL and FMT groups, comparisons made using related samples Wilcoxon Signed Rank tests, #p<0.05, ##p<0.01. For SOW to SAL (#p<0.05, #p<0.01) and SOW to FMT (\$p<0.05, \$p<0.01), comparisons made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis tests. For FMT to SAL comparisons made using independent samples Mann-Whitney U test, \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01. JB = jejunum base, JT = jejunum term, CB = colon base, CT = colon term.

		pre	post	d3	d4	d5	d6
Group	Family n	8	8	11	10	10	10
SAL	Bifidobacteriaceae	0.4 (1.0)	0.1 (0.3)	0 (0)	0.5 (1.7)	2.3 (7.2)	3.1 (9.5)
	Bacteroidaceae	3.8 (6.2)	0.3 (0.8)	1.1 (1.7)	0.7 (1.2)	0.4 (0.8)	0.8 (1.5)
	Lactobacillaceae	22.5 (19.6)	13.0 (19.2)	11.4 (16.0)	32.3 (24.3)	34.7 (24.5)	33.0 (18.9)
	Streptococcaceae	0.6 (0.8)	0.5 (0.8)	0 (0)	0.1 (0.2)	0.03 (0.09)	0.05 (0.15)
	Clostridiaceae	2.9 (4.0)	1.6 (3.5)	1.0 (2.0)	1.4 (1.6)	2.8 (3.7)	1.2 (1.5)
	Lachnospiraceae	2.0 (2.0)	3.8 (6.3)	1.3 (3.4)	2.8 (5.1)	5.9 (7.0)	5.9 (6.5)
	Peptostreptococcaceae	3.4 (4.5)	1.0 (1.4)	0.3 (0.7)	0.6 (1.4)	0.06 (0.2)	1.1 (1.4)
	Ruminococcaceae	0.3 (0.5)	0.8 (1.4)	0.3 (0.7)	0.4 (0.9)	0.3 (0.6)	0.5 (0.7)
	Veillonellaceae	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
	Erysipelotrichaceae	0.5 (0.7)	1.0 (1.7)	0.1 (0.2)	0.5 (0.8)	0.5 (1.0)	0.6 (1.1)
	Fusobacteriaceae	0.7 (1.6)	0.7 (2.1)	2.7 (5.8)	0.9 (1.6)	3.4 (5.5)	5.0 (6.1)
	Campylobacteraceae	0.02 (0.06)	0 (0)	0.2 (0.6)	0 (0)	0.1 (0.4)	0.6 (1.2)
	Enterobacteriaceae	26.3 (32.5)	37.8 (32.1)	47.8 (16.9)	40.7 (17.7)	30.1 (17.0)	25.3 (15.6)
	Coriobacteriaceae	0.7 (1.2)	1.7 (3.1)	1.0 (2.4)	2.3 (2.7)	4.3 (3.3)	4.4 (2.6)
	Unassigned	22.1 (27.2)	33.6 (25.7)	29.7 (19.4)	13.5 (11.3)	11.2 (6.7)	14.8 (14.5)
	Other	13.8 (15.1)	4.0 (5.3)	3.2 (3.4)	3.3 (3.1)	3.8 (3.5)	3.7 (4.4)
		pre	post	d3	d4	d5	d6
Group	Family n	8	8	11	10	10	10

## Table S4 – Quantification of Families in daily stool samples.

		pre	post	d3	d4	d5	d6
Group	Family n	8	8	11	10	10	10
FMT	Bifidobacteriaceae	0.3 (0.7)	1.9 (1.6)**	2.3 (4.4)*	1.3 (1.8)	1.2 (1.3)	2.4 (2.5)
	Bacteroidaceae	1.1 (1.9)	0.2 (0.6)	0.3 (0.7)	1.1 (2.5)	0.3 (0.6)	0.8 (1.5)
	Lactobacillaceae	15.7 (13.2)	29.2 (15.1)*	28.6 (25.4)*	33.0 (29.7)	33.1 (25.4)	33.8 (22.8)
	Streptococcaceae	0.6 (1.1)	1.6 (1.3)	3.2 (4.3)**	2.0 (4.8)	2.7 (5.6)	7.3 (21.8)
	Clostridiaceae	1.5 (3.2)	7.4 (4.7)**	2.4 (2.4)	4.0 (4.1)	3.4 (7.4)	2.9 (2.5)
	Lachnospiraceae	2.2 (4.2)	2.5 (3.4)	2.3 (3.0)	6.4 (8.0)	6.8 (8.0)	5.2 (6.2)
	Peptostreptococcaceae	1.2 (2.4)	3.9 (2.2)**	0.8 (1.1)	1.0 (1.6)	0.2 (0.5)	0.7 (1.9)
	Ruminococcaceae	0.4 (1.0)	1.7 (1.9)	0.5 (1.4)	0.9 (1.5)	1.2 (1.8)	0.8 (1.3)
	Veillonellaceae	0 (0)	0.1 (0.3)	0.4 (1.3)	1.3 (1.9)	1.4 (2.1)	1.4 (2.5)
	Erysipelotrichaceae	0.7 (0.8)	1.6 (1.7)	1.7 (1.8)*	2.5 (2.7)	1.6 (2.3)	1.5 (2.0)
	Fusobacteriaceae	0.1 (0.1)	0.3 (1.0)	1.3 (2.4)	4.0 (8.3)	5.5 (8.1)	3.9 (8.9)
	Campylobacteraceae	0.3 (0.9)	0 (0)	0.2 (0.4)	0.4 (1.1)	0.8 (1.8)	1.5 (3.5)
	Enterobacteriaceae	27.7 (36.0)	30.9 (20.4)	38.1 (23.7)	20.9 (22.0)*	20.9 (20.5)	13.8 (14.8)
	Coriobacteriaceae	1.3 (2.8)	6.3 (3.0)**	3.2 (2.2)*	3.4 (2.9)	3.6 (3.6)	4.9 (4.3)
	Unassigned	42.5 (39.3)	9.1 (5.1)*	12.9 (5.3)*	14.9 (8.3)	13.7 (7.8)	15.6 (9.0)
	Other	4.5 (4.3)	3.2 (2.3)	1.8 (2.4)	2.9 (2.7)	3.6 (5.2)	3.5 (3.6)

Relative % compositions are presented as mean (SD). Samples were taken from saline (SAL, n=11), and fecal microbial transplant (FMT, n=11) piglets. Comparisons of FMT to SAL made using independent samples Mann-Whitney U test, \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01.

				FM	Т		
	Donor	pre	post	d3	d4	d5	d6
Phylum n	3	7	11	11	11	11	10
Actinobacteria	4.5 (0.9)	0.6 (0.9)!	8.6 (4.0)#**	5.5 (6.0)	5.0 (3.2)	4.9 (4.5)	7.5 (3.5)
Bacteroidetes	27.0 (3.7)	4.4 (4.0)!	4.0 (2.4)	3.8 (4.5)!!	7.8 (11.1)	7.0 (9.5)!	5.6 (8.2)!
Firmicutes	48.1 (3.0)	59.3 (37.8)	54.3 (17.7)	50.1 (24.2)	59.3 (24.7)	58.3 (19.5)	61.9 (20.6)
Fusobacteria	0.0	0.08 (0.14)	0.30 (1.0)	1.3 (2.4)	4.0 (8.3)	5.5 (8.1)	3.9 (8.9)
Proteobacteria	4.4 (1.4)	34.5 (36.6)	29.7 (20.9)	38.8 (23.8)	23.1 (21.0)	24.0 (19.7)	20.0 (13.8)
Unassigned	11.9 (3.4)	1.0 (1.9)!	2.7 (1.5)*	0.4 (0.8)!	0.8 (1.2)!	0.4 (0.7)!	1.1 (1.3)
Other	4.1 (0.1)	0.0	0.4 (0.4)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.02 (0.07)
Family							
Bifidobacteriaceae	1.0 (0.4)	0.3 (0.7)	1.9 (1.6)#**	2.3 (4.4)*	1.3 (1.8)	1.2 (1.3)	2.4 (2.5)
Bacteroidaceae	0.4 (0.3)	1.1 (1.9)	0.2 (0.6)	0.3 (0.7)	1.1 (2.5)	0.3 (0.6)	0.8 (1.5)
Lactobacillaceae	2.4 (1.0)	15.7 (13.2)	29.2 (15.1)	28.6 (25.4)	33.0 (29.7)!	33.1 (25.4)	33.8 (22.8)!
Streptococcaceae	0 (0)	0.6 (1.1)	1.6 (1.3)	3.2 (4.3)!***	2.0 (4.8)	2.7 (5.6)	7.3 (21.8)
Clostridiaceae	5.3 (1.3)	1.5 (3.2)	7.4 (4.7)#*	2.4 (2.4)	4.0 (4.1)	3.4 (7.4)	2.9 (2.5)
Lachnospiraceae	14.9 (3.9)	2.2 (4.2)	2.5 (3.4)!	2.3 (3.0)!	6.4 (8.0)	6.8 (8.0)	5.2 (6.2)
Peptostreptococcaceae	2.0 (1.9)	1.2 (2.4)	3.9 (2.2)#*	0.8 (1.1)	1.0 (1.6)	0.2 (0.5)	0.7 (1.9)
Ruminococcaceae	17.1 (1.3)	0.4 (1.0)	1.7 (1.9)#	0.5 (1.4)!!	0.9 (1.5)!	1.2 (1.8)!	0.8 (1.3)!
Veillonellaceae	0.3 (0.1)	0 (0)	0.1 (0.3)!	0.4 (1.3)!	1.3 (1.9)	1.4 (2.1)	1.4 (2.5)
Erysipelotrichaceae	0.3 (0.1)	0.7 (0.8)	1.6 (1.7)	1.7 (1.8)	2.5 (2.7)	1.6 (2.3)	1.5 (2.0)
Fusobacteriaceae	0 (0)	0.1 (0.1)	0.3 (1.0)	1.3 (2.4)	4.0 (8.3)	5.5 (8.1)	3.9 (8.9)
Campylobacteraceae	0.3 (0.3)	0.3 (0.9)	0 (0)!!	0.2 (0.4)	0.4 (1.1)	0.8 (1.8)	1.5 (3.5)
Enterobacteriaceae	0.9 (0.7)	27.7 (36.0)	30.9 (20.4)	38.1 (23.7)	20.9 (22.0)	20.9 (20.5)	13.8 (14.8)
Coriobacteriaceae	3.5 (0.5)	1.3 (2.8)	6.3 (3.0)#	3.2 (2.2)	3.4 (2.9)	3.6 (3.6)	4.9 (4.3)
Unassigned	38.1 (3.7)	42.5 (39.3)	9.1 (5.1)!#	12.9 (5.3)!	14.9 (8.3)	13.7 (7.8)	15.6 (9.0)
Other	13.3 (0.9)	4.5 (4.3)	3.2 (2.3)	1.8 (2.4)	2.9 (2.7)	3.6 (5.2)	3.5 (3.6)

Table S5 – Comparison of Donor FMT material to FMT piglet daily stools.

Relative % compositions are presented as mean (SD). Daily stool samples were taken from fecal microbial transplant (FMT) treated piglets and compared to the processed Donor FMT material, as well as to samples taken from saline (SAL) piglets (see Table S6). Comparisons made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis test reported with Bonferroni correction, !p<0.05, !!p<0.01. Comparisons between pre and post within FMT made using related samples Wilcoxon Signed Rank test, #p<0.05.

				S	SAL		
	Donor	pre	post	d3	d4	d5	d6
Phylum n	3	8	8	11	10	10	10
Actinobacteria	4.5 (0.9)	1.9 (1.9)	2.3 (2.9)**	1.1 (2.4)	2.9 (2.7)	6.6 (8.8)	7.8 (10.4)
Bacteroidetes	27.0 (3.7)	9.0 (8.3)	1.7 (1.9)!!	5.7 (6.0)!	4.5 (3.7)	6.2 (8.5)	4.7 (5.8)!
Firmicutes	48.1 (3.0)	52.3 (30.8)	55.1 (28.4)	41.5 (20.5)	49.9 (20.1)	51.5 (19.8)	54.6 (23.8)
Fusobacteria	0.0	0.7 (1.6)	0.7 (2.1)	2.7 (5.8)	0.9 (1.6)	3.4 (5.5)	5.0 (6.1)
Proteobacteria	4.4 (1.4)	35.3 (28.9)	39.6 (30.2)	48.5 (16.7)!	41.5 (18.0)!	31.7 (17.2)!	27.6 (15.6)!
Unassigned	11.9 (3.4)	0.4 (0.8)	0.5 (0.7)!!*	0.4 (0.7)!	0.2 (0.3)!	0.6 (0.9)!	0.3 (0.4)!!
Other	4.1 (0.1)	0.4 (1.1)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Family							
Bifidobacteriaceae	1.0 (0.4)	0.4 (1.0)	0.1 (0.3)**	0 (0)*!!	0.5 (1.7)	2.3 (7.2)	3.1 (9.5)
Bacteroidaceae	0.4 (0.3)	3.8 (6.2)	0.3 (0.8)	1.1 (1.7)	0.7 (1.2)	0.4 (0.8)	0.8 (1.5)
Lactobacillaceae	2.4 (1.0)	22.5 (19.6)	13.0 (19.2)	11.4 (16.0)	32.3 (24.3)!	34.7 (24.5)	33.0 (18.9)!
Streptococcaceae	0 (0)	0.6 (0.8)	0.5 (0.8)	0 (0)***	0.1 (0.2)	0.03 (0.09)	0.05 (0.15)
Clostridiaceae	5.3 (1.3)	2.9 (4.0)	1.6 (3.5)*	1.0 (2.0)!	1.4 (1.6)	2.8 (3.7)	1.2 (1.5)!
Lachnospiraceae	14.9 (3.9)	2.0 (2.0)	3.8 (6.3)	1.3 (3.4)!!	2.8 (5.1)	5.9 (7.0)	5.9 (6.5)
Peptostreptococcaceae	2.0 (1.9)	3.4 (4.5)	1.0 (1.4)*	0.3 (0.7)	0.6 (1.4)	0.06 (0.2)	1.1 (1.4)
Ruminococcaceae	17.1 (1.3)	0.3 (0.5)	0.8 (1.4)!!	0.3 (0.7)!!	0.4 (0.9)!!	0.3 (0.6)!!	0.5 (0.7)!
Veillonellaceae	0.3 (0.1)	0 (0)	0 (0)!!	0 (0)!!	0 (0)!	0 (0)!	0 (0)!
Erysipelotrichaceae	0.3 (0.1)	0.5 (0.7)	1.0 (1.7)	0.1 (0.2)	0.5 (0.8)	0.5 (1.0)	0.6 (1.1)
Fusobacteriaceae	0 (0)	0.7 (1.6)	0.7 (2.1)	2.7 (5.8)	0.9 (1.6)	3.4 (5.5)	5.0 (6.1)
Campylobacteraceae	0.3 (0.3)	0.02 (0.06)	0 (0)!!	0.2 (0.6)	0 (0)!	0.1 (0.4)	0.6 (1.2)
Enterobacteriaceae	0.9 (0.7)	26.3 (32.5)	37.8 (32.1)	47.8 (16.9)!	40.7 (17.7)!	30.1 (17.0)!!	25.3 (15.6)!!
Coriobacteriaceae	3.5 (0.5)	0.7 (1.2)	1.7 (3.1)!	1.0 (2.4)	2.3 (2.7)	4.3 (3.3)	4.4 (2.6)
Unassigned	38.1 (3.7)	22.1 (27.2)	33.6 (25.7)	29.7 (19.4)	13.5 (11.3)!	11.2 (6.7)!	14.8 (14.5)!
Other	13.3 (0.9)	13.8 (15.1)	4.0 (5.3)	3.2 (3.4)	3.3 (3.1)	3.8 (3.5)	3.7 (4.4)

Table S6 – Comparison of Donor FMT material to SAL piglet daily stools.

Relative % compositions are presented as mean (SD). Daily stool samples were taken from saline (SAL) treated piglets and compared to the processed Donor FMT material, as well as to samples taken from fecal microbial transplant (FMT) piglets (see Table S5). Comparisons made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis test reported with Bonferroni correction, !p<0.05, !!p<0.01.

			Stool					
			pre	post	d3	d4	d5	d6
Group		n	8	8	11	10	10	10
SAL	Observed OTUs		53 (14)	53 (22)!!!	50 (14)!!!	60 (11)!!!	60 (15)!!!	61 (11)!!!
	Faith's PD		7.2 (1.1)	6.1 (1.4)!	6.2 (1.8)!	6.8 (1.9)!	7.2 (2.4)!	7.1 (1.4)!
FMT		n	7	11	11	11	11	9
	Observed OTUs		44 (14)	71 (14)*!!!	59 (13)*!!!	62 (18)!!!	68 (18)!!!	64 (19)!!!
	Faith's PD		6.6 (1.9)	9.9 (2.0)**!	6.8 (1.9)!	7.0 (2.0)!	7.8 (2.1)!	7.7 (1.8)!
Donor		n		3	_			
	Observed OTUs			130 (4)				
	Faith's PD			18.4 (0.6)				

Table S7 – Observed OTUs and Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity for Daily Stool samples.

Shown above are summarized details on observed operational taxonomic units (OTUs) to a read depth of 2000, and Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity (PD) for saline (SAL) and fecal microbial transplant (FMT) treated piglets, compared to Donor material. Samples were taken day 2 pretreatment (pre), day 2 post-treatment (post), and days 3 - 6 (d3 - d6). Data are presented as mean (SD). OTU comparisons between FMT and SAL pre-treatment made using independent samples Mann-Whitney U test. OTU comparisons between SAL, FMT, and Donor in post - d6 samples and Faith's PD between SAL, FMT, and Donor made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis test reported with Bonferroni correction. Differences shown to Donor by !p<0.05, !!p<0.01, !!!p<0.001 and between FMT and SAL by \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01. See Table 2 for full quantification.

			JB	JT	CB	СТ
Group		n	11	11	11	11
SAL	Observed OTUs		73 (18)!!!	66 (13)§§§!!!	73 (9.1)!!!	55 (5.4)##!!!
	Faith's PD		35 (16)	13 (7.8) <del>‡</del>	5.9 (1.2)	7.7 (3.5)
FMT		n	11	11	11	11
	Observed OTUs		67 (12)!!!	76 (10)*§!!!	68 (7.8)!!!	61 (17)!!!
	Faith's PD		38 (11)	23 (16)	6.2 (1.1)	6.1 (1.0)!§
SOW		n		6		6
	Observed OTUs		-	94 (26)!!!	-	86 (24)!!!
	Faith's PD		-	40 (23)	-	8.7 (1.6)
Donor		n		3		
	Observed OTUs		-	111 (4.9)	_	
	Faith's PD		-	11 (0.5)		

Table S8 – Observed OTUs and Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity for base and term tissue samples.

Shown above are summarized details on observed operational taxonomic units (OTUs) to a read depth of 2667, and Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity (PD) for saline (SAL), fecal microbial transplant (FMT) treated piglets, sow-reared control piglets (SOW), compared to Donor material. Data are presented as mean (SD). Comparisons made using independent samples Kruskal-Wallis tests reported with Bonferroni correction. Post-hoc differences shown for Donor (!p<0.05, !!p<0.01, !!!p<0.001), FMT and SAL (\*p<0.05), SOW to SAL (\*p<0.05, #p<0.01), and SOW to FMT (\$p<0.05, \$p<0.01).